
Summons to Meeting

Friday 9 February 2018

Audit Committee
Monday 19 February 2018, 2.00 pm

Executive Meeting Room - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Neil Schofield (Chair) Councillor John Colhoun (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Mary Bainbridge
Councillor John Cook Councillor Duncan Fairbairn
Councillor Billy Miskelly

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Dean Devine on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 
2017.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00 pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

Page 1



5. Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter Ending 31 December 
2017  (Pages 7 - 34)
To inform the Committee of the work performed by the Assurance, Risk and 
Audit Team in the third quarter of the financial year 2017/18.

6. Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards Peer Review Results and Self-
Assessment Checklist  (Pages 35 - 94)
To provide assurance over the effectiveness of the Internal Audit Service at 
Allerdale Borough Council.

7. Local Code of Corporate Governance  (Pages 95 - 108)

8. Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19  (Pages 109 - 158)

9. External Audit Plan 2017/18  (Pages 159 - 176)

10. Annual Certification Letter 2016/17  (Pages 177 - 180)

Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 8 May 2018, 2.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2



At a meeting of the Audit Committee held in The Conference Room, St Michael's 
Church, Workington on Monday 27 November 2017 at 2.00 pm

Members

Councillor Neil Schofield (Chair) Councillor John Colhoun (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor John Cook
Councillor Billy Miskelly

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Mary Bainbridge and Councillor 
Duncan Fairbairn

Staff Present

B Lennox, K Magnay and E Thompson

Also Present

J Farrar and R McGahon

249. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 August 2017 were signed as a correct 
record.

250. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

251. Questions 

None received.

252. Assurance Risk and Audit Quarter 2 Report 2017/18 

The Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager submitted a report which sought to 
inform Members of the work performed by Assurance, Risk and Audit in the 
second quarter of the financial year 2017/18 and to present the revised annual 
plan.

Chargeable time for the Assurance, Risk and Audit service for quarter two was 
79.63%. This was below the planned target of 81.77%. The revised plan set a 
chargeable time target at 79.37%.

Members noted the assurance activities for the quarter, which focused mainly 
on the completion of the Statutory Audit Reviews and training. The following 
reports had been submitted, detailing the reviews:

 Capital Accounting 16/17
 Treasury Management 16/17

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Members noted the following reviews in progress at 30 September 2017:

 Development Services 17/18 – Submitted as final prior to the meeting
 Economic Growth 17/18 – Submitted as final prior to the meeting
 Ethics and Culture 17/18 - Planning
 Business Continuity 17/18 – Planning 

100% of recommendations made by Assurance, Risk and Audit were accepted 
by management during the quarter.

Members noted the Corporate Risk and Issues Log.

Agreed

That the report be noted and the recommendation to agree the revised plan was 
accepted.

253. Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 2017/18 

The Financial Services Manager submitted the mid-year review report on 
treasury management operations for 2017/18. The report set out to inform the 
Audit Committee of the Council’s treasury management activities during the six 
month period ending 30 September 2017. The report also provided assurances 
that treasury management activities had been undertaken in accordance with 
the Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Investment strategy.

To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices require treasury management reports – 
including the mid-year report – to be submitted to the Committee prior to 
consideration by the Council.

The mid-year report had been prepared in accordance with the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management 2011 Edition and covered:

 An update on the economic environment for the first six months of the 
financial year 2017/18

 Updated interest rate forecasts
 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 

update
 A review of the Council’s investment and borrowing activities during the 

period 1 April to 30 September 2017
 A review of compliance with the Council’s treasury and prudential 

indicators for 2017/18

Members noted the contents of the report.

Page 4



Recommended

That Council be requested to note that the contents of the Treasury 
Management Operations mid-year review report 2017/18.

254. Audit Committee Update and Progress Report 

J Farrar, Grant Thornton presented an Audit Committee update report to inform 
the Committee of the progress made by the external auditors on delivering their 
responsibilities as at November 2017.

The planned fee letter for 2017/18 had been issued in April 2017. The fee letter 
for 2017/18 had also been issued in April 2017.

A detailed accounts audit plan setting out the auditor’s proposed approach in 
order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2017/18 financial statements will be 
presented to the Audit Committee upon completion of the Audit Planning.

The interim accounts audit need to be completed earlier in the audit cycle.

The final accounts audit was planned for June/July 2018.

The Value for Money (VfM) conclusion was to be reported to the Audit 
Committee by July 2018.

Members noted the report.

Agreed

That the report be noted.

255. Annual Audit Letter 2016-17 

R McGahon, Grant Thornton presented the Audit Committee with the Annual 
Audit Letter. The letter summarised the key findings arising from the work that 
the external auditors had carried out at the Council for the year ended 31 March 
2017.

The following work had been carried out:

Financial statement opinion – the auditors gave an unqualified opinion on the 
Council’s financial statements on 24 August 2017

Value for money conclusion – the auditors were satisfied that the Council put in 
place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources during the year ended 31 March 2017

Certificate – the auditors certified that they had completed the audit of the 
Council’s accounts in accordance with the requirements of the National Audit 
Office Code of Audit Practice on 24 August 2017

Page 5



Certification of grants – the auditors had carried out work to certify the Council’s 
Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and 
Pensions. The work had been completed. The Auditors certificate and 
qualification letter was issued on 27 November 2017. No amendments were 
made to the claim for the minor issues raised in the qualification letter.

Members noted the following reports issued:

Audit Plan – February 2017
Audit Findings Report – August 2017
Annual Audit Letter – October 2017

Agreed

That the contents of the Annual Audit Letter be noted.

The meeting closed at 2.58 pm

Page 6



 Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee - 19 February 2018

Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter Ending 31 December 2017

The Reason for the Decision To inform the Committee of the work performed 
by the Assurance, Risk and Audit Team in the 
third quarter of the financial year 2017/18.

Summary of options considered N/A 

Recommendations That the report is accepted subject to any 
additional information that the committee may 
require.

Financial / Resource Implications As outlined in the report

Legal Implications Acceptance of this report has no legal 
implications.

Community Safety Implications Acceptance of this report has no community 
safety implications.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Acceptance of this report has no Health and 
Safety implications. Consideration should be 
given to the activities reported and how they 
contribute to the organisations Risk Management 
Framework

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Equality is considered during the Assurance, Risk 
and Audit activities.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Acceptance of the Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Team’s work provides a direct and indirect 
contribution to the achievement of the Council’s 
priorities, in accordance with the Assurance, Risk 
and Audit Service Plan.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis
(email: joan.ellis@allerdale.gov.uk)

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Lead Officer Emma Thompson, Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Manager. 01900 702988
emma.thompson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) Y

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers: Assurance, Risk and Audit reports and working papers.

1 Introduction

1.1 This is the third progress report for the financial year 2017/18.

1.2 Items covered in this report are as follows:

 Performance against the 2017/18 plan
 Assurance and consultancy activities during the quarter
 Fraud work
  Assurance, Risk and Audit activity performance, 
 Quality Assurance and Improvement Program
 Agreed Action follow up, and
 Training and staffing.

2 Performance against the 2017/18 Audit Plan

2.1 Time Summary 

Activity Planned 
Days

Actual 
Days

Statutory Assurance Reviews 80 23.04
Assurance and Risk Support 30 20.24
Agreed Action Follow up 10 6.86
Completion of 2016/17 reviews 20 20.37
Assurance Reviews 88 48.21
Democratic Representation 25 16.79
Corporate Support 123 121.28
Projects 25 15.81
Advice 10 2.53
Investigations 10 5.57
Fraud Activities 22 11.05
Risk Management Facilitation 8 2.43

Page 8



HR Management 30 10.14
Total Audit Time 481 304.32

Non-Chargeable
Non chargeable time 50 39.43
Training 65 50.03
Sickness / other absences 10 13.14

Total Non-Chargeable Time 125 102.60

Total Days 606 406.92

Annual Leave
104 64.44

Total Days 710 471.36

2.2 The chargeable time performance for quarter two is 74.79% which is below 
the planned target of 79.37%, this is due to the time required to train and 
support new team members through their induction process.

3         Assurance and Consultancy Activities

3.1 The assurance activities for this quarter focused on the review of 
Development Services and Economic Growth. These areas have never been 
reviewed collectively and the feedback received from officers involved was 
positive.

3.2     The following reports were submitted this quarter and can be found in 
appendix 1 to this report:
 Economic Growth 17/18
 Development Services 17/18

3.3 The ARA Manager is a member of the Transformation and Procurement 
Board. This Board receives and considers transformation Project Outline 
Documents for approval. The board considers the key deliverables of the 
project and how these contribute to the design principles for the 
transformational agenda at Allerdale. The role of the ARA Manager on this 
board is to provide advice and guidance on risk management, control and 
governance. 

3.4 The ARA Manager is also part of the General Data Protection Regulations 
working group in an advisory capacity, this has required site visits to review 
the organisations data destruction requirements and an information asset 
audit. The ARA Manager is also part of the Fleet project group as part of her 
acting up responsibilities supporting the HR Team. This project is review the 
way in which all travel is completed on Allerdale business to ensure it is 
efficient, effective and in line with industry best practice.

Page 9



4 Corporate Fraud

4.1     The monitoring and oversight of the National Fraud Initiative data matching 
exercise continues. Further work is required by the Revenues and Benefits 
teams to review their reports and record the outcomes. These are in progress 
and are being managed using a risk based approach.

4.2 The Corporate Fraud Group continues to meet and discuss any opportunities 
to improve internal policy and process to contribute to the zero tolerance 
approach to Fraud at Allerdale. This group has already identified areas where 
improved communication channels between departments would support the 
‘tell us once’ approach to service delivery for business customers.

5     Progress with the Annual Plan

5.1    The following reviews were in progress at 31 December 2017.

Audit Title Status 
Ethics and Culture 17/18 Testing in progress
Business Continuity 17/18 Testing in progress
Financial Services 17/18 Testing in progress
AONB Follow up review 17/18 Testing in progress
Governance 17/18 Planning

5.2 Management’s acceptance of recommendations – 100 % for this quarter

Assurance, Risk and Audit is designed to add value and assist management 
in achieving the organisations overall key aims and objectives. An indicator for 
ARA performance is that 100% of all recommendations made are accepted by 
management. 

5.3 Management’s implementation of agreed actions (recommendations)

For the quarter ending 31 December 2017, 10 actions are overdue, 8 of which 
were in progress. Agreed actions are now being continually monitored by the 
Senior Management Team and discussed in detail on a monthly basis, this 
has resulted in actions being updated more regularly with information. The 
ARA Manager is working with the new Operations Manager for Parking 
Services to address the risks highlighted in the audit actions.

6 Quality Assurance and Improvement Program 
 
6.1 The Survey Monkey questionnaire has been revised and responses for this 

quarter can be found at appendix 2 to this report. Overall responses were 
positive, although there could be improvements made to how the audit plan is 
communicated to all audit clients to ensure they are aware of the work 
programme for the year.

6.2 The ARA Manager completed a full self-assessment of conformance with the 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards in August 2017. Both the self-

Page 10



assessment results and the corresponding final moderated peer review report 
will be presented to this committee as part of this meeting. The ARA Manager 
will next attend Lancaster City Council in January 2018 to commence the next 
Peer review.

7 Corporate Risks and Issues Log

7.1 At our last meeting it was agreed that in the interest of presentation and 
committee members receiving the most up to date information that the latest 
high level risk report would be attached as a link instead of an appendix for 
your information and regular oversight. 

Corporate Risk Log Hyperlink

7.2 For external stakeholders the corporate risk log is also published as part of 
the performance reporting at Allerdale, the most recent performance report 
can be found at the following link.

performancereport_risks1718

8 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

8.1 Assurance, Risk and Audit operates in support of other Council services.

9 Finance and or Resource Implications

9.1 There are currently no finance or resource issues that have not been 
previously reported to the Committee.

10 Legal Implications and Risks

10.1 Acceptance of this report has no legal, health and safety or risk management   
implications other than the consideration of the Corporate Risks and Issues 
Log by the Committee in terms of oversight of the effectiveness of Risk 
Management Framework.

11 Recommendations

11.1 That the report is accepted subject to any additional information that the 
committee may require.

Emma Thompson
Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager

Page 11

http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/documents/g4280/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Sep-2017%2010.00%20Executive.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/documents/g4280/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Sep-2017%2010.00%20Executive.pdf?T=10


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Appendix One

Development Services Audit Review 2017/18

Introduction

As part of the 2017/18 Assurance Risk and Audit Plan, a review has been undertaken of the controls and procedures in place in 
respect of Development Services at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is to provide management with 
assurance that controls, governance and risk management activities are robust and operating as intended, that mitigating actions 
are in place to manage the key corporate risk for this area as recorded by the risk owner and provide recommendations for 
improvements to add value, if appropriate.

Assurance Risk and Audit would like to thank all staff involved during the course of the review for their help and assistance.

The objective and scope for the Development Services audit review was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 7th 
June 2017.

Testing and results

Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Policies, Procedures 
Legislation and Legal 
compliance

Development 
Services have 
consistently 
communicated and 
complied with Policy 
and Legislation.

Objectives; 
Efficiency and 
effectiveness; 
Reputation; Value 
for Money; Business 
minded; Transparent 
and accountable 
Data integrity

Substantial The team demonstrated measures were 
in place to effectively and consistently 
comply with legislation and provide 
accurate regulatory advice, including 
some good working practices i.e. 
application review meetings and adopting 
a Developer Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Document. The 
Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document and related 
information needed to be updated on 
Allerdale’s Development Services 
website. Area for improvement 1.

P
age 13



The Planning Policy team demonstrated 
excellent knowledge and processes were 
in place to ensure the Local Plan (Part 1) 
July 2014 was appropriately consulted 
and agreed on examination. 

The Planning Policy team have two 
vacant posts and cannot recruit due to a 
recruitment freeze on policy posts due to 
the restructure in progress, this is adding 
workload pressure to the current staff. 
Recommendation 1.

Discussions with key officers confirmed 
that the Building Control team were not 
adequately trained or competent to deal 
with dangerous buildings and structures. 
This was acknowledged by the Interim 
Building Control Manager however staff 
were expected to effectively deal with 
them on a call out basis using their 
Building Control knowledge. 
Recommendation 2.

The employee survey evidenced 18% of 
the team didn't know what their teams 
KPI's were and 14% didn't know what a 
KPI was in general. Area For 
Improvement 2.

People Development 
Services 
expectations are 
managed effectively 
and roles and 
responsibilities are 
understood.

Objectives; 
Efficiency and 
effectiveness; 
Reputation; Value 
for Money; Business 
minded; Transparent 
and accountable; 

Substantial Both Building Control and Planning Policy 
had lost experienced officers and 
currently have both agency staff and 
vacant posts. The inability to recruit to the 
Building Control Manager both internally 
and externally has evidenced inadequate 
succession management arrangements 

P
age 14



Data integrity were in place for a profession where 
recruitment is extremely difficult.

The employee survey and discussions 
with key staff identified permanent 
employee’s feelings of being undervalued 
due to agency workers performing the 
same tasks at a high rate of pay. 
Recommendation 3.

The employee survey stated 90% of staff 
felt they had the right 
training/qualifications/ relevant 
experience to do everything their role 
required.

50% felt regular training events and 
updates were needed, 35% didn't feel 
they had been adequately trained to use 
systems and tools needed for their daily 
roles. Recommendation 4. 

A customer service survey sent to 
randomly selected customers evidenced 
that apart from Development Services 
availability they were happy with the 
quality of the service they received.  

The Customer Service Survey and 
discussions with key staff evidenced that 
feedback from customers showed the 
main issues were;

1. officers not available due to their 
working days / hours’ 

2. officers not available due to not 
being reachable via phone / 
email’ for whatever reason. 

P
age 15



This evidenced a need to gather 
customer feedback as a performance 
measure. This would allow management 
to evaluate the impact of the current 
operating model on customer satisfaction 
and needs. Recommendation 5. 

The employee survey showed that 90% 
of staff thought they contributed to the 
council plan in some way. Refer to Area 
of improvement 2.

Validations are completed between an 
Officer, Assistant and Technician, which 
helps understanding and development of 
different applications, however these are 
not consistent between users. Clear 
operating procedures for users would 
improve knowledge, reduce confusion 
and encourage consistency. 
Recommendation 6.

Data quality/integrity All data recorded 
both manual and 
electronic is to a high 
quality, accurate and 
secure. Segregation 
of duties are in place 
where appropriate.

Objectives; 
Efficiency and 
effectiveness; 
Reputation; Value 
for Money; Business 
minded; Transparent 
and accountable 
Data integrity

Substantial The current system is not fit for purpose, 
Product X is in progress to purchase a 
new system, a supplier has been chosen 
and agreed and should be implemented 
by April 2018.

A joint Planning and Planning Policy 
Business Continuity Plan in place in the 
event of IT failure, however is not up to 
date. Building Control not aware of one. 
Recommendation 7.

Discussions showed that officers weren’t 
consistently completing their monitoring 
check lists, this is vital to collate central 

P
age 16



government performance data which is 
submitted by Planning Policy. 
Recommendation 8.

Discussion with the Interim Building 
Control Manager confirmed that file notes 
were not consistent and some were 
missed altogether on occasion. This 
causes duplication and can impact 
customer service. Recommendation 9. 

Only one member of staff was working 
paperless, due to staff not having fully 
working tablets. This also should be 
rectified once Product X is in place.

In accordance with Allerdales clear desk 
policy, working paperless and the 
importance of scanning personal data, it 
was agreed that The Enforcement Officer 
would scan any remaining paper files on 
to the system by the end of October 
2017.
 

Physical/personal 
security

Team aware of Lone 
working procedures 
on site and know 
problem sites.

Substantial Discussions and testing showed the 
majority of Development Services staff 
were not aware or hadn’t read the 
Corporate Lone Working Policy. No risk 
assessments had been completed and 
Building Control were not aware of the 
risk sites (sites with potential risks to 
officers). Recommendation 10. 

No asset register was kept for low cost 
assets and the IT asset register was not 
accurate, showing x3 tablets when there 
were x4. Recommendation 11.

P
age 17



Performance 
monitoring. Reports 
to stakeholders

All statutory and non-
statutory 
performance 
indicators and targets 
are met

Objectives; 
Efficiency and 
effectiveness; 
Reputation; Value 
for Money; Business 
minded; Transparent 
and accountable 
Data integrity 

Substantial Effective processes were in place to 
monitor statutory and non-statutory 
deadlines and KPI performance, 
including regular monitoring and 
performance reports.

Testing showed that planning KPI’s, % of 
minor and other planning applications 
determined within statutory period and 
No. of new housing completions were 
slightly under target, however this was 
not a concern due to processes in place 
and a good standard still being produced.

Areas for improvement and recommendations

Areas for improvement

Number Area for improvement 
1 The adopted Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document and information relating to this on the 

website should be updated to show this is no longer a draft document under consultation.

2 The employee survey showed that 5% of staff didn’t think they contributed to the council plan and 5% didn’t know if 
they did. There is an opportunity for the 90% to share this understanding throughout the team. Development Services 
staff should be made aware of what their team KPI's are, how they contribute to the achievement of these and what a 
KPI is in general. This should include how they are monitored and by whom (team meeting standard item or Corporate 
Business Plan).

P
age 18



Recommendations

Number Recommendation Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 
and response

1 The corporate position freeze on policy 
posts should be re-visited and if still in 
place, agency staff should be recruited to 
relieve current workload on the Planning 
Policy team.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; Local 
Plan not being agreed; Brown 
Field Land Register not 
meeting deadline; Un-due 
pressure on existing staff; 
Staff morale decreases; 
Sickness levels rise.

Low Implemented via restructure 
at the time of the review.

2 Building Control staff should be 
adequately trained to competently deal 
with dangerous buildings and structures. 
Only competent officers should deal with 
dangerous buildings and structures.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Reputation; Accountability; 
Liability; Negligence, Injury; 
Death.

Medium Training now completed. 
Implemented at the time of 
the review.

3 Building Controls operating model should 
be reviewed to address inherent risks to 
service sustainability. 

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Reputation; Staff leave; Staff 
morale decreases, 
succession planning.

Medium Progression plan in place and 
work on-going. Management 
aware of current 
sustainability issues. 
Recommendation accepted, 
no deadline agreed, as work 
is continuous and an ongoing 
process.

4 Development Services training needs 
should be considered and incorporated 
into the training plan and implementation 
of Product X.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Accountability; customer 
satisfaction decreases

Low This should be mitigated by 
the introduction of the 
information management 
system (product X). April 
2018.

5 Customer feedback should be used as a 
performance measure of the service 
provided by the current operating model. 

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Reputation; Accountability; 
Loss of customers; loss of 

Medium Implemented via restructure 
at the time of the review.

P
age 19



market share; Un-satisfied 
customers.

6 Clear user guidance and procedures 
should be produced for all applications 
used to ensure consistent data quality 
and efficiency.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives.

Low This should be mitigated by 
the introduction of the 
information management 
system (product X). April 
2018.

7 Development Services Business 
Continuity Plan should be updated and 
reviewed as stated within the Plan every 
6 months.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Accountability; Reputation;

Medium Interim Building Control 
Manager.

30 November 2017.
8 To improve the data quality and 

efficiency of performance information 
sent to central government officers 
should consistently complete their 
monitoring check lists for the appropriate 
case files and understand the impact and 
importance of these. This should be 
subject to management monitoring.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Accountability; Reputation; 
statutory performance 
statistics not accurate;

Medium This should be mitigated by 
the introduction of the 
information management 
system (product X). April 
2018.

9 To provide an efficient and effective 
service, Building Control file notes 
should be recorded in all cases. This 
should be subject to management 
monitoring.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Accountability; Reputation; No 
record of works completed.

Low This should be mitigated by 
the introduction of the 
information management 
system (product X). April 
2018.

10 Development Services lone workers 
should be made aware of and adhere to 
the Corporate Lone Working Policy. A 
specific risk assessment for lone working 
duties should be carried out as stated in 
the Corporate Policy.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Accountability; Reputation; 
Injury; Death

High Interim Building Control 
Manager.

30 November 2017.

11 A low cost asset register should be 
collated for development services and 
ICT’s asset register should be reviewed 
for accuracy.

Efficiency and effectiveness; 
Not meeting objectives; 
Accountability.

Low Technical Officer (JJ)

30 November 2017.

ICT Manager

27 October 2017.

P
age 20



Economic Growth Audit Review 2017/18

Introduction

As part of the 2017/18 Assurance Risk and Audit Plan, a review has been undertaken of the controls and procedures in place in 
respect of Economic Growth at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is to provide management with assurance 
that controls, governance and risk management activities are robust and operating as intended and provide recommendations for 
improvement to add value, if appropriate. 

Assurance Risk and Audit would like to thank all staff involved during the course of the review for their help and assistance.

The objective and scope for the Economic Growth audit review was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 2nd June 
2017.

Testing and results

Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Land and Assets Effective and efficient 
management of land 
and assets. Providing 
estate advice and 
support to the 
organisation to 
ensure maximum 
impact from assets 
and commerciality of 
the Council’s estate 
is progressed

Objectives; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; Value for 
Money; Data 
integrity

Substantial There is a performance measure to 
monitor vacancy of Council properties, 
the team aim to avoid ‘void loss’ (loss of 
rent during vacant period) wherever 
possible. The year to date figures for this 
KPI are 92.5% against a target of 90.0%. 
To bring properties back into use, re-let 
and generating income quickly it would 
be beneficial for all works to be 
completed in a timely manner after 
possession is taken.

Testing demonstrated effective KPIs 
were in place to measure and monitor 
performance. Discussions with key 
officers confirmed that void loss is 
avoided where possible. However 
properties would benefit from works 

P
age 21



completed quickly after possession is 
taken to ensure that the property can be 
re-let and costs kept to a minimum. Refer 
to recommendation 1.

There is a Commercial Plan in place for 
estate management, which contributes to 
the mitigation to Corporate risk number 
five "Failure to achieve enhanced land 
and asset value and failure to achieve 
economic growth and housing priorities". 
The purpose of the Commercial Plan is to 
create income for the Council to ensure 
that as Central Government grants 
reduce, ABC can maintain a level of 
income (target is circa £15m), that 
enables the continuation of the high 
quality services it provides and that 
provides high levels of satisfaction for 
local residents. Refer to 
recommendation 2.

There is currently no AIP investment plan 
in place, key officers are aware of the 
situation. Resource is being focused on 
completion of the first four investment 
sites and an AIP investment plan will be 
considered once they’re finalised

Enhancing our Towns Town Centres are 
enhanced and 
managed to improve 
the environment and 
make Allerdale 
attractive, welcoming 
and thriving.

Objectives; 
Efficiency and 
effectiveness; 
Reputation; Value 
for Money; Business 
minded; Transparent 
and accountable

Substantial Effective management and monitoring in 
place to ensure town centres are 
enhanced, attractive and welcoming. 

Enforcement action, is undertaken where 
appropriate to secure improvements to 
untidy sites and buildings. 

P
age 22



A manufacturing and employer’s forum is 
in place to support and engage with 
businesses.

The Asset Register is kept up to date and 
is transparent. No record of empty 
properties was kept, Property Services 
receive confirmation via the Estates 
Manager, usually in person. Refer to 
recommendation 3.

Testing confirmed festivals and events 
are supported in line with Council Plan 
priorities and funded in the towns 
effectively.

Efficient management 
of grants

Grants are applied 
and authorised 
consistently within 
council policy and 
reconciled to provide 
assurance.

Data integrity; 
Counter fraud; 
Efficiency and 
effectiveness

Substantial Sample testing for Social Impact 
Investment Fund (SIIF) and Local 
Enterprise Partnership Funding (LEP) 
funding demonstrated controls are in 
place which ensure that expenditure is 
appropriately processed and authorised 
in line with procedure. 

SIIF grants testing showed match funding 
of £3,000,211 was achieved from 2014-
2017 in Allerdale and 180 jobs were 
created.

Sample testing for Town Centre Grants 
demonstrated the need to adopt the 
standard Corporate Grants Process for 
the delivery of all grants agreed to 
external organisations to ensure a 
consistent process is followed and the 
value added can be measured in line with 
the council’s priorities. Refer to 

P
age 23



recommendation 4.

Testing confirmed year-end reconciliation 
was completed for Heating Grants to 
confirm the prepayment element of the 
£766,628.14 invoiced. No ongoing 
reconciliations of grants were completed 
by the service department. Refer to 
recommendation 5.

Areas for improvement and recommendations

Recommendations
Number Recommendation Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 

and response
1 A process should be agreed to ensure 

sites/properties are cleared immediately 
after possession is taken or a property 
comes vacant. This will maximise income 
to the business and allow the property to 
be re-let quickly.

Loss of income; Failure to 
meet business plan 
objectives; Failure to achieve 
KPIs.

Medium Estates Manager

30 November 2017

2 The Commercial Plan for estate 
management should be annually 
reviewed and updated as necessary.

Loss of income; Failure to 
meet business plan 
objectives; Failure to achieve 
KPIs.

Medium Head of Economic Growth 

30 November 2017

3 A register of Allerdales empty properties 
should be created, kept up to date and 
shared with property services for 
inspection purposes.

Loss of data; Failure to meet 
business plan objectives; 
Efficient and effective 
processes.

Low Estates Manager

30 November 2017

P
age 24



4 The standard Corporate grants process 
should be adopted for the delivery of all 
grants agreed to external organisations 
to ensure a consistent process is 
followed and the value added can be 
measures in line with the council’s 
priorities.

Failure to meet business plan 
objectives; Efficient and 
effective processes; counter 
fraud.

Medium Policy Development Manager 
(Economic Growth)

30November 2017

5 Reconciliations of all grants expenditure 
should be completed to reduce risk of 
errors and duplications. (Internal record 
to Total actual payments made).

Loss of income; efficient and 
effective processes; counter 
fraud.

Low Policy Development Manager 
(Economic Growth)

30 November 2017

P
age 25



Guide to the audit assurance opinions
Comprehensive There is a sound system of controls designed to meet objectives, 

manage risks and controls are consistently applied in all the areas 
reviewed.

Substantial There is a good system of controls and risks are managed. 
However, there are opportunities for improvement in the design or 
consistency of application that will assist in the achievement of 
objectives identified as being at risk in the areas reviewed.

Limited Key controls exist to help achieve objectives and manage principle 
risks. However, there are opportunities for improvement in the 
overall control environment which would enhance the design and 
application of controls, thereby assisting the achievement of 
objectives identified as being at risk in the areas reviewed.

Minimal The absence of basic key controls or the inconsistent application 
of key controls is so severe that the audit area is open to abuse or 
error. Risks to objectives are not being managed.

Agreed action levels
High There is a control vulnerability that could result in failure to achieve 

corporate objectives, reputational damage, lead to material loss, exposure 
to serious fraud or failure to meet legal or statutory requirements. This 
includes material non-compliance with the Constitution, Financial 
Regulations or Council policies and procedures. Managers should 
address high priority recommendations urgently to rectify the situation.

Medium The system or procedure lacks adequate control that could result in 
failure to achieve operational objectives, non-material loss, or non-
compliance with departmental operational or financial procedures. This 
would also include minor non-compliance with Financial Regulations. 
Although not fundamental to system integrity these risks should be 
addressed promptly as the next priority.

Low To implement this would be good practice to improve or enhance the 
system and the achievement of objectives. Several low risks in 
combination may give rise to concern.  

In line with the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS), Assurance, Risk 
and Audit will monitor all current and future agreed actions. Actions will be recorded 
in the actions log on Sharepoint including all progress updates whether made by 
assigned officers directly or by Assurance, Risk and Audit on their behalf. Managers 
with Network system access have the opportunity to monitor these actions. 
Implementation dates are agreed before the Final report is issued, amendments to 
these dates must be agreed with Assurance, Risk and Audit. Agreed actions are 
monitored by the Senior Management Team and Audit Committee. In the instance 
that an engagement has not been conducted in line with the PSIAs, the areas of 
non-conformance will be reported as part of the final report.

Page 26



80.00% 4

20.00% 1

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q1 How would you rate your overall satisfaction with us?
Answered: 5 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 5

Good

 Satisfied

Dissatisfied

somewhat
dissatisfied

very
dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Good

 Satisfied

Dissatisfied

somewhat dissatisfied

very dissatisfied

1 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 27



Q2 Please rate our Assurance risk and Audit officer on the following
attributes

Answered: 4 Skipped: 1

Provided
quality service

Was
understandin...

Approachable

Provided an
Independent...

2 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 28



0.00%
0

0.00%
0

25.00%
1

75.00%
3

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

25.00%
1

75.00%
3

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
4

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
4

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
4

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
4

0.00%
0

 
4

Very Poor Poor Fair Good Very Good

Communicated
effectively

Professionalism

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

 VERY POOR POOR FAIR GOOD VERY GOOD TOTAL

Provided quality service

Was understanding of your challenges and demands

Approachable

Provided an Independent service

Communicated effectively

Professionalism

3 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 29



Q3 How would you rate the below aspects of the audit?
Answered: 4 Skipped: 1

Notice period
given ahead ...

The scope and
objectives o...

Audit ran to
schedule wit...

The draft
report...

4 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 30



0.00%
0

0.00%
0

25.00%
1

75.00%
3

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
4

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

75.00%
3

25.00%
1

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

75.00%
3

25.00%
1

0.00%
0

 
4

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

75.00%
3

25.00%
1

0.00%
0

 
4

5 4 Good Satisfactory Poor

The final
report was...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

 5 4 GOOD SATISFACTORY POOR TOTAL

Notice period given ahead of the audit (the brief issued to heads of
service)

The scope and objectives of the audit reflected the areas you wished
to be reviewed

Audit ran to schedule with minimal disruption

The draft report adequately addressed the key issues/risks to the
service

The final report was clear and concise

5 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 31



100.00% 4

0.00% 0

Q4 Do you feel the Audit has added value to your service?
Answered: 4 Skipped: 1

TOTAL 4

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

6 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 32



100.00% 4

0.00% 0

Q5 Do you agree or disagree that the Auditor was knowledgeable and
insightful when making recommendations and providing assurance

around key controls?
Answered: 4 Skipped: 1

TOTAL 4

Agree

Disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Agree

Disagree

7 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 33



Q6 We are continually looking for ways to improve the quality and
delivery of our service. What changes would most improve our service?

Answered: 2 Skipped: 3

8 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 34



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 19 February 2018

Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards Peer Review Results and Self-
Assessment Checklist

The Reason for the Decision To provide assurance over the 
effectiveness of the Internal Audit 
Service at Allerdale Borough Council.

Summary of options considered To review the documents and provide 
comments.

Recommendations To accept the content of the Peer Review 
Report and Public Sector Internal 
Auditing Standards (PSIAS) self-
assessment subject to any further 
information the committee may require.

Financial /  Resource Implications Participation in the Lancashire and 
District Audit Group (LDAG) Peer Review 
requires the Assurance Risk and Audit 
Manager to complete a review at 
Lancaster and Wyre council before May 
2018.

Legal / Governance Implications These actions are a requirement of the 
PSIAs and will inform the Annual 
Governance Statement.

Community Safety Implications None.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

This contributes to the overall 
effectiveness of control, governance and 
risk management.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

None.

Wards Affected All.

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

All.

Is this a Key Decision No.

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis
(Email joan.ellis@allerdale.gov.uk)

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



Lead Officer Emma Thompson, Assurance, Risk and 
Audit Manager. 01900 702988
emma.thompson@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership Y
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

Appendix 1 – Peer Review Final Report
Appendix 2 – PSIAs Self-Assessment
Appendix 3 - Moderation Letter

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The PSIAS 1312 states that an external assessment must be conducted at 
least once every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or 
assessment team from outside the organisation. It was agreed by this 
Committee on 28 November 2016 that this external assessment would be 
carried out by the LDAG in line with the Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) presented.

1.2 In order for an external assessment to be valid, the standards include the 
following criteria:

 External assessments can be in the form of a full external assessment, or 
a self-assessment with independent external validation.

 A qualified assessor or assessment team demonstrates competence in 
two areas: the professional practice of internal auditing and the external 
assessment process. Competence can be demonstrated through a 
mixture of experience and theoretical learning. Experience gained in 
organisations of similar size, complexity, sector or industry and technical 
issues is more valuable than less relevant experience. In the case of an 
assessment team, not all members of the team need to have all of the 
competencies; it is the team as a whole that is qualified. The chief audit 
executive uses professional judgment when assessing whether an 
assessor or assessment team demonstrates sufficient competence to be 
qualified.

Page 36



 An independent assessor or assessment team means not having either a 
real or an apparent conflict of interest and not being a part of, or under the 
control of, the organisation to which the internal audit activity belongs.

2.0 Peer Review

2.1 Audit professionals from Wyre Council and Lancaster Council conducted an 
external review of the Internal Audit Service at Allerdale Borough Council. 
They completed interviews with the key officers and members associated with 
the work of internal audit and those charged with governance. They also 
reviewed all documentation detailed in the agreed MOU.

2.2 The Final Report summarising the Peer Review findings is attached as 
Appendix 1 and the overall opinion provided is as follows.

2.3 The report included two minor observation recommendations and two items 
for consideration. These can be found in Appendix 1 attached to this report, 
the action plan is titled Appendix C. Responses to the recommendations are 
also included for your consideration.

2.4 Many thanks to all members and officers involved in this process, in particular 
the Assurance Risk and Audit Officer. This excellent result is very much a 
reflection of all stakeholders’ professionalism and high regard for good 
governance.

3.0 Self-Assessment

3.1 As part of this review the Assurance Risk and Audit Manager completed a 
PSIAs self-assessment which is attached for your information as Appendix 2. 
This document was then used to inform the Peer Review.  I can confirm that 
the external review team found this to be an accurate representation of the 
Internal Audit Service at Allerdale Borough Council. 

Area of Focus Judgement

Purpose & Positioning Conforms

Structure & Resources Conforms

Audit Execution Conforms

Overall Judgement: Conforms

Page 37



4.0 Recommendations

4.1 To accept the content of the Peer Review Report and PSIAS self-assessment 
subject to any further information the committee may require.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 Allerdale Borough Council is assured they have an Internal Audit Service that 
is compliant with the PSIAs.

Emma Thompson
Assurance Risk and Audit Manager

Page 38



Appendix 1

1

ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PEER REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT AGAINST THE UK 
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS

SEPTEMBER 2017

Final Report – Issued 5th December 2017

Review Team
Joanne Billington, Head of Audit / Governance, Wyre Borough Council

Page 39



Appendix 1

2

Lorraine Farrow, Principal Auditor / Deputy Internal Audit and Assurance 
Manager, Lancaster City Council 

1 Introduction

1.1 All principal local authorities and other relevant bodies subject to the Accounts 
and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 (amended), the Accounts and Audit 
(Wales) regulations 2005, section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973 and the Amendment to the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) 
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2006 must make provision for internal audit in 
accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) as well 
as the (CIPFA) Local Government Application Note.

1.2 A professional, independent and objective internal audit service is one of the 
key elements of good governance in local government.

1.3 The PSIAS require that an external assessment of an organisation’s internal 
audit function is carried out once every five years by a qualified, independent 
assessor or assessment team from outside of the organisation. External 
assessments can be in the form of a full external assessment, or a self-
assessment with independent external validation.

1.4 The Lancashire Districts Chief Auditor Group (LDCAG) has established a 
‘peer-review’ process that is managed and operated by the constituent 
authorities. This process addresses the requirement of external assessment 
by ‘self-assessment with independent external validation’ and this report 
presents the summary findings of the review carried out on behalf of Allerdale 
Borough Council.

1.5 “An independent assessor or assessment team” means not having either a 
real or an apparent conflict of interest and not being a part of, or under the 
control of, the organisation to which the internal audit activity belongs.” This 
review has been carried out by the Head of Internal Audit at Wyre Council and 
the Principal Auditor at Lancaster City Council. Their ‘pen pictures’, outlining 
background experience and qualifications, are included at Appendix A.

2 Approach/Methodology

2.1 The LDCAG has agreed a detailed Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
that outlines the broad methodology for the conduct of this review. A copy of 
the MoU is available upon request. However, in summary, the key elements of 
the process are:

 The peer review is undertaken in three stages: pre-review; on-site review; 
post-review and covers audit activity during the period covered in the 
latest Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion. For this review 
the Internal Audit Annual Report for the year ending 2016/17 has been 
considered. 

Page 40



Appendix 1

3

 Allerdale Borough Council has completed and shared its self-evaluation of 
the Internal Audit service together with any relevant supporting 
evidence/documentation in advance of on-site review commencement. 
The LDCAG has agreed that the self-assessment will use the CIPFA 
Local Government Application Note (LGAN) questionnaire. Typically, 
supporting evidence will include the Internal Audit Plan and Charter, The 
Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion, Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme and examples of final audit reports.

 To support the on-site review, a customer survey form has been issued to 
key personnel within the authority being reviewed. 

 The review itself comprised a combination of ‘desktop’ and ‘actual on-site’ 
review. 

 The review cannot reasonably consider all elements of the LGAN self-
assessment and the review team used the ‘desktop’ period to determine 
strengths, weaknesses and subsequent key lines of enquiry in order that 
the review itself is risk-based, timely and adds real value. Allerdale’s 
Internal Audit has been assessed against the three broad themes of: 
Purpose and Positioning; Structure and Resources; and Audit Execution. 
Impact is considered an overarching theme within these areas. 

 Upon conclusion, the Review team offers a ‘true and fair’ judgement and 
each Authority will be appraised as Conforms, Partially Conforms or 
Does Not Conform against each thematic area of the LGAN, from which 
an aggregation of the three themed scores gives an overall Authority 
score. 

3 Summary Findings

3.1 Following a detailed examination process, the review team has concluded the 
following judgements:

Area of Focus Judgement

Purpose & Positioning Conforms

Structure & Resources Conforms

Audit Execution Conforms

Overall Judgement: Conforms

Assessment against the individual elements of each area of focus is included 
in the table at Appendix B.

Page 41



Appendix 1

4

3.2 Positive overall observations

Overall, the peer review at Allerdale was very positive. It was very clear from 
interviewing the Senior Management Team (SMT) that the role of Head of 
Audit is seen as a key part of the governance framework. Although the HIA is 
relatively new to the role and the organisation, she has made quite a big 
impact on the organisation, actively taking the lead on a number of key 
corporate initiatives. She is highly respected and valued by the SMT and 
attends SMT meetings regularly to raise the profile of governance, internal 
control and risk management. 

Developing detailed risk registers and carrying out extensive assurance 
mapping across the council’s services has meant the HIA has been able to 
develop an audit plan which is well informed and features the key risks of the 
organisation. 

Of the 327 questions on the CIPFA LGAN checklist, the last self-assessment 
completed by the HIA in September 2017 identified an overall significant level 
of compliance, with only one area of non-compliance and 15 instances of 
partial compliance. Following the validation of the self-assessment, the peer 
review team can confirm it accurately reflects the IA function and identified no 
un-reported none or partial conformance. 

3.3 Significant Observations (leading to a ‘does not conform’ judgement)

There are no significant observations.

3.4 Minor Observations (areas for improvement/development, minor elements of 
non-conformance, gaps in ‘good practice’ statement)

The minor observations are detailed in 3.4.1 to 3.4.6 below.

Purpose and Positioning - Independence

3.4.1 The PSIAS state that ‘internal audit activity must be independent and internal 
auditors must be objective in performing their work’. During the peer review it 
was identified that the HIA has recently been given managerial responsibility 
within the Human Resources Section. Whilst it is acknowledged that HIA are 
now taking on more managerial responsibility outside the scope of audit, 
consideration should be given as to what controls need to be put in place to 
ensure any work completed will conform with the PSIAS covering 
independence and objectivity.   

Audit Execution – Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme

Page 42



Appendix 1

5

3.4.2 Following the introduction of the PSIAS in 2013, CIPFA produced the ‘Local 
Government Application Note’. The Application Note contains a checklist for 
assessing conformance with the PSIAS, and the Local Government 
Application Note. It also contains a checklist to compare the old 2006 local 
Government Code with the new standards. To comply with the PSIAS and the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, a review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control must be completed each financial year and the 
results submitted to the appropriate body for approval.   

3.4.3 Whilst collating evidence for the peer review it was identified that the full 
checklist for assessing compliance against the PSIAS and the Application 
Note had not been completed by the HIA and that she had only used the 
comparison checklist in 2016. After this was highlighted, the full checklist was 
completed for the purpose of the peer review. 

Audit Execution - Reporting

3.4.4 Discussions with the SMT identified that the HIA will attend SMT on a regular 
basis to update them on any outstanding audit recommendations. Whilst SMT 
found this exercise useful, it was felt that some managers were only paying 
‘lip service’ to the recommendations agreed and that it was clear to MT in 
some instances that the practicality and timescales stated in the reports were 
unachievable. 

3.4.5 To ensure managers are more accountable for their own service risks, it is 
suggested that the HIA considers compiling the action plan with the auditees 
at the closure meeting. This will give managers the opportunity to inform the 
auditor about any service pressures or reasons why identified risks are not 
being addressed as expected by the auditor. In compiling the action plans this 
way, it will hopefully make the follow-up process more efficient and make the 
action plan more useful to the service manager.  

Audit Presence & Visibility

3.4.6 The interview process highlighted that whilst the HIA is very much ‘adding 
value’ at SMT level in relation to governance, risk management and internal 
control, comments made during the interviews highlighted that this is not 
being fed down through the organisation. The role of the audit team is 
extensive, and the SMT should work with the HIA to promote the work of the 
audit team to ensure the organisation is made aware of what other advice and 
assistance the audit team can offer in addition to the scheduled audit 
assignments. 

Page 43



Appendix 1

6

3.5 PSIAS Action Table

This details suggested actions to improve the service, its status or impact and 
quality of the service provided. The points raised in 3.3 above are contained in 
this action table at Appendix C.

Page 44



Appendix 1

7

Appendix A

Review Team

Joanne Billington
Joanne has been Head of Audit for Wyre Council for 8 years but has over 15 years 
audit experience. She has a wealth of experience in the management and operation 
of internal audit functions at both County and District councils. She is a fully qualified 
member of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (MIIA) and holds a 
Qualification in Internal Audit Leaderships (QIAL). Joanne also sits on CIPFA’s North 
West Audit and Governance Group. 

Lorraine Farrow
Lorraine is currently the Principal Auditor / Deputy Head of Audit at Lancaster City 
Council and has worked with Lancaster’s Internal Audit Team for over 30 years 
gaining a variety of experience during that time. She is a fully qualified member of 
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Page 45



Appendix 1

8

Appendix B

Detailed Assessment

PSIAS
Ref C

on
fo

rm
s

P
ar

tia
lly

 
co

nf
or

m
s

D
oe

s 
no

t 
co

nf
or

m

Comments

Purpose & positioning
1000  Remit X
1000  Reporting lines X
1110  Independence X See 3.4.1 above
2010  Risk based plan X
2050  Other assurance 

providers
X

Structure & resources

1200  Competencies X
1210  Technical training & 

development
X

1220  Resourcing X
1230  Performance 

management
X

1230  Knowledge 
management

X

Audit execution

1300  Quality Assurance & 
Improvement 
Programme

X See 3.4.2 – 3.4.3 above

2000  Management of the 
IA function

X

2200  Engagement 
planning

X

2300  Engagement 
delivery

X

2400  Reporting X See 3.4.4 – 3.4.5 above 
2450  Overall opinion X

Conforms X Partially 
Conforms

Does Not 
Conform

Page 46



Appendix 1

9

Allerdale Borough Council Internal Audit Service – PSIAS Action Table                                                                                          Appendix C                       

The following points for consideration to develop the Audit Function arise from the review undertaken:

PSIAS Ref Report ref Point For Consideration Responsible Action

1110
Organisational 
Independence

3.4.1 During the peer review it was identified that the HIA 
has recently been given managerial responsibility 
within the Human Resources Section. Consideration 
should be given as to what controls need to be put in 
place to ensure any work completed will conform with 
the PSIAS covering independence and objectivity.   

ARA Manager and 
Head of Governance

HR Audit Review 
completed by ARA 
Officer prior to acting up 
position taking place. 
Head of Governance 
will deputise should a 
conflict of interest arise 
during this short term 
arrangement.

1311
Internal 

Assessments

3.4.2 To comply with the PSIAS and the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015 a review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control must be completed 
each financial year and the results submitted to the 
appropriate body for approval. Whilst collating 
evidence for the peer review it was identified that the 
full checklist for assessing compliance against the 
PSIAS and the Application Note had not been 
completed and approved by the appropriate body. It 
should be noted that the checklist was completed for 
the purpose of the review and assurance given by the 
HIA that this will be reported to Audit Committee in 
due course. 

ARA Manager Completed – present to 
audit committee 12/2/18

P
age 47



Appendix 1

10

PSIAS Ref Report ref Point For Consideration Responsible Action

N/A
Identified by
Interviews

3.4.4 To ensure managers are more accountable for their 
own service risks, it is suggested that the HIA 
considers compiling the action plan with the auditees 
at the closure meeting. This will give managers the 
opportunity to inform the auditor about any service 
pressures or reasons why identified risks are not 
being addressed as expected by the auditor. In 
compiling the action plans this way, it will hopefully 
make the follow-up process more efficient and make 
the action plan more useful to the service manager.

  

ARA Team The team will adopt this 
approach where 
beneficial and we will 
review the impact via 
the performance 
information for agreed 
actions.

N/A
Identified by
Interviews

3.4.6 The interview process highlighted that whilst the HIA 
is very much ‘adding value’ at SMT level in relation to 
governance, risk management and internal control, 
comments made during the interviews highlighted that 
this is not being fed down through the organisation. 
The role of the audit team is extensive, and the SMT 
should work with the HIA to promote the work of the 
audit team to ensure the organisation is made aware 
of what other advice and assistance the audit team 
can offer in addition to the scheduled audit 
assignments.

ARA Manager The ARA Manager now 
attends SMT and can 
offer audit advice and 
guidance to key 
strategic projects as 
they arise in the 
planning phase. ARA 
Manager is meeting all 
Heads of Service on a 
121 basis to inform the 
18/19 annual audit plan 
and to offer advice and 
assistance to support 
their priorities.

P
age 48



Appendix 2

 

 1 

CIPFA Checklist for Assessing Conformance with the PSIAS and the Local Government Application Note

For the purpose of this assessment the term ‘Chief Audit Executive’ is the Assurance Risk and Audit 
Manager and ‘The Board’ is the Audit Committee.

Completed August 2017 by the ARA Manager
 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
1 Definition of Internal Auditing     
 Using evidence gained from assessing conformance with 

other standards, is the internal audit activity: 
a) Independent? 
b) Objective? 

x    Organisational structure, review of Charter 
2017, supervision of activities in procedures

 Using evidence gained from assessing conformance with 
other standards, does the internal audit activity use a 
systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and 
improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and 
governance processes within the organisation? 

x   Procedures, Charter, role in integrated 
assurance, audit strategy 2017/18 

 
2 Code of Ethics     

P
age 49



 

 2 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Integrity 

 
Using evidence gained from assessing conformance with 
other standards, do internal auditors: 
 

a) Perform their work with honesty, diligence and 
responsibility? 
 

b) Observe the law and make disclosures expected by 
the law and the profession? 
 

c) Not knowingly partake in any illegal activity nor 
engage in acts that are discreditable to the 
profession of internal auditing or the organisation? 

 
d) Respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical 

objectives of the organisation? 

 
 

x
 

 x

x

x
 

  Defined in Charter and through IIA 
professional membership for the ARA 

Manager and Officer.

  Objectivity  

Using the evidence gained from assessing conformance with         
the standards, do internal auditors display objectivity by:          

a) Taking part in any activity or relationship that may 
impair or be presumed to impair their unbiased 
assessment? 

 
b) Accepting anything that may impair or be presumed 

to impair their professional judgement? 
 

c)  Disclosing all material facts known to them that, if 
not disclosed, may distort the reporting of activities 
under review? 

 
 
 
 
 

 x
 

x

x

  Defined in Charter and adhered to 

P
age 50



 

 

 3 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Confidentiality 

 
Using evidence gained from assessing conformance with other 
standards, do internal auditors display objectivity by: 
 

a) Acting prudently when using information acquired in 
the course of their duties and protecting that 
information? 
 

b) Not using information for any personal gain or in any 
manner that would be contrary to the law or 
detrimental to the legitimate and ethical objectives of 
the organisation? 

 
 
 

X

x
 
 
 

  On-going assessment by continual review of 
working practices. Declaration of interests 

complete annually and quarterly documented 
performance reviews with all staff. Only ARA 

Manager deals with highly sensitive 
information and investigations at present.

 Competency 
 
Using evidence gained from assessing conformance with other 
standards, do internal auditors display objectivity by: 
 

a) Only carrying out services for which they have the 
necessary knowledge, skills and experience? 

 
b) Performing services in accordance with the PSIAS? 

 
 
 

X

x
 

  Supervision of work by ARA Manager, work 
allocated based on competency. 

 
  

c) Continually improving their proficiency and 
effectiveness and quality of their services, for 
example through CPD schemes? 

x
   

 Do internal auditors have regard to the on Standards of 
Public Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life? 

x  Review of the local code of corporate 
governance all staff will be refreshed.

 
 Standards     
3 Attribute Standards     

P
age 51



 

 4 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
3.1 1000 Purpose, Authority and Responsibility     
 Does the internal audit Charter include a formal definition of: 

a) The purpose 
 

b) The authority; and 
 

c) The responsibility 
 

Of the internal audit activity consistent with the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)? 

 
 X

X

X

x

  See audit Charter 

LGAN Does the internal audit Charter define the terms ‘board’ and 
‘senior management’, for the purpose of the internal audit 
activity? 
 
Note that it is expected that the audit committee will fulfil the 
role of the board in the majority of instances. 

 x   Audit Charter

LGAN Does the internal audit Charter also: 
 

a) Set out the internal audit activity’s position within the 
organisation? 
 

b) Establish the CAE’s functional reporting relationship 
with the board? 
 

c) Establish the accountability, reporting line and 
relationship between the CAE and those to whom 
the CAE may report administratively? 

 
 

X

X

X

  Yes roles, responsibilities and position defined 
for the ARA team and key officers for all point 

in this question.

P
age 52



 

 5 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
LGAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LGAN 
 
LGAN 
 
 
LGAN 

d) Establish the responsibility of the board and also the 
role of the statutory officers (such as CFO, the 
monitoring officer and the head of paid service) with 
regards to internal audit? 
 

e) Establish internal audit’s right of access to all 
records, assets, personnel and premises and its 
authority to obtain such information and 
explanations as it considers necessary to fulfil its 
responsibilities? 
 

f) Define the scope of internal audit activities? 
 

g) Recognise that internal audit’s remit extends to the 
entire control environment of the organisation? 
 

h) Identify internal audit’s contribution to the review of 
effectiveness of the control environment, as set out 
in the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 
2011? 
 

i) Establish the organisational independence of 
internal audit? 
 

j) Cover the arrangements for appropriate resourcing? 
 

k) Define the role of internal audit in any fraud-related 
work? 
 

l) Set out the existing arrangements within the 
organisation’s anti-fraud and anti-corruption 
policies, to be notified of all suspected or detected 
fraud, corruption or impropriety? 
 

m) Include arrangements for avoiding conflicts of 
interest if internal audit undertakes non-audit 
activities? 

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

   

P
age 53



 

 

 
 

 6 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 n) Define the nature of assurance services provided to 
the organisation, as well as assurances provided to 
parties external to the organisation? 
 

o) Define the nature of consulting services? 
 

p) Recognise the mandatory nature of PSIAS? 

X

X

X

   

 Does the chief audit executive (CAE) periodically review the 
internal audit charter and present it to senior management 
and the board for approval? 

x   Yes last review 2017 

 Does the CAE attend audit committee meetings? X   Yes every meeting 

 Does the CAE contribute to audit committee agendas? x   Yes at least 4 times per year 

 
3.2 1100 Independence and Objectivity     
 Does the CAE have direct unrestricted access to senior 

management and the board? 
x   Regular meetings and training sessions 

annually with the audit committee, last 
training was CIPFA fraud in March 2017, next 
session planned for 25 September – roles 
and responsibilities. ARA Manager direct 
report to Head of Governance and as of last 
week is part of SMT following new acting up 
duties.  

 Does the CAE have free an unfettered access to, as well as 
communicate effectively with the chief executive or 
equivalent and the chair of the audit committee? 

x   Yes regular meetings with the Chair at least 
quarterly and meeting with the Chief 

Executive when required.

P
age 54



 

 

 7 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 Are threats to objectivity identified and managed at the 
following levels: 
 

a) Individual auditor? 
 

b) Engagement? 
 

c) Functional? 
 

d) Organisation? 

X

X

X

x

   Considered when allocating the audit plan 
work – the audit plan 17/18 was allocated 
considering strengths and competency but 
also experience and previous areas of 
responsibility. This will need reviewed when 
we have recruited to the vacancy in the team.

 1110 Organisational Independence     
 Does the CAE report to an organisational level equal or 

higher to the corporate management team? 
x   Reports direct to the Head of Governance 

who is on SMT, ARA Manager also now on 
SMT 

LGAN Does the CAE report to a level within the organisation that 
allows internal audit to fulfil its responsibilities? 

x   Reports direct to the Head of Governance 
who is on SMT, ARA Manager also now on 

SMT 

LGAN Have reporting and management arrangements been put in 
place that preserves the CAE’s independence and objectivity? 
 
This is of particular importance when the CAE is line managed 
by another officer of the authority. 

X

x

  The ARA Manager has new additional 
responsibilities (maternity cover) for 
management in the Governance Team for HR. 
Recent full review of HR completed by another 
Auditor prior to the changes taking place. 
Continues to report direct the Head of 
Governance and now has a place on the Senior 
Management Team.

P
age 55



 

 

 
 

 8 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

LGAN Does the CAE’s position in the management structure: 
 

a) Reflect the influence he or she has on the control 
environment? 
 

b) Provide the CAE with sufficient status to ensure that 
the audit plans, reports and action plans are 
discussed effectively with the board? 
 

c) Ensure that he or she is sufficiently senior and 
independent to be able to provide credibly 
constructive challenge to senior management? 

X

X

x

   

 Does the CAE confirm to the board, at least annually, that the 
internal audit activity is organisationally independent? 
 
The following examples can be used by the CAE when 
assessing the organisational independence of the internal 
audit activity. The board: 

 
a) approves the internal audit charter 

 
b) approves the risk-based audit plan 

 
c) approves the internal audit budget and resource plan 

 
d) receives communications from the CAE on the 

activity’s performance (in relation to the plan, for 
example) 
 

e) approves decisions relating to the appointment and 
removal of the CAE 

x

X

X

X

X

x 

 The board has approved all of these elements 
during 2017 (apart from e as they would be 

consulted but the decision to appoint lies with 
management). All meeting agendas and papers 

are available to access online.
Browse meetings - Audit Committee

February – audit strategy 2017/18

July year end, resource plan (audit plan) and 
Charter

P
age 56

http://abcmodgov.allerdale.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=44&Year=0


 

 

 9 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 f) Seeks reassurance from management and the 
as to whether there are any inappropriate 
scope or resources limitations. 

 CAE x    

 Does the chief executive or equivalent undertake, 
countersign, contribute, feedback to or review the 
performance appraisal of the CAE? 

x Undertaken by the Head of Governance and fed 
back to the Corporate Director who would 

communicate with the CE 
Is feedback sought from the chair of audit committee for the 
CAE’s performance appraisal? 

   x Not for the appraisal but these are feedback 
meetings after audit committee to review 
meeting and to identify improvements. 

 1111 Direct Interaction with the Board     

 Does the CAE communicate and interact directly with t 
board? 

he X    Yes regularly, quarterly meetings with the 
chair, regular training events, post meeting 

informal reviews with the committee to review 
conduct and effectiveness. Audit committee 

effectiveness assessment completed by 
members then collectively agreed – emailed 

21/8/17.
 1120 Individual Objectivity    

 Do internal Auditors have an impartial unbiased 
attitude?

X   Yes declaration of interest and supervision to 
manage 

 Do internal auditors avoid any conflict of interest, whet 
apparent or actual? 

her x   Yes declaration of interest and supervision to 
manage 

 1130 Impairment to Independence or Objectivity     

 If there has been any real or apparent impairment of 
independence or objectivity, has this been disclosed to 
appropriate parties (depending on the nature of the 
impairment and relationship between the CAE and sen 
management / the board as set out in the internal 
audit charter)? 

 

ior 
 

x The new arrangements for governance 
management were only agreed this week but 
have been communicated with the portfolio 

holder and audit committee chair

Have internal auditors assessed specific operations for  
which they have been responsible within the previous year  

  no 

P
age 57



 

 

 
 

 10 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 If there have been any assurance engagements in are 
over which the CAE also has operational responsibility 
have these engagements been overseen by someone 
outside of the internal audit activity? 

as 
, 

x    None – see audit plan

LGAN Are assignments for on-going assurance engagement 
other audit responsibilities rotated periodically within th 
internal audit team? 

s and 
e 

x    Yes see audit plans – all published online we 
have a new team so no auditor has undertaken 

the same review for over 3 years.
LGAN Have internal auditors declared interests in 

accordance with the organisational requirements? 
x   Completed annually 

 
LGAN  Where any internal auditor has accepted any gifts, 

hospitality, inducements or other benefits from 
employees clients, suppliers or other third parties 
(other than as may be allowed by the organisation’s 
own policies), has this been declared and investigated 
fully? 

 

       x   Declaration of interest is signed annually and 
there is an organisational gifts and hospitality 

register.
 

LGAN Have any instances been discovered where an internal 
auditor has used information obtained during the course of

 

duties for personal gain? 
 

x   No evidence of this. 

LGAN  Have internal auditors disclosed all material facts 
known to them which, if not disclosed, could distort 
their reports or conceal unlawful practice, subject to 
any confidentiality agreements? 

 
 

X    Yes and this would be picked up in the review 
process, considering the opinions in relation to 

the working papers and test results.

LGAN  Have internal auditors complied with the Bribery Act 2010? x    Detailed in the Counter Corruption Framework, 
all Allerdale staff are expected to comply. Fraud 

responsibilities defined in JDs.
allerdale counter corruption 

framework 
 If there has been any real or apparent impairment of 

independence or objectivity relating to a proposed 
consulting services engagement, was this disclosed to 

 

 x   Yes this would be the process followed or the 
work would where possible be allocated 

elsewhere.

P
age 58

https://www.bing.com/search?q=allerdale+counter+corruption+framework&src=IE-SearchBox&FORM=IESR02
https://www.bing.com/search?q=allerdale+counter+corruption+framework&src=IE-SearchBox&FORM=IESR02


 

 

 11 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

the engagement client before the engagement was 
accepted?

 Where there have been significant additional 
consulting services agreed during the year that were 
not already included in the audit plan, was approval 
sought from the board before the engagement was 
accepted? 

x    None have arisen, the audit plan is approved 
with an allocation of days for advice and 
assurance consultancy. The revised plan would 
communicate (6 monthly) and major deviations 
from this agreement.

 
3.3 1200 Proficiency and Due Professional Care     
 1210 Proficiency     
 Does the CAE hold a professional qualification, such as 

CMIIA / CCAB or equivalent? 
x  Holds PIIA and CIA 

 Is the CAE suitably experienced?    Yes over ten year experience in internal 
audit.

LGAN Is the CAE responsible for recruiting appropriate internal 
audit staff, in accordance with the organisation’s human 
resources processes? 

X   Yes they are responsible for all recruitment 

LGAN Does the CAE ensure that up-to-date job descriptions exist 
that reflect roles and responsibilities and that person 
specifications define the required qualifications, 
competencies, skills, experience and personal attributes? 

x   Recent restructure all JDs are up to date 

 
 Does the internal audit activity collectively possess or 

obtain the skills, knowledge and other competencies 
required to perform its responsibilities? 

x   1 vacant post at present but both current team 
members are IIA qualified 

 Where the internal audit activity does not possess the skills, 
knowledge and other competencies required to perform its 
responsibilities, does the CAE obtain competent advice and 
assistance? 

X    Yes – for example reviews of ICT 
governance and management are completed 
in house but it is recognised more specialist 
audits will be required – part of ICT tender 

process with LDCAG.
 Do internal auditors have sufficient knowledge to evaluate 

the risk of fraud and anti-fraud arrangements in the 
organisation? 

x  Training need evaluation by the Corporate 
Fraud group underway for fraud risks across 

the council since departure of fraud team.

P
age 59



 

 

 
 

 12 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 Do internal auditors have sufficient knowledge of key 
information technology risks and controls? 

X    Annual ICT review, included to support risk 
management on all major ICT project 
implantation boards. Current project 

membership is project X – replacement 
system for environment, building control, 

planning and housing.
 Do internal auditors have sufficient knowledge of the 

appropriate computer-assisted audit techniques that are 
available to them to perform their work, including data 
analysis techniques? 

x  No CAAT tools used but sufficient knowledge 
of software reporting functionality and excel. 

 1220 Due Professional Care     
 Do internal auditors exercise due professional care by 

considering the: 
 

a) Extent of work needed to achieve the engagement’s 
objectives? 
 

b) Relative complexity, materiality or significance of 
matters to which assurance procedures are 
applied? 
 

c) Adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk 
management and control processes? 
 

d) Probability of significant errors, fraud, or 
noncompliance? 
 

e) Cost of assurance in relation to potential benefits? 
 

 

X

X

X

X

x 
 

   Part of the planning process for every 
individual audit assignment as detailed in the 

audit strategy 2017/18

 

P
age 60



 

 

 13 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 Do internal auditors exercise due professional care during a 
consulting engagement by considering the: 
 

a) Needs and expectations of clients, including the 
nature, timing and communication of engagement 
results? 
 

b) Relative complexity and extent of work needed to 
achieve the engagement’s objectives? 
 

c) Cost of the consulting engagement in relation to 
potential benefits? 

 

 
 

X

X

x

 

  As detailed in the Charter and regularly 
discussed in the team it is a small team so 

informal discussions about any new 
engagements happen regularly.

Cost considered in terms of what value 
internal audit would add by undertaking the 

assignment. 

 1230 Continuing Professional Development     
LGAN Has the CAE defined the skills and competencies for each 

level of auditor? 
X   Yes small team – regular quarterly appraisals 

completed, available on request 
LGAN Does the CAE periodically assess individual auditors 

against the predetermined skills and competencies? 
x    We have a task list which we work through to 

confirm competency. (4Ws)
 Do internal auditors undertake a programme of continuing 

professional development? 
x   CPD managed by each individual auditor – all 

training is detailed on a central team log and 
maintained by each officer. 

 Do internal auditors maintain a record of their professional 
development and training activities? 

x   Training Log will forward on via email.

 
3.4 1300 Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme 
    

Has the CAE developed a Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) that covers all aspects o
the internal audit activity and enables conformance with all

 

aspects of the PSIAS to be evaluated? 

f  
x  This could always be improved by continually 

reviewing performance measures against 
PSIAs. 

 Does the QAIP assess the efficiency and effectiveness of 
the internal audit activity and identify opportunities for 
improvement? 

x   Yes through the quarterly performance report to 
audit committee and client assessments. 

P
age 61



 

 

 
 

 14 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 Does the CAE maintain the QAIP? x   Yes through quarterly reports to audit 
committee on performance, training and 

ongoing improvements to practises. 
 
 

LGAN If the organisation is a ‘larger relevant body’ in England, 
does it conduct a review of the effectiveness of its internal 
audit at least annually, in accordance with the Accounts and 
Audit *England)) Regulations 2011 section 6(3) 

   

 1310 Requirements of the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme 

   

Does the QAIP include both internal and external 
assessments? 

 x   Peer review planned and client assessment 

 1311 Internal Assessments    
LGAN Does the CAE ensure that audit work is allocated to staff 

with the appropriate skills, experience and competence? 
X    As detailed above – 4ws and audit plan

 Do internal assessments include on-going monitoring of the 
internal audit activity, such as: 
 

a) Routine quality monitoring processes? 
 

b) Periodic assessments for evaluating conformance 
with the PSIAS? 

 

X

x

  

Ongoing monitoring of all activities as part of 
daily management , review process, appraisals 

and observations.

This review is the first full periodic review since 
LGAN, gap analysis completed since the last 

full review.  
LGAN Does on-going performance monitoring include 

comprehensive performance targets? 
x  Performance targets are under review by the 

Head of Governance to ensure these measure 
the teams effectiveness rather than that of the 

owners of Agreed Actions 

P
age 62



 

 

 15 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

LGAN Are the performance targets developed in consultation with 
appropriate parties and included in any service level 
agreement? 

x    No SLAs

LGAN Does the CAE measure, monitor and report on progress 
against these targets? 

x   Reported to audit committee quarterly 

LGAN Does on-going performance monitoring include obtaining 
stakeholder feedback? 

x  Yes client assessments via survey monkey see 
audit committee 25/8/17 for example 

Are the periodic self-assessments or assessments carried 
out by people external to the internal audit activity  and

undertaken by those with a sufficient knowledge of     
internal audit practices?
Sufficiency would require knowledge of the PSIAS and the 
wide guidance available such as the Local Government

 

Application Note and / or IIA practice advisories, etc. 
 

 x  Peer review in progress 

LGAN  Does the periodic assessment include a review of the 
activity against the risk-based plan and the achievement of 
its aims and objectives? 

x  This forms part of the overall annual audit 
strategy setting where the ARA Manager 

considers the organisations risk profile and 
business plans for the year then directs the 

assurance where it will add value to the 
achievement of the council plan objectives and 

corporate risks. The quarterly report to audit 
committee defines how these plans are 

achieving the aims set out in the audit strategy.
 1312 External Assessments   

 Has an external assessment been carried out, or is 
planned to be carried out, at least once every five years? 

x  In progress 

LGAN  Has the CAE considered the pros and cons for the 
different types of external assessment (i.e. ‘full’ or self-
assessment plus ‘independent validation’)? 

 x   Yes as part of LDCAG 

Has the CAE discussed the proposed form of the external  
assessment and the qualifications and independence of the 

 

assessor or assessment team with the board?  

x   

LGAN  Has the CAE agreed the scope of the external assessment x  Yes discussed and presented to audit 

P
age 63



 

 

 
 

 16 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

with an appropriate sponsor, such as the chair of the audit
committee, the CFO or the chief executive?  

 committee

Has the CAE agreed the scope of the external assessment  
with the external assessor or assessment team?  

x  MOU set

 Has the assessor or assessment team demonstrated its 
competence in both areas of professional practice of 
internal auditing and the external assessment process? 
 
Competence can be determined in the following ways: 
 

a) Experience gained in organisations of similar size 
 

b) Complexity 
 

c) Sector (i.e. the public sector) 
 

d) Industry (i.e. local government); and 
 

e) Technical experience. 
 

Note that if an assessment team is used, competence 
needs to be demonstrated across the team and not for 
each individual member. 

   N/A 

 How has the CAE used his or her professional judgement to 
decide whether the assessor or assessment team 
demonstrates sufficient competence to carry out the 
external assessment? 

   N/A 

P
age 64



 

 

 17 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 Does the assessor or assessment team have any real or 
apparent conflicts of interest with the organisation? This 
may include, but is not limited to, being a part of or under 
the control of the organisation to which the internal audit 
activity belongs. 

   N/A 

 1320 Reporting on the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme 

    

 Has the CAE reported the results of QAIP to senior 
management and the board? 
 
Note that: 
 

a) The results of both external and periodic internal 
assessment must be communicated upon 
completion 
 

b) The results of on-going monitoring must be 
communicated at least annually. 
 

c) The results must include the assessor’s or 
assessment team’s evaluation with regards to the 
degree of the internal audit activity’s conformance 
with the PSIAS 

X

X

x

  

Quarterly performance in audit committee 
report. Year end report details conformance 
with standard although gap analysis approach 
undertaken. Full periodic assessments 2015 
and now 2017.

Report quarterly on performance.

Internal results of gap analysis published 

 
 Has the CAE included the results of the QAIP and progress 

against any improvement plans in the annual report? 
x   yes 

 1321 Use of ‘Conforms with the International Standards 
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing’ 

   

 Has the CAE stated that the internal audit activity conforms 
with the PSIAS only if the results of the QAIP support this? 

x    Yes no significant deviations

 1322 Disclosure of Non-conformance     

P
age 65



 

 

 
 

 18 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 

 Has the CAE reported any instances of non-conformance 
with the PSIAS to the board? 

   N/A 

P
age 66



 19 

 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 

 Has the CAE considered including any significant 
deviations from the PSIAS in the governance statement and 
has this been evidenced? 

   N/A 

 
4 Performance Standards     
4.1 2000 Managing the Internal Audit Activity     
 Do the results of the internal audit activity’s work achieve 

the purposes and responsibility of the activity, as set out in 
the internal audit charter? 

X   Yes see audit review results 

 Does the internal audit activity conform with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing in the Standards? 

X    Yes and we are embedding the principles of 
the new IIA mission in relation to the 

importance of insight.
 Do individual internal auditors, who are part of the internal 

audit activity, demonstrate conformance with the Code of 
Ethics and the Standards? 

X   Yes in line with Charter and professional 
membership of IIA. 

 Does the internal audit activity add value to the organisation 
and its stakeholders by 
 

a) Providing objective and relative assurance? 
 

b) Contributing to the effectiveness and efficiency of 
the governance, risk management and internal 
control processes? 

X

X

  Yes as defined in the Charter and AGS. Also 
reviewed as part of the client assessment 

forms. I think the questions could be improved 
to look at this a little deeper. 

 2010 Planning    
 Has the CAE determined the priorities of the internal audit 

activity in a risk-based plan and are these priorities 
consistent with the organisation’s goals? 

x   The 2017/18 plan has been resourced based 
on the risk profile for each service and their 

objectives against the Councils delivery plan.
 Does the risk-based plan take into account the 

requirements to produce an annual internal audit opinion? 
x    Yes see audit strategy

 Does the risk-based plan take into account the 
organisation’s assurance framework? 

x    Yes – as part of three lines of defence model 
and service managed risks and assurance 
maps are reviewed. Consideration of AGS 

results and agreed action follow up in 
engagement planning.

P
age 67



 20 

 Does the risk-based plan incorporate or is it linked to a 
strategic or high level statement of: 

a) How the internal audit service will be delivered? 
 

b) How the internal audit service will be developed in 
accordance with the internal audit charter? 

 
X

x 

 

  Yes audit strategy reviewed annually to 
respond with the every changing business 

environment. 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 c) How the internal audit service links to organisational 

objectives and priorities? 
 

X   Council plan objectives and the corporate risks 
and issues in relation to these objectives are 

reviewed during planning process. 

 Does the risk-based plan set out how internal audit’s work 
will identify and address local and national issues and 
risks? 

x   Each review includes in the scope risks 
highlighted in the corporate risks and issues 

log 
 In developing the risk-based plan, has the CAE taken into 

account the organisation’s risk management framework and 
relative risk maturity of the organisation? 

x    Yes based on annual assessment of the risk 
management on the organisation.

 If such a risk management framework does not exist, has 
the CAE used his or her own judgement of risks after input 
from senior management and the board and evidenced 
this? 

  N/A 

LGAN Does the risk-based plan set out the: 
 

a) Audit work to be carried out? 
 

b) Respective priorities of those pieces of work? 
 

c) Estimated resources needed for the work? 
 

X

X

x

  

Audit plan and strategy details the resource 
allocation and how the audit scope will be 
planned. Risk assessment and respective 

priorities are detailed at the time of the review 
as risk environment is changeable.

LGAN Does the risk-based plan differentiate between audit and 
other types of work? 

x    Yes clearly stated.

LGAN Is the risk-based plan sufficiently flexible to reflect changing 
risks and priorities of the organisation? 

x    Flexible high level resource plan to allow 
delivery to be flexible and to allow scope to be 
defined at the time of engagement rather than 

months in advance.

P
age 68



 

 21 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Does the CAE review the plan on a regular basis and has 

he or she adjusted the plan when necessary in response to 
changes in the organisation’s business, risks, operations, 
programmes, systems and controls? 

x    6 monthly review of resources. See audit 
strategy for process.

 Is the internal audit activity’s plan of engagements based on 
a documented risk assessment? 

x   Planning process for each engagement 

 Is the risk assessment used to develop the plan of 
engagements undertaken at least annually? 

x    Annual plan see strategy for approach

 
 
 
 
LGAN In developing the risk-based plan, has the CAE also 

considered the following: 
 

a) Any declarations of interest (for the avoidance for 
conflicts of interest)? 
 

b) The requirement to use specialists, e.g. IT or 
contract and procurement auditors? 
 

c) Allowing Contingency time to undertake ad hoc 
reviews or fraud investigations as necessary? 
 

d) The time required to carry out the audit planning 
process effectively as well as regular reporting to 
and attendance of the board, the development of 
the annual report and the CAE opinion? 

 

X

X

X

x

  

considered

ICT tender exercise underway 

Included in audit plan

Included in audit plan

 Is the input of senior management and the board 
considered in the risk assessment process? 

X   Six monthly risk meetings with SMT 

 Does the CAE identify and consider the expectations of 
senior management, the board and other stakeholders for 
internal audit opinion and any other conclusions? 

x    Yes regular meetings with Head of Service, 
corporate Director and is now on SMT

P
age 69



 22 

 Does the CAE take into consideration any proposed 
consulting engagement’s potential to improve the 
management of risks, to add value and to improve the 
organisation’s operations before accepting them? 

X  Yes all consulting engagements informally 
agreed with ARA Manager prior to 

commencing.

 Are consulting engagements that have been accepted 
included in the risk-based plan? 

x  Projects / consulting engagement would be 
reported to committee as part of the quarterly 

performance report. 
 2020 Communication and Approval    
 Has the CAE communicated the internal audit activity’s 

plans and resource requirements to senior management 
and the board for review and approval? 

X   Yes the strategy and audit plan go to SMT for 
comment then on to audit committee for 

review annually 8/5/17. 
 Has the CAE communicated any significant interim changes 

to the plan and/or resource requirements to senior 
management and the board for review and approval, where 
such changes have arisen? 

x   Staffing updates every quarter to the board, 
new management arrangements agreed with 

CLT. 

 
 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 Has the CAE communicated the impact of any resource 

limitations to senior management and the board? 
X   Secondment opportunity advertised to support 

team deliver plan following new governance 
arrangements 

 2030 Resource Management    
 Does the risk-based plan explain how internal audit’s 

resource requirements have been assessed? 
x    Yes based on days available

LGAN Has the CAE planned the deployment of resources, 
especially the timing of engagements, in conjunction with 
management to minimise abortive work and time? 

x    6 monthly meetings with heads of service to 
discuss timing

LGAN If the CAE believes that the level of agreed resources will 
impact adversely on the provision of the internal audit 
opinion, has he or she brought these consequences to the 
attention of the board? 
This may include an Imbalance between the work plan and 
resource availability and/or significant matters that 
jeopardise the delivery of the plan or require it to be 
changed. 

x   On a cases by case basis – for example 
business continuity was planned for 16/17 but 

the whole system was under review and 
controls had not been embedded. The audit 

committee were informed and the review 
deferred to 17/18 to add maximum value.

 2040 Policies and Procedures     

P
age 70



 

 23 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Has the CAE developed and put into place policies and 

procedures to guide the internal audit activity? 
x    Procedure document and appendices

LGAN Has the CAE established policies and procedures to guide 
staff in performing their duties in a manner that conforms to 
the PSIAS? 
Examples include maintaining an audit manual and/or using 
electronic management systems. 

x    Procedure document and appendices

LGAN Are policies and procedures regularly reviewed and 
updated to reflect changes in the working practices and 
standards? 

x    Procedure document and appendices

 2050 Coordination    
 Does the risk-based plan include the approach to using 

other sources of assurance and any work that may be 
required to place reliance upon those sources? 

 x  Service level assurance mapping considered 
as part of risk based audit planning 

LGAN Has the CAE carried out an assurance mapping exercise as 
part of identifying and determining the approach to suing 
other sources of assurance? 

x  Organisation wide assurance mapping by 
service - evidence detailed to support Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) forms part of 
the assurance mapping information. Further 
work to be completed as part of the 2017/18 

Internal Audit Plan to support the update 
assurance maps for all services. 

 
 
 
 Does the CAE share information and coordinate activities 

with other internal and external providers of assurance and 
consulting services? 

x   Yes Grant Thornton. Also I have been 
contacted by Lake District National Park and 

Carlisle City Council for support with their 
processes. 

LGAN Does the CAE meet regularly with the nominated external 
audit representative to consult on and coordinate their 
respective audit plans? 

X   ARA Manager has requested more detail on 
external audit testing plans to ensure 

maximum value is added by all assurance 
providers 

 2060 Reporting to Senior Management and the Board    
 Does the CAE report periodically to senior management 

and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility and performance relative to its 
plan? 

X    Yes Charter and strategy document. We also 
have an abridged version to simply set out 

the process to help the organisation 
understand our role.

P
age 71



 24 

  Does the periodic reporting also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, 
governance issues and other matters needed or requested 
by senior management and the board? 

X   Quarterly report to committee circulated to all 
senior managers 2 weeks prior to publication 
for comment. Any high level risks escalated 

immediately to 151 and director. 
 Is the frequency and content of such reporting determined 

in discussion with senior management and the board and 
are they dependent on the importance of the information to 
be communicated and the urgency of the related actions to 
be taken by senior management or the board? 

x   Via mod.gov report review process of audit 
committee agenda 

 2070 External Service Provider and Organisational 
Responsibility for Internal Auditing 

    

 Where an external internal audit service provider acts as 
the internal audit activity, does that provider ensure that the 
organisation is aware that the responsibility for maintaining 
an effective internal audit activity remains with the 
organisation? 

   N/A 

 
4.2 2100 Nature of Work     
 Does the internal audit activity evaluate and contribute to 

the improvement of the organisation’s governance, risk 
management and internal control processes? 

x   Part of AGS governance group, defined in 
strategy document.

 Does the internal audit activity evaluate and contribute to 
the improvement of the above using a systematic and 
disciplined approach and is this evidenced? 

x   Procedures define how, working papers and 
system control evaluation to show activity. 

 
 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 2110 Governance     

P
age 72



 

 25 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Does the internal audit activity: 

 
a) Promote appropriate ethics and values within the 

organisation? 
 

b) Ensure effective organisational performance 
management and accountability? 
 

c) Communicate risk and control information to 
appropriate areas of the organisation? 
 

d) Coordinate the activities of and communicate 
information amount the board, external and internal 
auditors and management? 

 

X

X

X

x

  Yes as part of clear concise audit reporting 
both internally and externally. 

Through compliance with the Charter and 
though thorough knowledge of the principles 
of good governance. On-going stakeholder 

relationship management. Attendance to SMT 
and escalating non achievement of agreed 

actions to the CE.

 Does the internal audit activity assess and make 
appropriate recommendations for improving the governance 
process as part of accomplishing the above objectives? 

X   Yes see audit reports and volume of 
recommendations not accepted is very low. 

 Has the internal audit activity evaluated the: 
 

a) Design 
 

b) Implementation, and 
 

c) Effectiveness 
 

Of the organisation’s ethics-related objectives, programmes 
and activities? 

x 

 Planned review of Ethics and Culture as part 
of 2017/18 Assurance Risk and Audit Plan. 

Support the collation of evidence for the AGS 
2016/17. 

 Has the internal audit activity assessed whether the 
organisation’s information technology governance supports 
the organisation’s strategies and objectives? 

x   Recent review of ICT governance in 16/17 and 
recommendations raised.

LGAN Has the CAE considered the proportionality of the amount 
of work required to assess the ethics and information 
technology governance of the organisation when 
developing the risk-based plan? 

x   Although it is clear further work will be 
required to support the implementation of 

GDPR. 

 
 

P
age 73



 26 

 2120 Risk Management     
 Has the internal audit activity evaluated the effectiveness of 

the organisations risk management processes by 
determining that: 
 

a) Organisational objectives support and align with the 
organisation’s mission? 
 

b) Significant risks are identified and assessed 
 

c) Appropriate risk responses are selected that align 
risks with the organisation’s risk appetite? 
 

d) Relevant risk information is captured and 
communicated in a timely manner across the 
organisation, thus enabling the staff, management 
and the board to carry out their responsibilities? 
 

X

X

X

x 
 
 
 

  Full review completed annually most recent 
for 2016/17 emailed. 

 Has the internal audit activity evaluated the risks relating to 
the organisation’s governance, operations and information 
systems regarding the: 
 

a) Achievement of the organisation’s strategic 
objectives? 
 

b) Reliability and integrity of financial and operational 
information? 
 

c) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations and 
programmes? 
 

d) Safeguarding of assets? 
 

e) Compliance with laws, regulations, policies, 
procedures and contracts? 

 

X

X

X

X

x

  

Fundamental elements of the control 
environment considered as part of testing and 

communicated in control section on audit 
reports.  

P
age 74



 

 27 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Has the internal audit activity evaluated the potential for 

fraud and also how the organisation itself manages fraud 
risk? 

x  Fraud risk assessment has been completed 
and the outcomes and action plan will be 
reported to the Audit Committee as part of the 
next quarterly report. Working group to deliver 
outcomes.  

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 Do internal auditors address risk during consulting 

engagements consistently with the objectives of the 
engagement? 

x   Defined in the Charter and managed 
informally within the small team all 

engagements are discussed and scope 
agreed. 

 Are internal auditors alert to other significant risks when 
undertaking consulting engagements? 

x    

 Do internal auditors successfully avoid managing risks 
themselves, which would in effect lead to taking on 
management responsibility, when assisting management in 
establishing or improving risks management processes? 

x    

 2130 Control     
 Has the internal audit activity evaluated the adequacy and 

effectiveness of controls in the organisation’s governance 
operations and information systems regarding the: 
 

a) Achievement of the organisation’s strategic 
objectives? 
 

b) Reliability and integrity of financial and operational 
information? 
 

c) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations and 
programmes? 
 

d) Safeguarding of assets? 
 

e) Compliance with laws, regulations, policies, 
procedures and contracts? 

  

X

X

X

X

x

  Full assurance can never be provided 
however for the areas reviewed these 

elements have been evaluated on a risk 
based approach. This is defined in the 

Charter with which all staff comply.

Yes and the results are defined in the audit 
reports resulting. 

P
age 75



 28 

 Do internal auditors utilise knowledge of controls gained 
during consulting engagements when evaluating the 
organisation’s control processes? 

x   Insight is regularly shared via team meetings 
and informally in the office 

 
4.3 2200 Engagement Planning     
 Do internal auditors develop and document a plan for each 

engagement? 
x    Yes planning document and sce as detailed 

in procedure

 Does the engagement plan include the engagement’s: 
 

a) Objectives? 
 

b) Scope? 
 

c) Timing? 
 

d) Resource allocations? 
 

X

X
X

x

  Audit Brief 

P
age 76



 

 29 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Do internal auditors consider the following in planning an 

engagement and is this documented: 
 

a) The objectives of the activity being reviewed? 
 

b) The means by which the activity controls its 
performance? 
 

c) The significant risks to the activity being audited? 
 

d) The activity’s resources? 
 

e) The activity’s operations? 
 

f) The means by which the potential impact of risk is 
kept to an acceptable level? 
 

g) The adequacy and effectiveness of the activity’s 
governance, risk management and control 
processes compared to a relevant framework or 
model? 
 

h) The opportunities for making significant 
improvements to the activity’s governance, risk 
management and control processes? 

 

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

x

  As defined in the audit strategy document 
and the planning document used when 

planning the scope of the engagement. Can 
provide the HR review as a good example of 

the new process. 

P
age 77



 

 
 

 30 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Where an engagement plan has been drawn up for 

to a party outside of the organisation, have the 
internal auditors established a written understanding 
with the third party about the following:

 
 
 

  N/A 

 
a) Objectives? 

 
b) Scope? 

 
c) The respective responsibilities and other 

expectations of the internal auditors and 
third party (including restrictions on 
distribution of results of the engagement 
and access to engagement records)? 

  

 
 
 

 For consulting engagements, have internal auditors 
established an understanding with the engagement 
clients about the following:

t 
 
 

  For larger advice cases the advice pro forma is 
used and agreed with the client. Where the role 

is to support project this forms part of the 
project terms of reference. 

 
a) Objectives? 

 
b) Scope? 

 
c) The respective responsibilities of the 

internal auditors and the client and other 
client expectations? 

X

X

X
 For significant consulting engagements, has this 

understanding been documented? 
X   For larger advice cases the advice pro forma is 

used and agreed with the client 
 2210 Engagement Objectives     

P
age 78



 

 
 

 31 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Have objectives been agreed for each engagement? X  Completed as part of the planning process 

following the pre audit discussion and research 
– audit strategy defines the process. 

Have internal auditors carried out a preliminary risk 
assessment of the activity under review? 

 X  Based on corporate and service risks 

Do the engagement objectives reflect the results of 
the preliminary risk assessment that has been 
carried out?

x See planning document

 
 Have internal auditors considered the probability of the 

following, when developing the engagement objectives: 
 

a) Significant errors? 
 

b) Fraud? 
 

c) Non-compliance? 
 

d) Any other risks? 
 

X

X

X
x

   Yes as expected as part of audit profession, 
the three lines of defence model and as 
defined in the standards.

 Have internal auditors ascertained whether management 
and / or the board have established adequate criteria to 
evaluate and determine whether objectives and goals 
have been accomplished? 

x    Performance report and KPI document

 If the criteria have been deemed adequate, have the 
internal auditors used the criteria in their evaluation of 
governance, risk management and controls? 

X   Review of performance management 2016/17 
emailed

 If the criteria have been deemed inadequate, have the 
internal auditors worked with management and/or the 
board to develop appropriate evaluation criteria? 

X   Work regularly with policy ream to promote links 
between effective risk management and 

performance 
LGAN If the value for money criteria has been referred to, has the 

use of all the organisation’s main types of resources been 
  x  VFM audit 16/17 

P
age 79



 

 32 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
considered, including money, people and assets? 

 Do the objectives set for consulting engagements 
address governance, risk management and control 
processes as agreed with the client? 

 X    Yes always considered as part of good 
governance. Risks defined in advice template.

 Are the objectives set for consulting engagements 
consistent with the organisation’s own values, strategies 
and objectives? 

x   Broadly but also considering if IA can add value 
and improve. 

 2220 Engagement Scope    

 Is the scope that is established for the engagement 
sufficient to satisfy the engagement’s objectives? 

x    Yes directly linked to council plan objectives 
based on the new strategy for 2017/18

 
 
 Does the engagement scope include consideration of the 

following relevant areas of the organisation: 
 

a) Systems? 
 

b) Records? 
 

c) Personnel? 
 

d) Premises? 
 

 
 

X

X

X

x
 

  A good example is the recent car parking 
audit. See procedures also.

 Does the engagement scope include consideration of the 
following relevant areas under the control of outside parties, 
where appropriate: 
 

a) Systems? 
 

b) Records? 
 

c) Personnel? 
 

d) Premises? 
 

X

X

X

x

   Consideration of the management of external 
contracts, contracts monitoring review 

completed 2016/17 – will email this

P
age 80



 

 
 

 33 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Where significant consulting opportunities have arisen 

during an assurance engagement, was a specific written 
understanding as to when the objectives, scope, respective 
responsibilities and other expectations drawn up? 

  None arisen 

 Where significant consulting opportunities have arisen 
during an assurance engagement, were the results of the 
subsequent engagement communicated in accordance with 
the relevant consulting standards? 

  None arisen 

 For a consulting engagement, was the scope of the 
engagement sufficient to address any agreed upon 
objectives? 

      x   As detailed above only for significant advice 
and consulting engagements 

 
 
 
 

 If the internal auditors developed any reservations about 
the scope of a consulting engagement while undertaking 
the engagement, did they discuss those reservations with 
the client and therefore determine whether or not to 
continue with the engagement? 

x   Most appropriate scope agreed with client 
based on the objective of the assignment – 

Maryport facelift scheme example

 During consulting engagements, did internal auditors 
address the controls that are considered with the objectives 
of those engagements? 

X   Example see Maryport facelift scheme as an 
example. Charter defines consultancy work. 

 During consulting engagements, were internal auditors alert 
to any significant control issues? 

X    

 2230 Engagement Resource Allocation     

P
age 81



 

 34 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Have internal auditors decided upon the appropriate and 

sufficient level of resources required to achieve the 
objectives of the engagement based on: 
 

a) The nature and complexity of each individual 
engagement? 
 

b) Any time constraints? 
 

c) The resources available? 

 
 
 
 

X

X

x
 
 
 

 
 

 

   Approach is defined in the audit strategy for 
2017/18 this approach is used to allocate 

days based on business objectives, risks and 
budget.

 2240 Engagement Work Programme     
 Have internal auditors developed and documented work 

programmes that achieve the engagement objectives? 
x   procedures 

 Do the engagement work programmes include the following 
procedures for: 
 

a) Identifying information? 
 

b) Analysing information? 
 

c) Evaluating information? 
 

d) Documenting information? 

 

X

X

X

x
 
 

  System control evaluations 

 Were work programmes approved prior to implementation 
for each engagement? 

x    With ARA Manager – group planning may 
also take place for some reviews to use all 

team members insight.
 Were any adjustments required to work programmes 

approved promptly? 
x   Yes small team, we discuss weekly. 

P
age 82



 

 35 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
4.4 2300 Performing the Engagement     
 Have internal auditors carried out the following in order to 

achieve each engagement’s objectives: 
 

a) Identify sufficient information? 
 

b) Analyse sufficient information? 
 

c) Evaluate sufficient information? 
 

d) Document sufficient information? 
 

X

X

X

x

   See audit procedures and working papers 
which is also supported by the review 

process which is documented.

 2310 Identifying information     
 Have internal auditors identified the following in order to 

achieve each engagement’s objectives: 
 

a) Sufficient information? 
 

b) Reliable information? 
 

c) Relevant information? 
 

d) Useful information? 
 

X

X

X

X

   Detailed in planning process based on audit 
strategy and professional standards. 
Information stored electronically and 

hyperlinked to east test/control objective.

2320 Analysis and Evaluation    
 Have internal auditors based their conclusions and 

engagement results on appropriate analyses and 
evaluations? 

x   See sce, working files, review process and 
procedure 

P
age 83



 36 

LGAN Have internal auditors remained alert to the possibility of 
the following: 
 

a) Intentional wrongdoing 
 

b) Errors and omissions 
 

c) Poor value for money 
 

 

X

X

x
 
 
 

  Control environment considerations including 
efficiency and effectiveness always 

considered. Professional competency 
increases awareness of this. See working 

papers and tests on working files.

 
  

d) Failure to comply with management policy, and 
 

e) Conflicts of interest 
 

When performing the individual audits, and has this been 
documented? 

X

x

   

 2330 Documenting Information    
 Have internal auditors documented the relevant information 

required to support engagement conclusions and results? 
x    Yes and documentation is reviewed by ARA 

manager.
LGAN Are working papers sufficiently complete and detailed to 

enable another experienced internal auditor with no 
previous connection with the audit to ascertain what work 
was performed, to re-perform it if necessary and to support 
the conclusions reached? 

x   All engagements reviewed by ARA manager 

 Does the CAE control access to engagement records? x   Yes on the shared drive only ARA team 
members have access. 

 Has the CAE obtained the approval of senior management 
and/or legal counsel as appropriate before releasing such 
records to external parties? 

  Not arisen but would follow this process. 

 Has the CAE developed and implemented retention 
requirements for all types of engagement records? 

x   In line with corporate retention policy 

 Are the retention requirements for engagement records 
consistent with the organisation’s own guidelines as well as 
any relevant regulatory or other requirements? 

x   Defined in the procedures and comply with the 
organisational retention policy 

 2340 Engagement Supervision     

P
age 84



 

 37 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 Are all engagements properly supervised to ensure that 

objectives are achieved, quality is assured and that staff are 
developed? 

     x   Yes every review is reviewed by the ARA 
Manager, her reviews by another senior team 

member. 
 Is appropriate evidence of supervision documented and 

retained for each engagement? 
      x   Electronic review document – signed off prior 

to report publication 
 
4.5 2400 Communicating Results     
 Do internal auditors communicate the results of 

engagements? 
x   Yes published on the internet 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 2410 Criteria for Communicating     
 Do the communications of engagement results include the 

following: 
 

a) The engagement’s objectives? 
 

b) The scope of the engagement? 
 

c) Applicable conclusions? 
 

d) Recommendations and action plans, if appropriate? 

X
X

X

x

   Defined in the procedures how all results are 
communicated.

LGAN Has the internal auditor discussed the contents of the draft 
report with the appropriate levels of management to confirm 
factual accuracy, seek comments and confirm the agreed 
management actions? 

x   Defined in procedures – exit meeting process 

LGAN If recommendations and an action plan have been included, 
are recommendations prioritised according to risk? 

x   Yes see the defined recommendations and 
agreed action in audit reports. Lower risk 

P
age 85



 38 

improvements noted as ‘areas for 
improvement’ 

LGAN If recommendations and an action plan have been included, 
does the communication also state agreements already 
reached with management together with appropriate 
timescales? 

X    See audit report action plan

LGAN If there are any areas of disagreement between the internal 
auditor and management, which cannot be resolved by 
discussion, are these recorded in the action plan and the 
residual risk highlighted? 

X    See audit report action plan

LGAN Do communications disclose all material facts known to 
them in their audit reports which, if not disclosed, could 
distort their reports or conceal unlawful practice, subject to 
confidentiality requirements? 

X    All communications disclosed – some may 
not be made public due to these factors for 

example car parking audit 2016/17

LGAN Do final communications of engagement results contain, 
where appropriate, the internal auditor’s opinions and/or 
conclusions, building up to the annual internal audit opinion 
on the control environment? 

X   See audit reports these all include footnote 
describing opinion and recommendation 

grading 

When an opinion or conclusion is issued, are the 
expectations of senior management the board and other 

x    See report circulation process as defined in 
the procedures

P
age 86



 39 

Stakeholders taken into account? 

 
 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 When an opinion or conclusion is issued, is it supported by 

sufficient, reliable, relevant and useful information? 
X   Yes detailed in the report, there have been 

ongoing improvements made to reporting to 
get the balance of sufficient information. The 

current style has been commended by 
management. 

 Where appropriate, do engagement communications 
acknowledge satisfactory performance of the activity in 
question? 

X   Yes balanced. 

 When engagement results have been released to parties 
outside of the organisation, does the communication 
include limitations on the distribution and use of the results? 

X   All results are published unless there are 
reasons for these to remain confidential. 

LGAN If the CAE has been required to provide assurance to other 
partnership organisations, has he or she also demonstrated 
that their fundamental responsibility is to the management 
of the organisation to which they are obliged to provide 
internal audit services? 

   Not at present

 2420 Quality of Communications     
 Are communications: 

 
a) Accurate? 

 
b) Objective? 

 
c) Clear? 

 
d) Concise? 

 
e) Constructive? 

 
f) Complete? 

 
g) Timely? 

 

X

X

X

X

X

X

x 

See the procedures and the review process, 
this is challenged as part of the review and will 

be further during the exit meeting.

P
age 87



 40 

 
Delays can occur in reporting due to service 
demands however high priority deadlines are 

met. This is improving but reliant on client 
participation also.

 2421 Errors and Omissions     
 If a final communication has contained a significant error or 

omission, did the CAE communicate the corrected 
information to all parties who received the original 
communication? 

 x   This would be applicable for any error

 
 
 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 2430 Use of ‘Conducted in Conformance with the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing’ 

    

 Do internal auditors report that engagements are 
‘conducted in conformance with the PSIAS’ only if the 
results of the QAIP support such a statement? 

x   As included in the Year-end report

 2431 Engagement Disclosure of Non-conformance     
 Where any non-conformance with the PSIAS has impacted 

on a specific engagement, do the communication of the 
results disclose the following: 
 

a) The principle or rule of conduct of the Code of 
Ethics or Standard(s) with which full conformance 
was not achieved? 
 

b) The reason(s) for non-conformance? 
 

c) The impact of non-conformance on the 
engagement and the engagement results? 

 

   This would be included where appropriate but 
has not occurred during my duration. 

 
 

 2440 Disseminating Results     

P
age 88



 41 

 Has the CAE determined the circulation of audit reports 
within the organisation, bearing in mind confidentiality and 
legislative requirements? 

x   We use mod.gov for report circulation and 
publish all reports publicly unless 

confidentiality and legislative requirements 
prevent this.

 Has the CAE communicated engagement results to all 
appropriate parties? 

X    See procedures and reporting to audit 
committee. Circulation of reports via the 

mod.gov system also for comment all 
comments read and actioned by ARA 

Manager
 Before releasing engagement results to parties outside the 

organisation, did the CAE: 
 

a) Assess the potential risk to the organisation? 
 

b) Consult with senior management and/or counsel as 
appropriate? 
 

c) Control dissemination by restricting the use of the 
results 

X

X
X

x

   Yes restricted where required – see car 
parking review 2016/17. ARA Manager will 

escalate high risk conclusions immediately to 
151, CE and Director.

 

 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 
 Where any significant governance, risk management and 

control issues were identified during consulting 
engagements, were these communicated to senior 
management and the board? 

x   ARA Manager will escalate high risk 
conclusions immediately to 151, CE and 

Director.

 2450 Overall Opinion     
 Has the CAE delivered an annual internal audit opinion? x   Year-end report published online see link 

above July 2017 
 Does the internal audit opinion conclude on the overall 

adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework 
of governance, risk management and control? 

x   Yes see above 

 Does the annual internal audit opinion take into account the 
expectations of senior management, the board and the 
other stakeholders? 

x   Yes but is defined ultimately by ARA 
Manager

P
age 89



 42 

 Is the annual internal audit opinion supported by sufficient, 
reliable, relevant and useful information? 

x    Yes supporting audit review documents as 
defined in the procedures and working 

papers
 Does the communication identify the following: 

 
a) The scope of the opinion, including the time period 

to which the opinion relates? 
 

b) Any scope limitations? 
 

c) The consideration of all related projects including 
the reliance on other assurance providers? 
 

d) The risk or control framework or other criteria used 
as a basis for the overall opinion? 

 

X

X

X

x

  Yes this is defined in the annual report 
summarising the opinions issued, 

recommendations and other performance of 
the service.

 Where a qualified or unfavourable annual internal audit 
opinion is given are the reasons for that opinion stated? 

  Would be if I had ever had to give one 

 Has the CAE delivered an annual report that can be used 
by the organisation to inform its governance statement? 

X    Yes the statement was included in the AGS 
published 25/8/17 audit committee see links 

above and emailed. 
 
 
 

Does the annual report incorporate the following: 
 

a) The annual internal audit opinion? 
 

X   Yes see note above

LGAN b) A summary of the work that supports the opinion? 
 

 x Yes see note above

 

Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 

P
age 90



 43 

 
LGAN 

 
c) A disclosure of any qualifications to the opinion? 

 
d) The reasons for any qualifications to the opinion? 

 
e) A disclosure of any impairments or restriction in 

scope? 
 

f) A comparison or work actually carried out with the 
work planned? 
 

g) A statement on the conformance with the PSIAS? 
 

h) The results of the QAIP? 
 

i) Progress against any improvement plans resulting 
from the QAIP? 
 

j) A summary of the performance of internal audit 
activity against its performance measures and 
targets? 
 

k) Any other issues that the CAE judges is relevant to 
the preparation of the governance statement? 

 

 

X

X

X

X

X

 x

  
If applicable

If applicable

If applicable

 This is detailed in the year-end report, see 
the July  2017 audit committee link above

 
4.6 2500 Monitoring Progress     
 Has the CAE established a process to monitor and follow 

up management actions to ensure that they have been 
effectively implemented or that senior management have 
accepted the risk of not taking the action? 

x   Senior management now access agreed 
action update log via SharePoint to increase 

ownership. Actions followed up as part of 
following on audit review. 

 Where issues have changed during the follow-up process, 
has the CAE considered revising the internal audit opinion? 

  If this was required but not to date. 

 Do the results of monitoring management actions inform the 
risk-based planning of future audit work? 

x   Included on sce. 

 
 

P
age 91



 44 

 
Ref Conformance with the Standard Y P N Evidence 
 

 Does the internal audit activity monitor the results of 
consulting engagements as agreed with the client? 

x   If part of the client agreement, but would be 
considered as part of the audit planning for 

future audits in that area on a risk based 
approach. Generally projects based so would 

form part of the performance management 
element.

 
4.7 2600 Communicating the Acceptance of Risks     
 If the CAE has concluded that management has accepted a 

level of risk that may be unacceptable to the organisation, 
has he or she discussed the matter with senior 
management? 

x   All recommendations not accepted and risks 
accepted are included in final report to 

management. 

 If, after discussions with senior management, the CAE 
continues to conclude that the level of risk may be 
unacceptable to the organisation, has he or she 
communicated the situation to the board? 

  Situation has not arisen, this would be only for 
high risks but these have always been 

accepted during my time here. 

 
 

P
age 92



 
 
Mrs Emma Thompson 
Allerdale Borough Council 
Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager 
 

Please ask for: Mrs J Billington 
Extension No. 7372 
Our Ref:  
  
  
5 December 2017 

 
 
Dear Emma 
 
 

Lancashire District Councils Chief Auditors Group - Outcome of Peer Review 
 
A meeting of the Peer Review Moderation Team was held on Thursday 19 October 
to consider recently completed reviews.  The team comprised the following members 
of the Chief Auditors Group: 
 

Mark Beard  Hyndburn BC 
Joanne Billington Wyre BC 
Ian Evenett  Burnley BC 
Dawn Highton Chorley and South Ribble BC 

 
I am writing to inform you that the Moderation Team concluded that the review of, 
and resulting report into, your Council’s conformance with the PSIAS was fair and 
consistent with the expected standards established for the peer review process. 
 
The Moderation Team has not made any recommendations regarding the outcome 
of your review or the Review Team’s resulting report. 
 
 
Yours Sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Joanne Billington 
Head of Governance 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 19 February 2018

Local Code of Corporate Governance

The Reason for the Decision To review the Local Code of Corporate 
Governance

Summary of options considered Review the content.

Recommendations The Local Code of Corporate Governance 
is reviewed and accepted subject to any 
additional information required.

Financial /  Resource Implications Includes the governance arrangements 
for Finance.

Legal / Governance Implications Prepared in accordance with the CIPFA 
Delivering Good Governance Framework

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Contributes to the Governance and Risk 
Management Framework

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

NA

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

All

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis
Email joan.ellis@allerdale.gov.uk

Lead Officer Brendan Carlin
Head of Governance
Email brendan.carlin@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 95

Agenda Item 7

mailto:joan.ellis@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:brendan.carlin@allerdale.gov.uk


Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership Y
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

Appendix 1 Local Code of Corporate Governance

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Allerdale Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and 
that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used 
economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council also has a duty under the 
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  

1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting 
in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the 
management of risk. This Code is a public statement that sets out the way the 
Council will meet that commitment. As such it represents a key component of 
the Council’s constitutional arrangements. The Code has been developed in 
light of CIPFA /SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
Framework 2016 Edition. 

2.0 The Local Code of Corporate Governance

2.1 The Delivering Good Governance Framework sets out the principles local 
authorities should demonstrate in all areas of their activity, these are:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law;  

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement;  

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits;  

Page 96



D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of 
the intended outcomes;  

E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership 
and the individuals within it;  

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management; and  

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to 
deliver effective accountability. 

2.2 The Code Of Corporate Governance detailed at Appendix 1 to this report 
sets out how Allerdale Borough Council demonstrate these principles during 
their day to day operations. Following the review by the Audit Committee the 
Chief Executive and Leader will approve this document as final.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 The Local Code of Corporate Governance is reviewed and accepted subject 
to any additional information required.

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 This contributes to the communication of and commitment to the governance 
framework at Allerdale Borough Council.

Brendan Carlin
Head of Governance

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



1

Allerdale Borough Council

Local Code of Corporate Governance 

1. Scope of Responsibility

Corporate Governance is a term used to describe how organisations direct and control what 
they do. As well as systems and processes this includes cultures and values. For local 
authorities this also includes how a council relates to the communities that it serves. Good 
Corporate Governance requires local authorities to carry out their functions in a way that 
demonstrates accountability, transparency, effectiveness, integrity, impartiality and 
inclusivity. Corporate Governance is also the structure through which strategic objectives 
are set and performance monitored.

Allerdale Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. 
The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements 
to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place 
proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its 
functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. This Code is a 
public statement that sets out the way the Council will meet that commitment. As such it 
represents a key component of the Council’s constitutional arrangements. The Code has 
been developed in light of CIPFA /SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework 2016 Edition.

2. The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance is based on seven core principles:- 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law; 
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement; 
C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits; 
D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of the intended 
outcomes; 
E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it; 
F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management; and 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective 
accountability.

2.2 The diagram below, taken from the International Framework: Good Governance in the 
Public Sector (CIPFA/IFAC, 2014) (the ‘International Framework’), illustrates the various 
principles of good governance in the public sector and how they relate to each other.

Page 99



2

2.3 The Local Code specifically identifies the actions and behaviours taken by the Council 
in relation to each of these core principles and associated sub principles. These are 
summarised below and this sets out the Local Corporate Governance Framework, the Audit 
Committee is responsible for approving this Code. This code is the signed by the Leader 
and Chief Executive at Allerdale Borough Council.

Page 100



3

How We Demonstrate Good Governance

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

A Behaving with 
integrity, 
demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values, 
and respecting 
the rule of law.

Behaving with 
Integrity

Demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values

Ensure that Members and Officers behave with integrity and lead a culture where acting in the 
public interest is visible and consistently demonstrated thereby protecting the reputation of the 
Council; 

Ensure that Members take the lead in establishing specific standard operating principles or 
values for the Council and its staff and that they are communicated and understood. These will 
build on the Seven Principles of Public Life (The Nolan Principles); 

Lead by example and use code of conduct, constitution and values as a framework for decision 
making and other actions; and 

Demonstrate, communicate and embed the standard operating principles or values through 
appropriate policies and processes which will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure they are 
operating effectively. 

Being committed to using the role of Overview and Scrutiny in the Council’s governance structure, 
to provide challenge to the Executive and Senior Management Team and to drive improvement. It 
is sometimes referred to as the “critical friend” of the Council and can hold a magnifying glass 
over any area which is causing concern or issues for local residents. It can be a powerful tool for 
empowering communities and enabling local people, through the elected members, to have a say 
in decisions which affect their day to day lives.
The key roles of Overview and Scrutiny include:

 Holding the Executive to account. 
 Monitoring and reviewing policies. 
 Reviewing Council services in order to obtain better outcomes for the community. 

P
age 101



4

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Respecting the 
rule of the Law

The Constitution defines statutory roles and responsibilities and the terms of reference for 
Committees. 

The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of 
CIPFA’s “Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government” as the Head 
of Financial Services (s151 Officer) is a key member of the Senior Management Team and has 
unfettered access to the Leader and Chief Executive.
The Monitoring Officer and has a duty to report to the Council and Executive in any case where 
they are of the opinion that any proposal, decision or omission will give rise to unlawfulness or if 
any decision or omission has given rise to or would constitute maladministration.
The Monitoring Officer provides a range of functions relating to the conduct of Members (for 
example maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests, Code of Conduct complaints etc.), 
advising the Audit Committee and providing commentary on every report to the Executive and 
Council. 

B Ensuring 
openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement.

Openness

Engaging 
comprehensivel
y with 
stakeholders

The Council operates a formal Corporate Complaints System in accordance with best practice, 
giving members of the public the means through which to complain about aspects of the Council’s 
services with which they are dissatisfied. The Council’s whistle blowing arrangements are publicly 
available to ensure there is a clear channel of confidential reporting for the public.
The Senior Management Team undertakes monthly reviews of the Corporate Complaints to 
ascertain areas which we can learn to do things better in the future. The Local Government 
Ombudsman provides an annual report detailing the number of complaints and enquiries they 
receive along with the outcome. 

The Council Plan is the key policy document for the Council, providing the framework for all 
Council activity. The Council Plan provides a clear message to the public and our partners about 
the priorities for the Council over a four years period, and where the Council will focus its 
resources and activity. Along with the Council’s vision  and priorities the Council Plan also details 
the key objectives to be delivered in support of the priority themes.

P
age 102

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/overview-and-scrutiny.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/overview-and-scrutiny.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-suggestions.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/whistleblowing-policy.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/downloads/Council_Plan_2015-19_summary_finalv1_A4.pdf
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/allerdales-vision.aspx


5

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Engaging 
stakeholders 
effectively, 
including 
individual 
citizens and 
service users

User satisfaction is measured through a variety of channels and media. The Council carries out a 
large scale perceptions survey every two years. The survey specifically asks residents how 
satisfied they are with a variety of Council services as well as how informed they feel about 
Council decision making and how far they feel the Council provides value for money.
The Council Plan is reviewed annually with members to ensure the vision and priority themes are 
still relevant and consistent with members’ aspirations.  Executive Portfolios are reviewed by the 
Leader of the Council and all portfolio holders have been assigned responsibility for specific 
objectives in the Council Plan 2015-19.  

C Defining 
outcomes in 
terms of 
sustainable 
economic, 
social, and 
environmental 
benefits.

Defining 
outcomes 

Sustainable 
economic, 
social and 
environmental 
benefits

The Council Plan 2015-19 is underpinned by a set of supporting strategies and a detailed 
Business Plan that sets out key activities and performance measures for each priority theme in 
the Council Plan. This Business Plan forms the basis of quarterly performance reports considered 
by the Senior Management Team, Executive and Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The decision making framework is outlined in the Constitution and supported by an information 
system. This system documents the decisions made and provides decision makers efficient and 
effective access to good quality information. Information provided to support decisions made, 
includes the economic, social and environmental benefits and how these contribute to strategic 
plans. 

D Determining 
the interventions 
necessary to 
optimize the 
achievement of 

Determining 
Interventions

Ensure decision makers receive objective and rigorous analysis of a variety of options indicating 
how intended outcomes would be achieved and including the risks associated with those options. 
Therefore ensuring best value is achieved however services are provided.

P
age 103

https://www.facebook.com/pages/Allerdale-Borough-Council/19233423780
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance/consultation.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance/council-plan/performance-of-the-council-pla.aspx


6

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours
the intended 
outcomes.

Planning 
Interventions

Optimising 
achievement of 
intended 
outcomes

Consider feedback from service users when making decisions about service improvement 
prioritise competing demands within limited resources available including people, skills, land 
and assets and bearing in mind future impacts. 

Employ a robust financial planning and review processes setting a balanced budget each 
financial year. This is agreed by Members and includes rigorous financial monitoring 
procedures and quarterly financial reporting to the Council’s Executive.
Ensure the annual budget is set within the context of the Council’s three year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. The Medium Term Financial Strategy provides the sustainable funding 
strategy within which the Council seeks to achieve the priorities set out in the Council plan and 
highlights the key financial risks facing the Council. 

Manage and monitor appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) as part of the planning 
process in order to identify how the performance of services and projects is to be measured. 

Ensure the medium term financial strategy integrates and balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource constraints; 

Ensure the budgeting process is all-inclusive, taking into account the full cost of operations 
over the short, medium and longer term.

Ensure the medium term financial strategy sets the context for ongoing decisions on 
significant delivery issues or responses to changes in the external environment that may arise 
during the budgetary period in order for outcomes to be achieved while optimising resource 
usage; and 

Ensure the achievement of ‘social value’ through service planning and commissioning is 
demonstrated. Communicate the social value achieved as a result of commissioning activities 
to demonstrate the benefits to local residents.

P
age 104



7

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

E Developing 
the Council’s 
capacity, 
including the 
capability of its 
leadership and 
the individuals 
within it.

Developing the 
Councils 
capacity.

Developing the 
capacity of 
Councils 
leadership and 
other individuals

The Council has adopted a suite of core and functional behaviours which all staff have collectively 
agreed is ‘what great looks like’ at Allerdale Borough Council. This behaviours framework is being 
used to develop the workforce, assist with communications by providing good well thought out 
feedback, enhance accountability and decision making and provides a clear definition of the 
standards of behaviour for staff. This is supported by the Council’s code of conduct and member 
induction programme. 

Develop protocols to ensure that elected and appointed leaders receive clarification 
regarding their respective roles early on in the relationship and that a shared understanding 
of roles and objectives is maintained.

Publish a statement that specifies the types of decisions that are delegated and those 
reserved for the collective decision making of the governing body. 

Ensure the Leader and the Chief Executive have clearly defined and distinctive leadership 
roles within a structure whereby the Chief Executive leads the Council in implementing 
strategy and managing the delivery of services and other outputs set by Members and each 
provides oversight for the other’s authority. 

Develop the capabilities of Members and senior management to achieve effective shared 
leadership and to enable the organisation to respond successfully to changing legal and policy 
demands as well as economic, political and environmental changes and risks by: 

 ensuring Members and staff have access to appropriate induction tailored to their role and 
that ongoing training and development matching individual and organisational 
requirements is available and encouraged; 

 ensuring Members and Officers have the appropriate skills, knowledge, resources and 
support to fulfil their roles and responsibilities and ensuring that they are able to update 
their knowledge on a continuing basis; and 

 ensuring personal, organisational and system-wide development through shared learning, 
including lessons learnt from governance weaknesses both internal and external. 

P
age 105

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/downloads/Employee_Code_of_Conduct.pdf
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-democracy-election/member-induction.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-democracy-election/member-induction.aspx


8

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Take steps to consider the leadership’s own effectiveness and ensure leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer review and inspections.

Ensure arrangements are in place to maintain the health and wellbeing of the workforce 
through the Employee Health and Wellbeing Group and support individuals in maintaining 
their own physical and mental wellbeing. 

F Managing 
risks and 
performance 
through robust 
internal control 
and strong 
public financial 
management.

Managing Risk

Managing 
performance

Robust Internal 
Control

To support the need for continuous improvement the Council agreed to develop an integrated 
assurance framework to contribute to the delivery of the objectives of the Council Plan. This is 
being embedded via regular facilitator led risk management sessions and improved service 
planning and risk management processes.

Manage the performance of services provided to customers and ensure this is monitored through 
a range of financial and non-financial performance measures which are reported within services 
and to the Senior Management Team, Executive and Scrutiny.

Maintain a Corporate risks and issues log that is discussed at the Senior Management Team 
meeting regularly and ensure risk owners are clear of their roles and responsibilities in the risk 
management framework. Communication of risk as part of the quarterly performance report 
ensures the Council’s Executive have an opportunity to consult and contribute

Align the Integrated Assurance strategy and policies on internal control to the achievement of 
objectives.

Evaluate and monitor the Council’s risk management and internal control arrangements on a 
regular basis.

Ensure effective counter fraud and anti-corruption arrangements are in place. 

P
age 106

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance/performance-reports.aspx


9

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Ensure additional assurance on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of 
governance, risk management and control is provided by Internal Audit. 

Establish an Audit Committee to oversee the workings of the corporate governance 
arrangements of the Council and to report to Council on these and related financial probity 
issues. The Audit Committee operates in accordance with CIPFA’s “Audit Committees – 
Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and provides a further source of effective assurance 
regarding arrangements for managing risk and maintaining an effective control environment and 
ensures agreed recommendations are implemented

G Implementing 
good practices 
in transparency, 
reporting, and 
audit to deliver 
effective 
accountability.

Implementing 
good practice in 
transparency

Implementing 
good practices 
in reporting

All formal meetings are held in public, and the reports and minutes of those meetings are 
published on the Council’s website, unless there are legal reasons for confidentiality. There are 
opportunities for members of the public to ask questions at meetings of the Council, Committees 
and Scrutiny Panels. Many channels of communication are used to ensure all stakeholders find 
information accessible.

Report to stakeholders quarterly on performance, value for money and the use of its resources 
in the delivery of priorities in a timely, clear and concise way. 

Ensure robust arrangements for assessing the extent to which the principles contained in this 
Framework have been applied and publish the results on this assessment including an action 
plan for improvement and evidence to demonstrate good governance (Annual Governance 
Statement).

Ensure the performance information that accompanies the financial statements is prepared on a 
consistent and timely basis and the statements allow for comparison with other similar 
organisations. 

P
age 107

http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1


10

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Assurance and 
effective 
accountability 

Provide an annual audit opinion the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisations framework 
for risk management, control and governance processes is provided to the Audit Committee 
based on the work undertaken by Internal Audit during the year. 
Ensure the Assurance Risk and Audit Manager reports to the Council’s Head of Governance and 
Monitoring Officer and has access to the Senior Management Team, Section 151 Officer and 
Chief Executive as required. 
Embed the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards into the Internal Audit Service operations 
and constantly review quality and strive for improvement.
Employs a Head of Financial Services who is designated as the responsible officer for the 
administration of the Council’s financial affairs under section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972; their responsibilities are defined in the constitution.

Signed

Leader of Allerdale Borough Council

Signed

Chief Executive of Allerdale Borough Council

P
age 108

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/internal-audit.aspx


Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee - 19 February 2018
Council – 7 March 2018

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 

2018/19

The Reason for the Decision Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 
2003, statutory guidance issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(formerly the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (CLG) and codes of practice issued by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) require the Council to prepare 
and approve, before the start of each financial year:

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) and Investment Strategy setting out 
its proposed treasury management activities 
for the year and policies for the prudent 
management of its investments

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) indicating how it is 
proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury 
indicators for the forthcoming and following 
years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its 
capital expenditure plans are affordable and 
that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

Summary of options considered N/A  

Recommendations It is recommended that Members approve: 
a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement & Investment Strategy for 2018/19 
(included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1) 

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 
(of Appendix 1). 

c) the prudential and treasury indicators - including 
the Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit set out 
in Section 5 (of Appendix 1).

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



Financial/Resource Implications None directly, however the Council provides for 
interest receivable and interest payable and MRP 
within its annual revenue budget.

Legal Implications Noted above

Community Safety Implications None directly

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria 
by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.  

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected None directly

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
Strategic Objectives

Effective treasury management and compliance with 
the Prudential Code will provide support towards the 
achievement of the Council’s business and service 
objectives.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon

Lead Officer Barry Lennox 
Financial Services Manager   
Ext: 2586 
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers   

Appendix 1: Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Policy Statement - 2018/19

Page 110



Appendix 2 Treasury Management Policy Statement 

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (formerly the Department of Communities and Local Government 
(CLG) and codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), require the Council to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year:

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of its investments

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how it is proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

1.2 This report, prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and codes of 
practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury management and capital 
finance, presents for approval by the Full Council, the Council’s proposed: 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2018/19 

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement for 2018/19
 Prudential and treasury indicators for 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

1.3 The Council’s proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 
2018/19 are set out in Appendix 1 to this report. 

1.4 The statutory framework for treasury management and capital finance within 
local authorities is laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and 
codes of practice. During 2017/18 the codes of practice issued by CIPFA and 
the statutory guidance issued by MHCLG have been reviewed and updated. 
This has resulted in the publication of revised editions of:  

 The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  
(‘the Prudential Code’) and 

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes - (‘the Treasury Management 
Code’) - issued by CIPFA 

 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government statutory 
guidance on: 

- Local Government Investments, and   

Page 111



- Minimum Revenue Provision. 

1.5 The changes incorporated into the revised editions of these documents reflect 
the significant changes that have occurred in the economic and regulatory 
landscape for public service delivery since they were last updated. This 
follows the sustained period of reduced public spending and the developing 
commercial agenda underpinned by the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 
and the general power of competence. 

1.6 Key changes to the statutory framework include:

 the introduction of more contextual reporting through the requirement to 
produce a capital strategy setting out the long-term context in which 
capital expenditure and investment decisions are made and providing a 
high level overview of :

- how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services and 
the delivery of service objectives

- how associated risk is managed, and 
- the implications for future financial sustainability

 removal of a number of previously mandated Prudential Indictors 
 an extension of MHCLG investment guidance to cover investments 

(both financial and non-financial) not held for treasury management 
purposes 

 new or clarified guidance on the impact of changing methods of 
calculating MRP, asset lives, the meaning of ‘charge to a revenue 
account’ and the treatment of investment properties and overpayments 
of MRP. 

1.7 The revised editions of the Prudential and Treasury Management Codes and 
statutory guidance on Local Government Investments, are effective for 
2018/19 and subsequent years. Full implementation in 2018/19 is however 
subject to the transitional arrangements set out in the statutory guidance and 
the recommendations issued by CIPFA’s Treasury and Capital Management 
Panel (in relation to the requirement to produce a capital strategy and 
changes to a number of treasury management indicators).

1.8 The updated MRP guidance is applicable from 1 April 2019, although early 
adoption is encouraged. This is with the exception of those changes relating 
to guidance on changing methods for calculating MRP, which apply from 1 
April 2018. 

1.9 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as “the management of 
the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”.

Page 112



1.10 Consistent with this definition, the Treasury Management and Investment 
strategies set out in Appendix 1 are focused on borrowing and investments in 
financial instruments forming part of the Council’s treasury management 
activity. Investments in financial and non-financial assets (for example 
investment property, loans supporting service outcomes and investments in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures) made for policy reasons, rather for treasury 
management purposes, are dealt with in the Council’s Capital Strategy.  

1.11 The revisions made to statutory framework for treasury management outlined 
above have been reflected in the content of the proposed TMSS, Investment 
Strategy and MRP policy for 2018/19. These revisions have not however 
required the Council to make any significant changes to the policies and 
strategies adopted in the previous financial year.

1.12 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including the report covering those matters listed in paragraph 1.2 
above - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by 
Full Council.

1.13 The following sections provide an overview and summary of the contents of 
the proposed TMSS, Investment Strategy and MRP policy statement included 
in Appendix 1 to this report.

2.0 Treasury Management Strategy Statement  

2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) sets out the Council’s 
proposed treasury management activities for the year - based on budget 
proposals, interest rate forecasts and economic outlook.  

2.2 The issues covered in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement include:
 the current treasury position 
 treasury indicators required by CIPFAs Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities and Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice and accompanying sector guidance  

 economic background and prospects for interest rates 
 borrowing strategy 
 policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 debt rescheduling 
 policy on the use of derivatives
 the process adopted for reviewing and addressing the training needs of 

officers and members in relation to treasury management
 use of treasury management consultants including services provided 

and procedures employed for monitoring the quality of those services.

2.3 The Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix 2) highlights 
the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk as being the prime 

Page 113



criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 
measured.  Risk management is therefore central to the Council’s adopted 
treasury management and investment strategies. The Council’s treasury 
activities expose it to a number of financial and operational risks including 
credit and counterparty risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. The TMSS 
explains the principal means through which these risks will be managed.

3.0 Investment Strategy

3.1 The Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19 - included in section 3 of 
Appendix 1- sets out the Council’s policies for the prudent financial 
management of its investments and for giving priority first to the security of 
those investments (i.e. protect the capital sum invested from loss) and 
secondly, to their liquidity (i.e. ensuring funds invested can be accessed to 
meet expenditure when needed). 

3.2 The contents of the Council’s Investment Strategy follow the 
recommendations set out in the MHCLG Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (third edition) issued in February 2018 and the reporting 
principles set out in CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code. It includes:

 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments 
may be placed, including the Council’s approach on the use of credit 
ratings and other sources of information to assess credit and 
counterparty risk  

 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 limits placed on the amount that may be invested with any single 

institution or group of institutions 
 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently 

committed
 reporting arrangements. 

4.0 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 2018/19

4.1 The MRP is an annual amount required to be set aside from the General Fund 
to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded by borrowing or through credit 
arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing arrangements (finance 
leases). The Council’s proposed MRP policy, setting out how it will discharge 
the duty under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) to make prudent MRP in the 
financial year, is set out in section 4 of Appendix 1.  It includes:

 a description of what MRP is intended to achieve

 commentary on the Council’s underlying duty to make prudent 
provision and ensure that debt is repaid over a period commensurate 
with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or - for 
borrowing supported by central government funding (Revenue Support 
Grant) - over the period implicit in the determination of that funding

Page 114



 consideration of the ‘options’ for calculating MRP outlined in the 
statutory guidance on MRP and the restrictions on their use

 the policy proposed for the forthcoming year. 

4.2 Having regard to the statutory guidance on MRP issued by CLG and the 
‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that guidance the Council will calculate 
MRP: 

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 April 
2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from borrowing 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 - based on 4% of Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of the preceding financial year (Option 2- CFR 
method)  

 for unsupported capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred 
after 1 April 2008 - by applying Option 3 - Asset Life Method, using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method 

 for credit arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases) by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability. 

5.0 Prudential & Treasury Indicators 

5.1 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires local 
authorities to self-regulate the affordability, prudence and sustainability of their 
capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits and 
by publishing actuals for a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them 
to ensure their treasury management practices are in accordance with good 
practice. 

5.2 The prudential and treasury indicators for the forthcoming and following years 
must be set before the beginning of the forthcoming year. They may be 
revised at any time, following due process, and must be reviewed, and revised 
if appropriate, for the current year when the prudential indicators are set for 
the following year.

5.3 The Council’s prudential and treasury indicators for 2018/19 and following 
years are set out in section 5 of Appendix 1. They include: 

 indicators required by the Prudential Code covering affordability, 
prudence, capital expenditure, external debt and treasury 
management. These include the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 
Authorised Limit for External Debt)

 indicators required by the sector guidance accompanying the Treasury 
Management Code and designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within defined limits.

Page 115



6.0 Recommendations 

6.1 It is recommended that Members approve: 
a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 

Investment Strategy for 2018/19 (included in sections 2 and 3 of 
Appendix 1) 

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 (of Appendix 1). 
c)  the prudential and treasury indicators - including the Council’s 

Authorised Borrowing Limit set out in Section 5 (of Appendix 1).

Page 116



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 1

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement & 

Investment Strategy

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy

2018/2019

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

Page 117



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 2

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Page 118



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 3

Contents    

1.  Introduction .........................................................................................................4
1.1   Background ...................................................................................................4
1.2   Reporting requirements .................................................................................4

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) .........................................6
2.1   Current treasury position ...............................................................................6
2.2   Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing & investing activity .........................6
2.3   Prospects for interest rates ...........................................................................7
2.4   Borrowing strategy ......................................................................................10
2.5   Policy on borrowing in advance of need .....................................................11
2.6   Debt rescheduling .......................................................................................12
2.7   Policy on the use of derivatives  ..................................................................12
2.8   Training .......................................................................................................13
2.9 Treasury management consultants ............................................................13

3.  Annual Investment Strategy .............................................................................14
3.1   Investment policy - objectives ......................................................................14
3.2   Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management) .......................................14
3.3   Approved investment counterparties ...........................................................15
3.4   Approved instruments ..................................................................................16
3.5   Limits on principal sums invested ................................................................17
3.6   Limits on investment maturities....................................................................17
3.7   Reporting arrangements  ............................................................................18

4.  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement ....................................19

5.  Prudential & treasury Indicators 2018/19 – 2020/21 .......................................23
5.1   Indicators required by the Prudential Code .................................................23
5.2   Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code..............................28

6.  Appendices ........................................................................................................30
A.   Interest Rate Forecasts 2018 - 2021 .............................................................31
B.   Economic Background ..................................................................................32
C.   Short & Long term credit ratings ...................................................................37

Page 119



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 4

1. Introduction 

1.1  Background

1.1.1 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as “the management of 
the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”. 

1.1.2 This definition expects a ‘best value’ approach in which authorities should 
seek to minimise the cost of borrowing (or maximise the returns from 
investment), subject to the over-riding management of risks, with risk 
limitation being more important than return (yield).

1.1.3 The statutory framework for treasury management and capital finance within 
local authorities is laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and 
codes of practice, the key elements of which are: 

 The Local Government Act 2003 - (‘the 2003 Act’)
 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)(England) 

Regulations 2003 (as amended) - (‘the 2003 Regulations’) 
 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) 

(formerly the Department for Communities & Local Government ) 
Guidance on Local Government Investments - third edition (February 
2018)

 MHCLG guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision - fourth edition 
(February 2018)

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities - 2017 
Edition - (‘the Prudential Code’)

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 Edition - (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’).

1.1.4 Consistent with the definition of treasury management  set out in paragraph 
1.1.1 the Treasury Management and Investment strategies contained in this 
document are focused on borrowing and investments in financial instruments 
forming part of the Council’s treasury management activity. Investments in 
financial and non-financial assets (for example investment property, loans 
supporting service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures) made for policy reasons, rather than for treasury management 
purposes, are dealt with in the Council’s Capital Strategy.  

1.2 Reporting requirements

1.2.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government and Codes of Practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury 

Page 120



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 5

management and capital finance, require local authorities to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year:

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of its investments

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how, in the forthcoming financial year, the duty to 
make prudent MRP will be discharged

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

1.2.2 The Treasury Management Code also requires authorities to ensure the Full 
Council receives: 

 a mid-year report providing: 
- an update on the economic environment  and interest rate 

forecasts underlying the adopted strategies 
- details of variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 

contained in the approved Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategies

- details of investing and borrowing activities undertaken
- confirmation of compliance with treasury and prudential indicators 

 after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the 
treasury management function, on the risk implications of decisions 
taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any 
circumstances of non-compliance with the Council’s treasury 
management policy statement.

1.2.3 This document - prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and 
codes of practice referred to above - sets out the Council’s: 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy for 2018-/19 

 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement for 2018/19
 Prudential and treasury indicators for the three year period 2018/19 to 

2020/21. 

1.2.4 The TMSS and Investment Strategy, MRP policy and the prudential and 
treasury indicators must be approved by Full Council prior to the 
commencement of the financial year to which they relate.

Page 121



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 6

1.2.5 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including this report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to 
their consideration by Full Council.

2. Treasury Management Strategy Statement

2.1 Current treasury position 

2.1.1 The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 December 2017 is summarised 
in table 1. Table 1 also shows a comparison of the Council’s actual external 
debt (borrowing) postion with its underlying capital borrowing need (the 
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing.

Table 1: Investment and borrowing
At 31 

Dec 2017 
£000

At 31 
Mar 2017 

£000

At 31 
Dec 2016 

£000

At 31 
Mar 2016 

£000
Investments
Specified Investments: 
Term, call & notice accounts 1,527 2,419 4,334 3,216
Money Market Funds 11,545 5,655 11,391 6,351
Non-specified investments:
Equities 11 11 11 11
Total investments 13,083 8,085 15,736 9,578
Borrowing 
PWLB 13,465 13,607 13,693 13,829
Other borrowing 85 85 94 94
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total (gross) debt 13,550 13,692 13,787 13,923
Capital Financing Requirement 18,245 18,674 18,375 17,449
(Under)/Over borrowing (4,695) (4,982) (4,588) (3,526)

2.2 Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing and lending activity

2.2.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires a local authority to create and keep 
under review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of 
loans and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The processes 
authorities must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for 
external debt’) are set out in the Prudential Code which authorities must 
‘have regard to’. An authority is free to vary its affordable borrowing limit - 
subject to approval by Full Council – provided there is good reason for doing 
so. However breach of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by the 
2003 Act and any borrowing above the affordable borrowing limit is ultra-
vires.

Page 122



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 7

2.2.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, the Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes and accompanying sector guidance, include a number of other key 
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include:

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year and 
reflecting the authority’s plans for capital expenditure, estimated capital 
financing requirement (CFR) and cash flow requirements for the year 
for all purposes

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for current and the following two financial years.

 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for over 365 
days

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of its borrowing.

2.2.3 Details of the Council’s prudential and treasury indicators are set out in 
section 5 of this report.

2.3  Prospects for interest rates 

2.3.1 The Council has appointed Link Asset Services (formerly operating as Capita 
Asset Services) as its treasury advisor.  Part of their service is to assist the 
Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  Link Asset Services undertook 
its latest review of interest rate forecasts in November 2017. These latest 
forecasts take into account the Bank of England quarterly Inflation Report for 
November 2017 and the decisions and forward guidance issued by Bank’s 
Monetary Policy Committee at its meeting on 2 November 2017. 

Table 2: Forecast interest rates 2018-2021
Quarter ending Bank Rate PWLB Borrowing Rates1 

% 5 year % 10 year % 25 year % 50 year %
6 Feb 2018 0.50 1.83 2.33 2.76 2.45
Mar 2018 0.50 1.60 2.20 2.90 2.60
Jun 2018 0.50 1.60 2.30 3.00 2.70
Sep 2018 0.50 1.70 2.40 3.00 2.80
Dec 2018 0.75 1.80 2.40 3.10 2.90
Mar 2019 0.75 1.80 2.50 3.10 2.90
Jun 2019 0.75 1.90 2.60 3.20 3.00
Sept 2019 0.75 1.90 2.60 3.20 3.00
Dec 2019 1.00 2.00 2.70 3.30 3.10
Mar 2020 1.00 2.10 2.70 3.40 3.20
Jun 2020 1.00 2.10 2.80 3.50 3.30
Sept 2020 1.25 2.20 2.90 3.50 3.30
Dec 2020 1.25 2.30 2.90 3.60 3.40
Mar 2021 1.25 2.30 3.00 3.60 3.40

1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates 
apply to authorities who have provided MHCLG with required information on their plans for long-term 
borrowing and associated capital spending.

Page 123



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 8

2.3.2 These forecasts are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate (standard new loan 
rate minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most authorities 
since 2012. It includes three further increase in the Bank Rate starting in 
quarter 4 (October to December) of 2018, together with a gradual increased 
in PWLB borrowing rates over the forecast period.

2.3.3 As expected, the Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 
delivered a 0.25% increase in the Bank Rate at its meeting on 2 November.  
This removed the emergency cut made in August 2016 after the EU 
referendum.  The MPC also gave forward guidance that they expected to 
increase the Bank Rate only twice more by 0.25% by 2020 to end at 1.00%.  
The Link Asset Services forecast above includes increases in the Bank Rate 
of 0.25% in November 2018, November 2019 and August 2020.

2.3.4 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts (and also MPC 
decisions), will, therefore, be liable to further amendment depending on how 
economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next 
year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a 
major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three-
year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political 
developments. 

2.3.5 The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is probably to the 
downside, particularly given with the current level of uncertainty over the final 
terms of Brexit. 

2.3.6 In line with the base rate forecasts, investment returns are likely to remain 
low during 2018/19 and beyond. As a consequence there will remain a cost of 
carry to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost – the difference 
between borrowing costs and investment returns.

2.3.7 Borrowing interest rates increased sharply following the result of the general 
election in June 2017. Further increases occurred after the September MPC 
meeting when financial markets reacted by accelerating their expectations for 
the timing of Bank Rate increases.  However, apart from these movements 
there has been little general trend in rates during the current financial year 
(2017/18). 

2.3.8 From time to time, gilt yields – and therefore PWLB rates - can be subject to 
exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis and 
emerging market developments. Such volatility could occur at any time 
during the forecast period.

2.3.9 The overall longer run trend, however, is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to 
rise, albeit gently.  It has long been expected that, at some point, there would 
be a more protracted move from bonds to equities after a historic long-term 
trend, over about the last 25 years, of falling bond yields.  The action of 
central banks since the financial crash of 2008, in implementing substantial 

Page 124



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 9

Quantitative Easing (QE), added further impetus to this downward trend in 
bond yields and rising bond prices.  

2.3.10 Quantitative Easing has also directly led to a rise in equity values as 
investors searched for higher returns and took on riskier assets.  The sharp 
rise in bond yields since the US Presidential election in November 2016 has 
called into question whether the previous trend may go into reverse, 
especially now the Federal Reserve has taken the lead in reversing monetary 
policy by starting, in October 2017, a policy of not fully reinvesting proceeds 
from bonds that it holds when they mature.  

2.3.11 Until 2015, monetary policy was focused on providing stimulus to economic 
growth but has since started to refocus on countering the threat of rising 
inflationary pressures as stronger economic growth becomes more firmly 
established. The Federal Reserve has started raising interest rates and this 
trend is expected to continue during 2018 and 2019.  These increases will 
make holding US bonds much less attractive and cause their prices to fall, 
and therefore bond yields to rise. 

2.3.12 Rising bond yields in the US are likely to exert some upward pressure on 
bond yields in the UK and other developed economies.  However, the degree 
of that upward pressure is likely to be dampened by how strong or weak the 
prospects for economic growth and rising inflation are in each country, and 
on the degree of progress towards the reversal of monetary policy away from 
quantitative easing and other credit stimulus measures.

2.3.13 In addition to the above uncertainties, downside risks to current forecasts for 
UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

 the pace of Bank of England monetary policy action over the next 
three years causing weaker UK economic growth and increases in 
inflation than currently anticipated 

 geopolitical risks in Asia (especially North Korea), Europe and the 
Middle East, leading to increasing safe haven flows 

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, 
due to its high level of government debt, low rate of economic growth 
and vulnerable banking system

 weak capitalisation of some European banks

 the result of the October 2017 Austrian general election – which has 
resulted in a strongly anti-immigrant coalition government . In 
addition, the Czech ANO party became the largest party in the 
October 2017 general election on a platform of being strongly against 
EU migrant quotas and refugee policies. Both developments could 
provide major impetus to other, particularly former Communist bloc 
countries, to coalesce to create a major block to progress on EU 
integration and centralisation of EU policy.  This, in turn, could spill 
over into impacting the Euro, EU financial policy and financial 
markets.

Page 125



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 10

 the absence of an effective government in Germany after the 
inconclusive result of the general election in October.  In addition, 
Italy is to hold a general election on 4 March and the anti EU populist 
Five Star party is currently in the lead in the polls, although it is 
unlikely to get a working majority on its own.  Both situations could 
pose major challenges to the overall leadership and direction of the 
EU as a whole and of the individual respective countries. Hungary 
will hold a general election in April 2018.

 rising protectionism under President Trump

 a sharp Chinese downturn and its impact on emerging market 
countries.

2.3.14 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates include: 

 the pace and strength of increases in the Bank Rate is too slow 
allowing inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in 
the Bank Rate faster than currently expected 

 UK inflation returning to sustained significantly higher levels causing 
an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields 

 the pace and strength of increases in the Federal Reserve Funds 
Rate and reversal of Quantitative Easing, causing a fundamental 
reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as 
opposed to equities, leading to a major flight from bonds to equities 
and a sharp increase in bond yields in the US, which could then spill 
over into impacting bond yields around the world.

2.3.15 A more detailed commentary on the economic background underpinning current 
interest rate forecasts is included in Appendix B.

2.4 Borrowing strategy 

2.4.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position (see table 
1).  This means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement - CFR), has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves and favourable in-year cash flow the 
Council has been able to avoid the need to borrow up to the level of the CFR. 

2.4.2 This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce 
treasury risk by reducing its external investment balances. This strategy is 
prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue 
that needs to be considered. The Council will continue with this policy during 
2018/19 to the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of its interest rate exposures.

2.4.3 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2018/19 treasury operations.  Treasury staff will 

Page 126



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 11

monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances:

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short-term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation), then long-term borrowing will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into 
short term borrowing will be considered.

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short-term rates than that currently forecast, (e.g. due an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, 
a greater than expected increase in global economic activity or a 
sudden increase in inflation risks), then the portfolio position will be re-
appraised with the likely action being that fixed rate funding will be 
drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than they will be in the next 
few years.

2.4.4 Any decisions taken in this regard will be reported to members at the next 
available opportunity.

2.4.5 The Council manages interest rate exposures through the prudent use of its 
approved instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability 
and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a 
sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. 

2.4.6 Interest rate cash flow risk (the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest 
rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s 
finances) associated with the Councils long term borrowing will be managed 
principally by borrowing at fixed rates.

2.5 Policy on borrowing in advance of need 

2.5.1 The Local Government Act 2003 allows local authorities to borrow or invest 
for ‘‘any purpose relevant to its functions, under any enactment’’, or “for the 
purpose of the prudent management of its financial affairs”. This allows the 
temporary investment of funds borrowed for the purposes of expenditure in 
the near future.

2.5.2 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of its needs purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 
to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds. 

2.5.3 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual 
reporting mechanism. 

Page 127



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 12

2.6 Debt rescheduling 

2.6.1 Debt rescheduling includes the premature repayment of loans and the 
replacement of existing loans with new loans on different terms (repayment 
method, loan period, interest rate). The reasons for rescheduling include: 

 aligning long-term cash flow projections and debt levels in order to 
redistribute the burden of debt financing costs between years of account 

 generating savings in risk adjusted interest costs

 rebalancing the interest rate structure of the debt portfolio to reduce 
exposures to interest rate risk  

 changing the size and/or maturity profile of the debt portfolio to reduce 
refinancing risk exposures and/or align the debt maturity profile with the 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital financing 
requirement).  

2.6.2 As short-term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term 
fixed interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings 
by switching from long-term debt to short-term debt.  However, these savings 
will need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the 
size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred). 

2.6.3 Consideration will also be given to identifying if there is any residual potential 
for making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt 
prematurely as short-term rates on investments are likely to be lower than 
rates paid on current debt.  

2.6.4 The economic environment and consequent structure of interest rates has 
limited the rescheduling opportunities during recent years. Whilst this 
situation is likely to remain during 2018/19 the Council will continue to 
monitor interest rate structures for opportunities to reschedule debt in order 
to generate savings and/or rebalance risks within the loan portfolio. All 
rescheduling will be reported to the Audit Committee and Full Council at the 
earliest meeting following its action.

2.7 Policy on the use of derivatives 

2.7.1 The Council will only use derivatives for the management of risk and for the 
prudent management of its financial affairs. Transactions involving 
standalone derivative products such as forward rate agreements, interest 
rate swaps and options (interest rate caps, floors and collars) require 
authorisation by the Head of Financial Services and will only be entered into: 

 after seeking proper advice to ensure the product is fully understood 
including how underlying risks are affected and the additional risks that 
may result from its use (for example credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties)

 after seeking confirmation that the Council has legal power to enter into 
the transaction

Page 128



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 13

 where use of the product can be shown to reduce the overall level of 
financial risks the Council is exposed to (after taking into consideration 
additional risks that may result from use of the derivative instrument)

 after ensuring treasury staff have received training to ensure competent 
use of the product.

2.7.2 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria outlined in section 3 below. The 
current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty limits set out in paragraph 3.5.1.

2.8 Training 

2.8.1 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral 
Guidance Notes require the responsible officer (the Head of Financial 
Services) to ensure that: 

 all staff involved in the treasury management function (including 
statutory officers) are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them

 members tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including 
those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their 
needs and responsibilities.

2.8.2 In complying with these requirements the Council regularly reviews the 
training needs of officers and members and training will be arranged as 
required to ensure that officers and members have the requisite skills and 
knowledge. 

2.9 Treasury management advisors  

2.9.1 The Council currently uses Link Asset Services as its external treasury 
management advisors. They provide a range of services to the Council 
including:

 technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues

 economic and interest rate analysis

 debt services including advice on the timing of borrowing

 debt rescheduling advice 

 generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments

 credit ratings and creditworthiness information. 

2.9.2 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers.  It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 

Page 129



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 14

the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value is assessed 
are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

2.9.3 In 2017 Link Asset Services were re-appointed for an initial period of three 
years (2017-2020) following a competitive tendering exercise. The Council 
retains the option to extend this contract for a further year.

3. Annual Investment Strategy

3.1 Investment policy - objectives 

3.1.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on 
Local Government Investments (‘MHCLG Investment Guidance’) (third 
edition) and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 Edition (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’).

3.1.2 Accordingly, the Council’s primary policy objectives in relation to its treasury 
investment activity are to ensure: 

 first, the security of principal sums invested (i.e. to protect the capital 
sum invested from loss) 

 second, that appropriate levels of liquidity are maintained – (i.e. 
ensuring funds invested are available to meet expenditure when 
needed). 

3.1.3 The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments (yield) 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity. However, yield 
will only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or more 
investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives.

3.2 Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management)

3.2.1 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on: 

 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty (section 3.3)

 the types of investment instruments that may be used (section 3.4)

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on 
the Council’s list of approved counterparties  (section 3.5)

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 
financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty (section 3.6).

Page 130



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 15

3.3 Approved investment counterparties 

3.3.1 Counterparties with whom investments may be placed are restricted to 
financial institutions and other bodies of high credit quality. High credit quality 
financial institutions and other bodies are defined by the Council as those 
with a minimum long-term rating across all three of the main credit ratings 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or 
equivalent for non-UK sovereigns).

3.3.2 The minimum rating criteria applied by the Council uses the lowest common 
denominator method of selecting counterparties and applying limits.  This 
means the Council’s minimum criteria will apply to the lowest available rating 
for any institution.  For example, if an institution is rated by two agencies, one 
rating meets the Council’s criteria, the other does not, the institution will fall 
outside the lending criteria and will be excluded from the list of approved 
counterparties.  

3.3.3 Whilst credit ratings remain a key source of information they are not the sole 
determinant of the Council’s assessment of the credit quality of potential 
counterparties. Before making investment decisions reference will also be 
made to:

 ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating 
over the medium term) 

 credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or 
upgrading of the credit rating could be imminent) 

 sovereign ratings and support mechanisms

 credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market 
sentiment regarding the credit risk associated with a particular 
institution and an early warning of potential creditworthiness 
problems which may only belatedly lead to actual changes in credit 
ratings).

3.3.4 This information is fully integrated into the creditworthiness methodology 
used by the Council’s treasury advisors,Link Asset Services to produce its 
colour coded ratings assessment to indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
potential counterparties. Information provided by this ratings assessment is 
used by the Council to determine the maximum duration of individual 
investment instruments (see section 3.6).

3.3.5 Other information sources used to assess the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties include the financial press, share price and other 
information pertaining to the banking sector and the economic and political 
environments in which these institutions operate. Regardless of the credit 
rating assigned to an institution if this additional information casts doubt over 
its financial standing then that institution will be removed immediately from 
the Council’s counterparty lending list.

3.3.6 Credit ratings and creditworthiness information is supplied to the Council by 
Link Asset Services and monitored weekly. The Council is also alerted by 

Page 131



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 16

email when there is an amendment by any of the agencies to the credit rating 
of an institution.  If as a result of downgrade, a counterparty no longer meets 
the Council’s minimum credit ratings criteria, it will be removed immediately 
from the Council’s counterparty (dealing) list.  Notification of rating changes, 
rating watches and rating outlooks is provided to officers almost immediately 
after they occur and this information is considered before dealing.  For 
instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty, currently at the 
minimum Council criteria, will result in the counterparty being suspended 
from use, with all others being reviewed in light of market conditions. Link 
Asset Services also provide the Council with information relating to 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and 
other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result 
in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list.

3.4 Approved instruments

3.4.1 The types of investment instruments that may be used by the Council - 
subject to the counterparty and maturity limits set out in sections 3.5 and 
3.6 - are shown in table 3. Permitted instruments are categorised as 
either “Specified” or “Non-Specified” investments - as defined in MHCLGs 
Investment Guidance - to distinguish those (specified) investment 
instruments offering relatively high security and high liquidity from those 
with higher credit risk (non-specified investments). All investments will be 
in sterling.

Table 3: Permitted investment instruments - specified & non-specified 

Investment Specified Non-
Specified

Term deposits, call and notice accounts with banks & 
building societies  

Term deposits with UK local authorities  

Certificates of deposit with banks & building societies  

Gilts issued by the UK Debt Management Office (DMO)  

Treasury Bills (T-bills) issued by the UK DMO 

Bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks  

Local Authority Bills  

Commercial Paper  

Corporate Bonds  

AAA rated Money Market Funds (with 60-day Weighted 
Average Maturity (WAM))[CNNAV, VNAV, LVNAV]  

Other Money Market & Collective Investment Schemes  

Debt Management Account Deposit Facility  

Equity investments 

Page 132



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 17

3.4.2 A specified (treasury management) investment - offering high security and 
high liquidity - is defined as an investment that is: 

(a) denominated in sterling with any payments or repayments 
payable only in sterling

(b) not a long-term investment (i.e. the authority has a contractual 
right to repayment within 12 months of acquisition) 

(c) not defined as capital expenditure under regulations (e.g. 
acquisition of share capital) 

(d) made with a body or in an investment scheme of high credit 
quality (as defined by the Council in paragraph 3.3.1) or with the 
UK Government, a local authority or a parish council or 
community council. 

3.4.3 Non-specified investments refer to any (treasury management) 
investments not meeting the definition of ‘specified investments’. The 
Council currently holds a limited quantity of non-specified investments 
(unquoted equity shares). These account for less than 1% of the 
Council’s investment portfolio. No additional non-specified investments 
are planned during 2018/19 and all new investments made in 2018/19 will 
be subject to a maximum maturity of 365 days. 

3.4.4 Non-specified investments will only be made with prior approval by the 
Head of Financial Services and will only be undertaken: 

 following external credit assessment and due diligence to assess 
the financial strength and creditworthiness of the counterparty, and 

 after taking such professional advice as is considered necessary 
to inform the decision to invest.

3.4.5 In the event that the credit rating of the Council’s banker falls below the 
minimum credit criteria referred to above, the Council will continue to use 
the bank for transactional purposes but will seek to minimise balances as 
far as is possible.

3.5 Limits on principal sums invested 

3.5.1 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management 
Office (DMO) the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or 
group of institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4 million.  
For funds placed with the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility the limit is £12m 
(subject to maximum maturity of 3 weeks for all sums in excess of £4m).

 3.6 Limits on investment maturities  

3.6.1 To ensure that access to cash to meet forecast liquidity is not impaired, 
decisions regarding the maturity of investments instruments must be taken 
having regard to cash flow requirements.  The maturity of investment 
instruments is also subject to the maximum maturity periods set out below 
(table 4). These are established to ensure that access to cash is not unduly 

Page 133



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 18

restricted and to reduce the risk of being locked into an investment whilst the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty is deteriorating.

3.6.2 The maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed by the 
Council is determined using the Creditworthiness service provided by Link 
Asset Services. This combines credit ratings information provided by the 
three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s - 
with ratings outlooks and credit watches in a weighted scoring system. This is 
combined with an overlay of credit default swap (CDS) spreads to produce a 
colour rating to indicate the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty. 
These colour codes are used to determine the maximum duration for 
investments made with individual counterparties.

3.6.3 In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep 
investment terms short to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value 
available in periods of up to 12 months with high credit quality institutions 
using Link’s creditworthiness approach. Using this approach the Council will 
use the following duration bands - shown in table 4 - subject to a maximum 
maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition).

Table 4: Upper limits on investment maturities 

 Colour rating Maximum duration (term to maturity)

Yellow 5 years- restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3)
Purple 2 years - restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3)
Orange 12 months
Red 6 months
Green 100 days
No colour 0 months (counterparty not to be used)

3.7  Reporting arrangements  

3.7.1 The Treasury Management and Prudential Codes require the Council to 
report regularly on its treasury management activities including its 
performance against all forward-looking prudential and treasury management 
indicators set out in section 5 below. In meeting the recommended reporting 
requirements of the Treasury Management Code (outlined in section 1.2 
above) the Head of Financial Services will, in addition to this report, submit to 
the Audit Committee and Full Council: 

 a mid-year review of the Council’s treasury management activities 
covering the six months to 30 September 2018, and 

 an annual treasury report after the year-end. 

The annual report will be submitted as soon as reasonably practicable after 
the end of the financial year, but in any case no later than 30 September 
2019.

Page 134



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 19

3.7.2 A summary of treasury management activities will also be included in the 
quarterly finance reports submitted to the Council’s Executive.

4.  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement

4.1 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) requires local 
authorities to ‘charge to a revenue account a minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) for that year’. The minimum revenue provision is an annual amount 
required to be set aside from the General Fund to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded by borrowing or credit arrangements, that is, capital 
expenditure that has not been financed from grants, revenue contributions or 
capital receipts.

4.2 Regulation 27 also allows authorities to charge to a revenue account any 
amount, in addition to the MRP, in respect of the financing of capital 
expenditure incurred in the current financial year or any financial year before 
the current year (voluntary revenue provision - VRP). 

4.3 The calculation of MRP is covered in regulation 28 of the 2003 Regulations. 
From 31 March 2008, Regulation 28, as amended by Regulation 4(1) of the 
Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 (‘the 2008 Regulations’), requires each authority to:

'determine for the current financial year an amount of minimum revenue 
provision which it considers to be prudent.’

4.4 The 2003 Regulations (as amended) are accompanied by statutory guidance 
on minimum revenue provision, issued by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) under section 21(1A) of the 
Local Government Act 2003 (‘the 2003 Act’). The latest version of this 
guidance (version four) was issued by MHCLG in February 2018. It replaces 
the previous version issued in 2012. 

4.5 The updated MRP guidance is applicable from 1 April 2019, although early 
adoption is encouraged. This is with the exception of those changes relating 
to guidance on changing methods for calculating MRP, which apply from 1 
April 2018. The Authority has elected to adopt the requirements of the 
updated MRP guidance, in full, with effect from 1 April 2018.

4.6 In meeting the requirement to ‘make prudent provision’, the 2003 Act requires 
local authorities to ‘have regard to’ this guidance. This means that an 
authority must consider what the statutory guidance says. It does not mean 
that a local authority is obligated to follow the guidance. However, if an 
authority does decide to depart from the guidance, it must be able to show 
good reasons for doing so.

4.7 The current version of regulation 28 was implemented by the 2008 
regulations. It came into force on 31 March 2008 and along with the first 
edition of MHCLG’s statutory guidance on MRP, is effective for 2007/08 and 
later years. The current version of regulation 28 provides flexibility in how 

Page 135



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 20

they calculate MRP. Before this change regulation 28 set out detailed formula 
- based on an authority’s capital financing requirement - which authorities 
were required to follow when calculating MRP. 

4.8 Neither the 2003 Regulations nor the statutory guidance define the term 
“prudent provision”. The statutory guidance does however establish the 
broad aim of making prudent provision, which is to ensure that revenue is put 
aside to cover the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital 
financing requirement) over a period:

 commensurate with the period over which the capital expenditure 
provides benefits, or

 for historic borrowing originally supported by grant income rolled into 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG), over the period implicit in the 
determination of that original grant funding.

4.9 The MHCLG guidance outlines four possible ‘options’ as methods of 
calculating a prudent amount of MRP. However, approaches other than the 
four listed in the guidance are not ruled out provided they are consistent with 
the statutory duty to make a prudent provision. This provides authorities with 
wide discretion in determining MRP. The statutory guidance also includes 
specific recommendations on the calculation of MRP in respect of finance 
leases, on-balance PFI contracts and investment properties.

4.10 The four options for calculating MRP outlined in the MHCLG guidance, and 
restrictions on their use, are summarised in table 5.

Page 136



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 21

Table 5: Options for prudent provision of MRP 
Option Method of calculation Applicability and limits on use

‘Option 1
Regulatory 

method’

Apply the statutory formula 
set out in the 2003 
Regulations (as amended) 
before it was revoked by the 
2008 Regulations

May only be used in relation to: 
 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 

purposes incurred before 1 April 2008. 
 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 

purposes incurred on or after 1 April 
2008. 

‘Option 2
CFR 

method’

Multiply the (non-housing) 
Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of 
the preceding financial year 
by 4%.

May only be used in relation to: 
 Supported capital expenditure incurred 

before 1 April 2008. 
 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 

purposes incurred on or after 1 April 
2008. 

‘Option 3 
Asset life 
method’

Amortise expenditure 
financed by borrowing or 
credit arrangement over the 
estimated useful life of the 
relevant assets using either 
the equal instalment or 
annuity method.

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that does 
not form part of the Authority’s supported 
capital expenditure.
This includes all expenditure capitalised 
under regulations or direction on or after 1 
April 2008 falling outside the scope of 
‘Option 1’.
May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported and 
whenever incurred.

‘Option 4 
Depreciation 

method’

Charge MRP to revenue 
based on proper accounting 
practices for depreciation as 
they apply to the relevant 
assets. This includes any 
amount for impairment 
chargeable to the Income & 
Expenditure Account.

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that does 
not form part of the Authority’s supported 
capital expenditure. 
May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported and 
whenever incurred.

4.11 Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by 
borrowing or credit arrangements, authorities applying ‘Option 3’ should 
calculate MRP by reference to the estimated useful life of the asset. Two 
main variants of this option exist: (i) the equal instalment method and (ii) the 
annuity method. 

4.12 Both variations allow authorities to make additional voluntary revenue 
provision (VRP) or to finance expenditure through other methods of 
repayment (e.g. the application of capital receipts) during the repayment 
period. In such cases appropriate adjustments should be made to the 
calculation of MRP. Where an authority uses Options 3 or 4, the CFR for the 
purposes of Options 1 and 2 is reduced by the amount of the relevant 
expenditure and cumulative provision for MRP made under Options 3 and 4.

Page 137



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 22

Policy adopted for 2018/19

4.13 Having regard to the statutory guidance on minimum revenue provision 
issued by MHCLG and the ‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that 
guidance, the Council will calculate MRP:

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 
April 2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from 
borrowing incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of the non-
housing Capital Financing Requirement at the end of the preceding 
financial year (Option 2- CFR method)  

 for unsupported capital funded from borrowing expenditure incurred on 
or after 1 April 2008 by applying Option 3 - Asset life method - using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method 

 for credit arrangements, such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases), by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability. 

4.14 In applying ‘Option 3’: 

 MRP should normally begin in the financial year following the one in 
which the expenditure was incurred. However, in accordance with the 
statutory guidance, commencement of MRP may be deferred until the 
financial year following the one in which the asset becomes 
operational

 the estimated useful lives of assets used to calculate MRP should not 
exceed a maximum of 50 years except as otherwise permitted by the 
guidance 

 if no life can reasonably be attributed to an asset, such as freehold 
land, the estimated useful life should be taken to be a maximum of 50 
years 

 for expenditure capitalised by virtue of a capitalisation direction or 
regulation 25(1) of the 2003 regulations, the ‘asset’ life should equate 
to the value specified in the statutory guidance.

Page 138



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 23

5.  Prudential and treasury indicators 2018-19 – 2020-21

5.1 Indicators required by the Prudential Code 

5.1.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the 
affordability, prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and 
borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits, and by publishing actuals for 
a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury 
management practices are carried out in accordance with good professional 
practice. 

5.1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the 
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance issued by 
CIPFA, are designed to support and record local decision making. They are 
not designed to be comparative performance indicators and should not be 
used for this purpose. The prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years must be set before the beginning of the 
forthcoming year. They may be revised at any time, following due process, 
and must be reviewed, and revised if appropriate, for the current year when 
the prudential indicators are set for the following year.

Estimates of capital expenditure

5.1.3 The estimate of capital expenditure indicator summarises the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans for the forthcoming year and the following two 
financial years.  Estimates of capital expenditure include both those agreed 
previously and those forming part of the current (2018/19) budget cycle.

5.1.4 Capital expenditure is defined as in section 16 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and includes all expenditure capitalised in accordance with proper 
practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 
of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction 
issued under section 16(2) of the 2003 Act. Estimates of capital expenditure 
include any capital expenditure that it is estimated might (depending on 
option appraisals) or will be dealt with as other long-term liabilities.

Table 6:  Capital expenditure 
Planned expenditure 2017/18 

Approved1

£000

2017/18 
Revised2

£000

2018/19 
Estimate

£000

2019/20 
Estimate

£000

2020/21 
Estimate

£000
Approved in 2017/18 
(& prior years) 9,401 5,935 15,266 2,190 40

Budget proposals 
2018/19 – 2020/21 (673) 150 2,000

Total expenditure 9,401 5,935 14,593 2,340 2,040
1 Approved capital programme for 2017/18;  2 Updated to reflect revised carry forward of budget from 
2016/17 and additional capital bids included in the revised capital budget for 2017/18.  

Page 139



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 24

5.1.5 Table 7 shows how these capital expenditure plans will be financed through 
the application of capital and revenue resources.  Any excess of capital 
expenditure over resources applied (unfinanced expenditure) will result in a 
corresponding increase in the underlying need for borrowing (the capital 
financing requirement).  

Table 7:  Financing of capital expenditure
2017/2018 Estimate

Approved
£000

Revised
£000

2018/19 
£000

2019/20 
£000

2020/21 
£000

Total expenditure
Financed by:
Capital receipts 0 280 0 0 0
Capital grants 7,426 2,090 9,043 1,033 1,000
Revenue/Reserves 0 973 20 0 0
Total financed 7,426 3,343 9,063 1,033 1,000
Unfinanced expenditure:

Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0 0
Unsupported borrowing 1,975 2,592 5,530 1,307 1,040

Financed & unfinanced 9,401 5,935 14,593 2,340 2,040
1 Following the Spending Review 2010 there have been no new supported borrowing allocations since 
2010/11 (although the level of assumed outstanding debt is still included in the calculation of formula grant 
allocations). This form of financial support has been discontinued from 2011/12.

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

5.1.6 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost 
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources 
(grants, contributions, capital receipts or direct revenue financing). It does not 
necessarily correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position. The 
level of external debt will be determined in accordance with an authority’s 
treasury management strategy and practices and authorities should not 
associate borrowing with particular items of expenditure unless required to do 
so by legislation or official guidance. 

5.1.7 Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front through the application of 
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will 
increase the Capital Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum revenue 
provision or a voluntary revenue provision against the general fund will 
reduce the CFR.  The CFR includes items of capital expenditure included in 
the Council’s balance sheet associated with other long term liabilities, such 
as assets held on finance leases, but excluding the underlying liability. 

5.1.8 Table 8 sets out estimates of the Council’s capital financing requirement at 
the end of 2018/19 and the following two financial years.

Page 140



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 25

Table 8: Capital financing requirement
2017/18 Estimate

Approved
£000

Revised
£000

2018/19 
£000

2019/20 
£000

2020/21 
£000

CFR at 1 April 19,637 18,674 20,643 25,460 25,825
CFR at 31 March 20,967 20,643 25,460 25,825 25,843
Movement in CFR 1,330 1,969 4,817 365 18
Represented by:
Unfinanced expenditure   1,975 2,592 5,530 1,307 1,040
Less MRP/VRP (645) (623) (713) (942) (1,022)
Movement in CFR 1,330 1,969 4,817 365 18

Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR)

5.1.9 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of 
prudence is that over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital 
purpose.  To ensure this is the case, the Prudential Code requires that gross 
external debt should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial 
years. 

5.1.10 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. If 
in any of these years there is a reduction in the CFR, this reduction is ignored 
in estimating the cumulative increase in the CFR used for comparison with 
gross external debt. Gross debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities (credit arrangements).

Table 9: Gross debt & the CFR 2018/19

£000

Limit 
2018/19

£000
Forecast CFR at 31 March 2018 20,643
Estimated additional CFR for:
2018/19 (see table 8) 4,817
2019/20 (see table 8) 365
2020/21 (see table 8) 18 5,200
Limit 25,843
Gross Debt 2018/19 (maximum)
Estimated gross debt at 31 March 2018 - existing borrowing 13,464
Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing - 2017/18 3,930
Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing – 2018/19 5,440
Estimated gross debt 2018/19 22,834
Excess of CFR over gross debt 3,009

Page 141



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 26

5.1.11 At 31 December 2017 the Council was under-borrowed against its capital 
financing requirement by approximately £4.7m. The Council does not 
anticpate any difficulties in complying with this indicator during 2018/19 or the 
following two financial years.

Authorised limit for external debt 

5.1.12 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable 
Limit). It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt 
(excluding investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) 
from other long-term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach 
of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.

5.1.13 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. 
The Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or 
unforeseen cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for 
borrowing and other long-term liabilities.

Table 10: Authorised Limit for External Debt
2017/18 

Limit
£000

2018/19 
Limit
£000

2019/20a 

Limit
£000

2020/21a 
Limit
£000

Borrowing 25,000 28,000 29,000 29,000
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 25,000 28,000 29,000 29,000

a: From 2019/20 the Code of practice on Local authority Accounting is expected to adopt IFRS 16 
Leases. Pending confirmation of this change the impact on the other long-term liabilities component of 
the Authorised Limit for External Debt is not reflected in the reported limits  

Operational boundary for external debt

5.1.14 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the 
most likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the 
maximum level of external debt projected by these estimates. The 
Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s plans for capital 
expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements for the year for all purposes but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator separately 
identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities.

Page 142



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 27

Table 11: Operational boundary for external debt
2017/18 

Limit
£000

2018/19 
Limit
£000

2019/20 
Limit
£000

2020/21 
Limit
£000

Borrowing 23,000 26,000 27,000 27,000
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 23,000 26,000 27,000 27,000

a: From 2019/20 the Code of practice on Local authority Accounting is expected to adopt IFRS 16 
Leases. Pending confirmation of this change the impact on the other long-term liabilities component of 
the Operational Boundary for External Debt is not reflected in the reported limits  

5.1.15 Provided that the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a 
year is unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to 
make changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be 
reported to the next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council. 

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

5.1.16 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue 
budget required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment 
income). 

5.1.17 Estimates of financing costs comprise the aggregate of the following amounts 
included in the Council’s original and revised budgets:

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing

 interest payable under finance leases and any other long-term 
liabilities

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 
the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers  

 interest and investment income

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 
met from government grants and local taxpayers.

5.1.18 Estimates for net revenue stream for current and future years are taken from 
the Council’s estimates of the amounts to be met from government grants 
and local taxpayers, using the equivalent figures from the original and revised 
budgets.  

Page 143



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 28

Table 12: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
2017/18 

Approved
%

2017/18 
Revised

%

2018/19 
Estimate

%

2019/20
Estimate

%

2020/21 
Estimate

%
Ratio 10.3 9.5 11.9 14.8 17.8

5.2 Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 

5.2.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 
and accompanying sector guidance. These are:

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested over 365 days.

5.2.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to liquidity and refinancing risks.  

Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing

5.2.3 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of debt falling due for refinancing, and is designed to facilitate 
reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or high 
interest rates.

5.2.4 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period 
as a percentage of total projected borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is 
determined by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require 
payment. 

Table 13: Lower/upper limits on % borrowing maturing in each period
2017/18 2018/19 

 
31.3.17 
Actual 

31.3.18 
forecast Lower 

limit 
Upper 
limit 

Lower 
limit 

Upper 
limit 

 % % % % % %
Under 12 months 1.89 1.97 0 20 0 20
12 months to 2 years 1.71 1.79 0 20 0 20
2 years to 5 years 5.44 5.71 0 20 0 20
5 years to 10 years 10.41 11.00 0 30 0 30
10 years to 20 years 17.20 16.30 0 40 0 40
20 years to 30 years 4.69 3.58 0 40 0 40
30 years to 40 years 51.33 59.65 0 80 0 80
40 years to 45 years 7.33 0 0 80 0 80

Page 144



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 29

Upper limits on total principal invested for periods of more than 365 days

5.2.5 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for 
the maturing of such investments. The purpose of these limits for principal 
sums invested for periods longer than 365 days is for the local authority to 
contain its exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its 
having to seek early repayment or redemption of principal sums invested.

Table 14: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods of more than 365 
days

2017/18 
Approved

£000

2018/19
Limit
£000

2019/20
Limit
£000

2020/21 
Limit
£000

Principal sums invested > 365 days 20 20 20 20

5.2.6 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its call 
and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits 
(overnight to 6 months). The Council will not invest for periods of more than 
365 days during 2018/19.

Page 145



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 30

6. Appendices 

A. Interest Rate Forecasts 2018 - 2021

B. Economic Background

C. Credit Ratings

Page 146



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 31

Appendix A: Interest Rate Forecasts 2018 – 2021

PWLB rates and forecast shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012.

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View           

 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21
Bank Rate View 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%
3 Month LIBID 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.60% 0.60% 0.60% 0.70% 0.90% 0.90% 1.00% 1.20% 1.20% 1.20%
6 Month LIBID 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.60% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.90% 1.00% 1.00% 1.10% 1.30% 1.30% 1.40%
12 Month LIBID 0.70% 0.80% 0.80% 0.90% 1.00% 1.00% 1.10% 1.10% 1.30% 1.30% 1.40% 1.50% 1.50% 1.60%
5yr PWLB Rate 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.10% 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30%
10yr PWLB Rate 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00%
25yr PWLB Rate 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.50% 3.60% 3.60%
50yr PWLB Rate 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.40%
Bank Rate               
Link Asset Services 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%
Capital Economics 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.50% 1.50% 1.75% - - - - -
5yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.10% 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30%
Capital Economics 1.70% 1.90% 2.30% 2.60% 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% - - - - -
10yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00%
Capital Economics 2.30% 2.60% 2.80% 3.10% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% - - - - -
25yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.50% 3.60% 3.60%
Capital Economics 2.95% 3.15% 3.45% 3.65% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% - - - - -
50yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.40%
Capital Economics 2.80% 3.10% 3.30% 3.60% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% - - - - -

P
age 147



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 32

Appendix B: Economic Background 

UK Economy

B.1 After the UK surprised on the upside with strong economic growth in 2016, growth 
in 2017 has confounded pessimistic forecasts of weak growth by coming in at 
1.8%, only marginally down on the 1.9% rate for 2016.; In 2017, quarter 1 came in 
at only +0.3% (+1.8% y/y),  quarter 2 +0.3% (+1.5% y/y), quarter 3 +0.4% (+1.5% 
y/y) and Q4 +0.5% (+1.5% y/y).  

B.2 Underpinning this growth was the strong performance of the manufacturing 
sector which showed a 1.3% increase in Q4 and +3.1% y/y. This level of 
performance was helped by an increase in exports due to the lower value of 
sterling over the last year and robust economic growth in our main trade partners, 
the EU and US. It is also notable that there has been a progressive acceleration in 
total GDP growth during the year which gives ground for optimism looking forward 
into 2018.  

B.3 While the Bank of England is expected to give forward guidance to prepare 
financial markets for gradual changes in policy, the Monetary Policy 
Committee, (MPC), meeting of 14 September 2017, surprised financial markets 
and forecasters by suddenly switching to a much more aggressive tone in 
terms of its words around warning that the Bank Rate will need to rise soon. 
The Bank of England Inflation Reports during 2017 have clearly flagged up that 
it expected CPI inflation to peak at just under 3% in 2017 – as the past 
depreciation of sterling and increases in energy prices pass through to 
consumer prices -  before falling back to near to its target rate of 2% in two 
years’ time. 

B.4 The Bank revised its forecast for the peak to just over 3% at the 14 September 
meeting. (Inflation actually came in at 3.1% in November  the highest since 
March 2012 before falling to 3.0% in Decenber ).  However this marginal 
revision in the Bank’s forecast can hardly justify why the MPC became so 
aggressive with its wording. Instead the focus was on an emerging view that 
with unemployment having already fallen to only 4.3%, the lowest level since 
1975, and improvements in productivity being so weak, the amount of spare 
capacity in the economy was significantly diminishing towards a point at which 
they now needed to take action.

B.5 In addition, the MPC took a more tolerant view of low wage inflation as this now 
looks like a common factor in nearly all western economies as a result of 
automation and globalisation. This means that UK labour faces competition 
from overseas labour for example through outsourcing work to third world 
countries, which in turn depresses the negotioatiing power of UK labour.  
However, the Bank was also concerned that the withdrawal of the UK from the 
EU would effectively lead to a decrease in such globalisation pressures in the 
UK, and so this would cause additional inflationary pressure over the next few 
years.

B.6 At its 2 November meeting, the MPC duly delivered a 0.25% increase in the 
Bank Rate. It also gave forward guidance that they expected to increase the 

Page 148



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 33

Bank Rate only twice more in the next three years to reach 1.0% by 2020.  This 
is, therefore, not quite the ‘one and done’ scenario but is, nevertheless, a very 
relaxed rate of increase prediction in the Bank Rate and in line with previous 
statements that the Bank Rate would only go up very gradually and to a limited 
extent.

B.7 Some forecasters are however flagging up that they expect growth to 
accelerate significantly towards the end of 2017 and then into 2018. This view 
is based primarily on an anticipated fall in inflation, (as the effect the 
depreciation of sterling following the EU referendum drops out of the CPI 
statistics), which will bring to an end the negative impact on consumer 
spending power.  In addition, a strong export performance will compensate for 
weak services sector growth.  If this scenario was to materialise, then the 
likelihood is that the MPC would accelerate its pace of increases in the Bank 
Rate during 2018 and onwards. 

B.8 It is also worth noting the contradiction within the Bank of England between 
action in 2016 and in 2017 by two of its committees. After the shock result of 
the EU referendum, the MPC voted in August 2016 for emergency action to cut 
the Bank Rate from 0.50% to 0.25%, restarting £70bn of QE purchases, and 
also providing UK banks with £100bn of cheap financing. The aim of this was to 
lower borrowing costs, stimulate demand for borrowing and thereby increase 
expenditure and demand in the economy. 

B.9 The MPC felt this was necessary in order to ward off their expectation that 
there would be a sharp slowdown in economic growth.  Instead, the economy 
grew robustly, although the Governor of the Bank of England strongly 
maintained that this was because the MPC took that action.  However, other 
commentators regard this emergency action by the MPC as being proven by 
events to be a mistake.  

B.10 In 2017, we then had the Financial Policy Committee (FPC) of the Bank of 
England taking action in June and September over its concerns that cheap 
borrowing rates, and easy availability of consumer credit, had resulted in too 
rapid a rate of growth in consumer borrowing and in the size of total borrowing, 
especially of unsecured borrowing.  It therefore took punitive action to clamp 
down on the ability of the main banks to extend such credit. Indeed, a PWC 
report in October 2017 warned that credit card, car and personal loans and 
student debt will hit the equivalent of an average of £12,500 per household by 
2020.  

B.11 However, averages belie wide variations in levels of debt with much higher 
exposure being biased towards younger people, especially the 25 to 34 year 
old band, reflecting their lower levels of real income and asset ownership.

B.12 One key area of risk is that consumers may have become used to cheap rates 
since 2008 for borrowing, especially for mortgages.  It is a major concern that 
some consumers may have over extended their borrowing and have become 
complacent about interest rates going up after the Bank Rate had been 
unchanged at 0.50% since March 2009 until falling further to 0.25% in August 
2016. This is why forward guidance from the Bank of England continues to 

Page 149



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 34

emphasise slow and gradual increases in the Bank Rate in the coming years.  
However, consumer borrowing is a particularly vulnerable area in terms of the 
MPC getting the pace and strength of Bank Rate increases right - without 
causing a sudden shock to consumer demand, confidence and thereby to the 
pace of economic growth.

B.13 Moreover, while there is so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, 
consumer confidence, and business confidence to spend on investing, it is far 
too early to be confident about how the next two to three years will actually pan 
out.

USA 

B.14 Growth in the American economy was notably erratic and volatile in 2015 and 
2016.  2017 started erratically with quarter 1 coming in at an annualised rate of 
only 1.2%, quarter 2 at 3.1%, quarter 3, 3.2% and Q4, 2.6%.  This gave an 
overall figure for annual growth in 2017 of 2.6%, an acceleration from 1.5% in 
2016.  Unemployment in the US has also fallen to the lowest level for many 
years, reaching 4.1%, while wage inflation pressures, and inflationary 
pressures in general, have been building. 

B.15 The Federal Reserve (the Fed.) has started on a gradual upswing in rates with 
five increases in all and four increases since December 2016. A rise of 25 basis 
points in December 2017 lifted the central rate to 1.25 – 1.50%. Forward 
guidance signalled there could then be another four increases in 2018.  At its 
September meeting, the Fed said it would start in October to gradually unwind 
its $4.5 trillion balance sheet holdings of bonds and mortgage backed securities 
by reducing its reinvestment of maturing holdings.

Eurozone

B.16 Economic growth in the Eurozone (EZ), (the UK’s biggest trading partner), had 
been lack lustre for several years after the financial crisis despite the ECB 
eventually cutting its main rate to -0.4% and embarking on a massive 
programme of Quantitative Easing.  However, growth picked up in 2016 and 
has now gathered substantial strength and momentum thanks to this stimulus.  
GDP growth was 0.6% in quarter 1 (2.0% y/y), 0.7% in quarter 2 (2.3% y/y) and 
+0.6% in quarter 3 (2.5% y/y). 

B.17 However, despite providing massive monetary stimulus, the European Central 
Bank is still struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target and in December 
inflation was 1.4%. It is therefore unlikely to start on an upswing in rates until 
possibly 2019. It has, however, announced that it will slow down its monthly QE 
purchases of debt from €60bn to €30bn from January 2018 and continue to at 
least September 2018.  

Asia

B.18 Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus. This has, in turn, been denting 
economic growth in emerging market countries dependent on exporting raw 

Page 150



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 35

materials to China. Medium term risks have also been increasing. These 
include a dangerous build up in the level of credit compared to the size of GDP 
and a need to address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and 
credit systems. In addition, major progress still needs to be made to eliminate 
excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property and address the 
level of non-performing loans in the banking and credit systems.

B.19 GDP growth in Japan has been gradually improving during 2017 reaching an 
annual figure of 2.1% in quarter 3. However it is still struggling to get inflation 
up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. The 
Japanese government is also making little progress on fundamental reforms of 
the economy.

Global Outlook 

B.20 World growth looks to be on an encouraging trend of stronger performance, rising 
earnings and falling levels of unemployment.  In October 2017, the IMF upgraded 
its forecast for world growth from 3.2% to 3.6% for 2017 and 3.7% for 2018.  In 
addition, inflation prospects are generally muted and it is particularly notable that 
wage inflation has been subdued despite unemployment falling to historically very 
low levels in the UK and US. 

Central bank monetary policy measures

B.21 Following the financial crash of 2008, when liquidity suddenly dried up in financial 
markets, central bank sought to counter the recessionary impact of this through a 
combination of lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with 
liquidity, particularly through unconventional means such as Quantitative Easing 
(QE) where central banks bought large amounts of central government debt and 
smaller sums of other debt.

B.22 The key issue now is that the period of stimulating economic recovery and warding 
off the threat of deflation is coming towards its close and a new period has already 
started in the US, and more recently, in the UK, on reversing those measures i.e. 
by raising central rates and (for the US) reducing central banks’ holdings of 
government and other debt. 

B.23. These measures are now required in order to stop the trend of an on-going 
reduction in spare capacity in the economy, and of unemployment falling to such 
low levels that the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk.  It is, 
therefore, crucial that central banks get their timing right and do not cause shocks 
to market expectations that could destabilise financial markets.  In particular, a key 
risk is that because QE-driven purchases of bonds drove up the price of 
government debt, and therefore caused a sharp drop in income yields, this then 
also encouraged investors into a search for yield and into investing in riskier assets 
such as equities.

B.24 This resulted in bond and equity market prices rising to historically high valuation 
levels simultaneously. This, therefore, makes both asset categories vulnerable to a 
sharp correction. It is important, therefore, that central banks only gradually unwind 
their holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the financial markets. It is 

Page 151



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 36

also likely that the timeframe for central banks unwinding their holdings of QE debt 
purchases will be over several years. They need to balance their timing to avoid 
damaging economic growth by taking too rapid and/or too strong action, or, 
alternatively, letting inflation run away by taking action that was too slow and/or too 
weak. The potential for central banks to get this timing and strength of action wrong 
are now key risks. 

B.25 There is also a potential key question over whether economic growth has become 
too dependent on strong central bank stimulus and whether it will maintain its 
momentum against a backdrop of rising interest rates and the reversal of QE. In the 
UK, a key vulnerability is the low level of productivity growth, which may be the 
main driver for increases in wages; and decreasing consumer disposable income, 
which is important in the context of consumer expenditure primarily underpinning 
UK GDP growth.

B.26 A further question that has come to the fore is whether an inflation target for central 
banks of 2%, is now realistic given the shift down in inflation pressures from 
internally generated inflation, (i.e. wage inflation feeding through into the national 
economy). Some economists favour a shift to a lower inflation target of 1% to 
emphasise the need to keep the lid on inflation. Alternatively, it is possible that a 
central bank could simply ‘look through’ tepid wage inflation, (i.e. ignore the overall 
2% inflation target), in order to take action in raising rates sooner than might 
otherwise be expected. 

B.27 However, other economists would argue for a shift up in the inflation target to 3% in 
order to ensure that central banks place the emphasis on maintaining economic 
growth through adopting a slower pace of withdrawal of stimulus. In addition, there 
is a strong argument that central banks should target financial market stability. As 
mentioned previously, bond markets and equity markets could be vulnerable to a 
sharp correction. There has been much commentary that, since 2008, QE has 
caused massive distortions, imbalances and bubbles in asset prices, both financial 
and non-financial. Consequently, there are widespread concerns over the potential 
for such bubbles to be burst by exuberant central bank action. On the other hand, 
too slow or weak action would allow these imbalances and distortions to continue 
or to even inflate them further.

B.28 Consumer debt levels are also at historically high levels due to the prolonged 
period of low cost of borrowing since the financial crash. In turn, this cheap 
borrowing has meant other non-financial asset prices, particularly house prices, 
have been driven up to very high levels, especially compared to income levels. Any 
sharp downturn in the availability of credit, or increase in the cost of credit, could 
potentially destabilise the housing market and generate a sharp downturn in house 
prices.  This could then have a destabilising effect on consumer confidence, 
consumer expenditure and GDP growth. However, no central bank would accept 
that it ought to have responsibility for specifically targeting house prices. 

Page 152



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 37

Appendix C: Credit Ratings 

International long-term credit ratings

Fitch Moody’s Standard 
& Poor’s

Definition  Permitted 
counter-

party

Investment Grade
AAA Aaa AAA Highest quality/Best quality/Extremely strong Yes
AA Aa AA Very high quality/High quality/Very strong Yes
A A A High quality/Upper medium grade/Strong Yes*

BBB Baa BBB Good quality/Medium grade/Adequate No
Non-investment/speculative grade

BB Ba BB Speculative/Lower medium grade/Speculative – 
Less vulnerable No

B B B Highly speculative/Low grade/More vulnerable No
CCC Caa CCC Poor quality/Currently vulnerable No

CC Ca CC High default risk/Highly speculative/Currently 
highly vulnerable No

C C C High default risk/Extremely poor/Imminent 
default No

D D In default No
*except non UK sovereigns

Note: Fitch Ratings and Standard and Poor’s ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of 
a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories. Moody’s append 
numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa to denote relative 
status.

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 154



Treasury Management 
Policy Statement

Sub-heading 17pt Arial Bold

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 155



Treasury Policy Statement

Page 2

Introduction 

(i) The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (2017 Edition) (the Treasury Code) 
recommends that public service organisations put in place formal and 
comprehensive objectives, policies and practices, strategies and reporting 
arrangements for the effective management and control of their treasury 
management activities.

(ii) The policy statement which follows sets out the Council’s policies, objectives 
and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities. The 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives, and prescribes how it will manage and control its treasury activities 
are set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices (TMPs).

(iii) The content of the Council’s policy statement follows the recommendations 
contained in sections 6 of the Treasury Code subject only to amendments 
necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of this Council. These 
amendments will not result in the organisation materially deviating from the 
Code’s key principles. 

Date of publication: February 2018
Review date: February 2019

Page 156



Treasury Policy Statement

Page 3

1. This Council defines its treasury management activities as:

The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.

2. This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation and 
any financial instruments entered into to manage these risks.

3. This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
management, and to employing suitable comprehensive performance 
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.

4. The Council’s primary policy objective in relation to its investment activity is the 
security of principal sums it invests in priority to liquidity (second) and yield (third). 
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity and its risk appetite. 
Yield will only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or 
more investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives.

5. The Council will seek to minimise the cost of borrowing and create stability and 
certainty of its debt servicing costs whilst retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility 
to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or 
structure of interest rates. The Council will achieve this through the prudent use of 
fixed-rate and variable rate debt instruments. It will also seek to take advantage of 
opportunities to reschedule its debt portfolio to generate savings in interest costs 
and address risk exposures.

6. The Council will set an affordable borrowing limit each year in compliance with the 
Local Government Act 2003, and will have regard to the CIPFA Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance in Local Authorities when setting that limit. The Council will 
only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so 
and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt 
maturities.

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services
February 2018 

Treasury Management Policy Statement 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 158



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2018
Allerdale Borough Council
February 2018

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 9



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 2

Contents
Section Page
1. Introduction & headlines 3
2. Business understanding 4
3. Significant risks identified 5
4. Reasonably possible risks identified 7
5. Other matters 8
6. Materiality 9
7.    Group audit scope and risk assessment 10
8.    Value for Money arrangements 11
9. Audit logistics, team & audit fees 12
10. Early close 13
10.  Independence & non-audit services 14

Appendix
A. Revised ISAs 16

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Council or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent.
We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for,
nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

John Farrar
Associate Director

T: 0161 234 6384 or 07880 456200
E: john.farrar@uk.gt.com

Richard McGahon
Senior Manager

T: 0141 223 0889 or 07880 456156
E: richard.a.mcgahon@uk.gt.com

Richard Anderson
Assistant Manager

T: 0141 223 0753 or  07920 021291
E: richard.j.anderson@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 
is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 160



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 3

Introduction & headlines
Purpose
This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory 
audit of Allerdale Borough Council (‘the Council’) for those charged with governance. 

Respective responsibilities
The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit 
Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin and 
end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities are 
also set in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities issued by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for appointing us as 
auditor of Allerdale Borough Council. We draw your attention to both of these 
documents on the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit
The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs) (UK).  We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the:
• financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement) that have been 

prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance (the 
Audit Committee); and

• Value for Money arrangements in place at the Council for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in your use of resources.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit Committee 
of your responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper 
arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is fulfilling 
these responsibilities.
Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Council's business and is 
risk based. 

Significant 
risks

Those risks requiring specific audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified as:
• the revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions - this has been rebutted for the Council;
• management over-ride of controls;
• valuation of property, plant and equipment and investment property;
• valuation of pension fund net liability.
We will communicate significant findings in these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings (ISA 260) Report.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £0.966 million (PY £0.948 million), which equates to 1.75% of your gross expenditure for the year. We are obliged to 
report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. Clearly trivial has been set at £48,000 (PY 
£47,000). 

Value for 
Money 
arrangements

Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for money have identified the following VFM significant risks:
• Financial sustainability

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place in February 2018 and our final accounts visit will take place in June and July 2018. Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and our 
Audit Findings Report.
Our fee for the audit will be no less than £48,128 (PY: £48,128) for the Council. The indicative fee for grant certification work is £14,916 (PY: £13,118). 

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able 
to express an objective opinion on the financial statements

P
age 161



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 4

Business understanding

• We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial resources as part of our work in reaching our Value for Money conclusion.
• We will consider whether your individual or group financial position leads to uncertainty about the going concern assumption and will review any related disclosures in the financial 

statements. 
• We will keep you informed of changes to the Regulations and any associated changes to financial  reporting or public inspection requirements for 2017/18 through on-going 

discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.
• As part of our opinion on your financial statements, we will consider whether your financial statements reflect the financial reporting changes in the 2017/18 CIPFA Code.

Changes to service delivery

Our response

Key challengesChanges to financial reporting requirements

Commercialisation
The scale of investment activity, primarily in 
commercial property, has increased as local 
authorities seek to maximise income generation. 
These investments are often discharged through a 
company, partnership or other investment vehicle. 
Local authorities need to ensure that their commercial 
activities are presented appropriately, in compliance 
with the CIPFA Code of Practice and statutory 
framework, such as the Capital Finance Regulations. 
Where borrowing to finance these activities, local 
authorities need to comply with CIPFA’s Prudential 
Code. A new version of the Prudential Code was 
published in December 2017.

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
(the Regulations)
The Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG) is 
currently undertaking a review of the 
Regulations, which may be subject to 
change. The date for any proposed 
changes has yet to be confirmed, so it 
is not yet clear or whether they will 
apply to the 2017/18 financial 
statements.
Under the 2015 Regulations local 
authorities are required to publish their 
accounts along with the auditors 
opinion by 31 July 2018.

Changes to the CIPFA 2017/18 
Accounting Code 
CIPFA have introduced other minor 
changes to the 2017/18 Code 
which confirm the going concern 
basis for local authorities, and 
updates for Leases, Service 
Concession arrangements and 
financial instruments.

Financial pressures
In November 2017 the Council updated its Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2017/18 to 2020/21. This 
showed a slight increase in the funding gap to £3.28 
million for 2018/19 to 2020/21 with self sufficiency savings 
required over the period of the MTFS still being £1.844 
million. By January 2018 the Council had identified the 
savings needed to balance the 2018/19 budget. Delivering 
the level of savings required over the remaining period of 
the MTFP, on top of self-sufficiency savings, represents a 
significant challenge.P

age 162



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 5

Significant risks identified
Significant risks are defined by professional standards as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration because they have a higher risk of material 
misstatement. Such risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential 
magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk
The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 
transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk 
that revenue may be misstated due to the improper 
recognition of revenue.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes 
that there is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud 
relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the 
revenue streams at the Council, we have determined that the risk of fraud 
arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:
• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;
• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited;   
• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Allerdale 

Borough Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable.
Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Allerdale Borough 
Council.

Management over-ride of controls Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed 
risk that the risk of management over-ride of controls is 
present in all entities.
Management over-ride of controls is a risk requiring 
special audit consideration.

We will:
• update our understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements 

applied and decisions made by management and consider their 
reasonableness 

• obtain a full listing of journal entries, identify and test unusual journal 
entries for appropriateness

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting policies or significant 
unusual transactions.

P
age 163



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 6

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk
Valuation of property, 
plant and equipment 
and investment 
property

The Council revalues its land and buildings on a rolling basis over a five 
year period to ensure that carrying value is not materially different from 
fair value. This represents a significant estimate by management in the 
financial statements.
We identified the valuation of land and buildings revaluations and 
impairments as a risk requiring special audit consideration.

We will:
• review management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the 

estimate, the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their 
work;   

• consider the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management 
experts used;  

• discuss with the valuer the basis on which the valuation is carried out and 
challenge the key assumptions;   

• review and challenge the information used by the valuer to ensure it is robust 
and consistent with our understanding;    

• test revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly into 
the Council's asset register;  

• evaluate the assumptions made by management for those assets not 
revalued during the year and how management has satisfied themselves that 
these are not materially different to current value.

Valuation of pension 
fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as reflected in its balance 
sheet represents a significant estimate in the financial statements.
We identified the valuation of the pension fund net liability as a risk 
requiring special audit consideration.

We will:
• identify the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension 

fund liability is not materially misstated. We will also assess whether these 
controls were implemented as expected and whether they are sufficient to 
mitigate the risk of material misstatement;   

• evaluate the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried 
out your pension fund valuation. We will gain an understanding of the basis on 
which the valuation is carried out;    

• undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial 
assumptions made;     

• check the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures 
in notes to the financial statements with the actuarial report from your actuary.

Significant risks identified

P
age 164



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 7

Reasonably possible risks identified
Reasonably possible risks (RPRs) are, in the auditor's judgment, other risk areas which the auditor has identified as an area where the likelihood of material misstatement cannot be 
reduced to remote, without the need for gaining an understanding of the associated control environment, along with the performance of an appropriate level of substantive work. The risk 
of misstatement for an RPR is lower than that for a significant risk, and they are not considered to be areas that are highly judgmental, or unusual in relation to the day to day activities of 
the business.
Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk
Employee remuneration Payroll expenditure represents a significant percentage of the Council’s 

operating expenses. 
As the payroll expenditure comes from a number of individual 
transactions and an interface with a sub-system there is a risk that payroll 
expenditure in the accounts could be understated. We therefore identified 
completeness of payroll expenses as a risk requiring particular audit 
attention

We will
• evaluate the Council's accounting policy for recognition of payroll

expenditure for appropriateness; 
• update our understanding of the Council's system for accounting for 

payroll expenditure and evaluate the design of the associated controls; 
• test the reconciliation of payroll expenditure to ensure the amount in the 

accounts can be reconciled to the general ledger and through to payroll 
reports. Investigate any significant adjusting items; 

• agree payroll related accruals (e.g. unpaid leave accrual) to supporting 
documents and review any estimates for reasonableness;

• perform a monthly analytical review on payroll costs. 

Operating expenses Non-pay expenses on other goods and services also represents a 
significant percentage of the Council’s operating expenses. Management 
uses judgement to estimate accruals of un-invoiced costs. 
We identified completeness of non- pay expenses as a risk requiring 
particular audit attention: 

We will
• evaluate the Council's accounting policy for recognition of non-pay

expenditure for appropriateness;
• update our an understanding of the Council's system for accounting for 

non-pay expenditure and evaluate the design of the associated 
controls; 

• obtain a listing of non-pay payments made in April, take a sample, and 
ensure that they have been charged to the appropriate year;

• review the year-end accounts payable reconciliation, and investigate 
any significant reconciling items.

P
age 165



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 8

Other matters
Other work
In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice, we have a number of other
audit responsibilities, as follows:
• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves that disclosures made in your Annual 

Governance Statement are in line with the guidance issued and consistent with our 
knowledge of the Council.

• We will read your Narrative Statement and check that it is consistent with the 
financial statements on which we give an opinion and that the disclosures included in 
it are in line with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.

• We carry out work on your consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government 
Accounts process in accordance with NAO group audit instructions.

• We consider our other duties under the Act and the Code, as and when required, 
including:

• giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2017/18 
financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 
relation to the 2017/18 financial statements; 

• issue of a report in the public interest; and 
• making a written recommendation to the Council, copied to the Secretary of 

State.
• We certify completion of our audit.

Other material balances and transactions
Under International Standards on Auditing, ‘irrespective of the assessed risks of material 
misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each 
material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure’. All other material 
balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will 
not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern
As auditors, we are required to ‘obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the 
appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is 
a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern’ (ISA (UK) 
570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption and 
evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements.

P
age 166



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 9

Materiality
The concept of materiality
The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements 
and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to 
disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and 
applicable law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if 
they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes
We propose to calculate financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the 
gross expenditure of the Council for the financial year. In the prior year we used the 
same benchmark. We have determined planning materiality (the financial statements 
materiality determined at the planning stage of the audit) to be £0.966 million (PY 
£0.948 million), which equates to 1.75% of your forecast gross expenditure for the year. 
We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level of 
precision. 
We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we 
become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a 
different determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Audit Committee
Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to 
our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit 
Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are 
identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with those charged 
with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements 
other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. ISA 260 
(UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken 
individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative 
criteria.  In the context of the Council, we propose that an individual difference could 
normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £48,000 (PY £47,000). 
If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of 
the audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the 
Audit Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Forecast gross expenditure
£55.2m

(PY: £54.2m)

Materiality

Gross expenditure Materiality

£0.966m
Whole financial 
statements materiality
(PY: £0.948m)

£48,000
Misstatements reported 
to the Audit Committee
(PY: £47,000)

P
age 167



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 10

Group audit scope and risk assessment 
In accordance with ISA (UK) 600, as group auditor we are required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the components 
and the consolidation process to express an opinion on whether the group financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework.

Component Significant?
Level of response required 
under ISA (UK) 600 Risks identified Planned audit approach

Keswick Museum and Art Gallery (KMAG) No Analytical N/A Desktop review performed by Grant Thornton UK

Helena Thompson Museum No Analytical N/A Desktop review performed by Grant Thornton UK

Allerdale Investment Partnership (AIP) No Analytical N/A Desktop review performed by Grant Thornton UK

Audit scope:
Comprehensive – the component is of such significance to the group as a whole that an audit of the components financial statements is required
Targeted – the component is significant to the Group, audit evidence will be obtained by performing targeted audit procedures rather than a full audit
Analytical – the component is not significant to the Group and audit risks can be addressed sufficiently by applying analytical procedures at the Group level

P
age 168



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 11

Value for Money arrangements
Background to our VFM approach
The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work for 2017/18 in
November 2017. The guidance states that for local government bodies, auditors are
required to give a conclusion on whether the Council has proper arrangements in place.
The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:
“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”
This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Significant VFM risks
Those risks requiring specific audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood 
that proper arrangements are not in place at the Council to deliver value for money.

Financial Sustainability
The Council's Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFS) 2017/18 to 2020/21, 
produced in February 2017, showed a £3.1 million funding gap between 
2018/19 and 2020/21. This was in addition to the Council's projected delivery 
of self-sufficiency savings of £1.844 million over the period of the MTFP. In 
November 2017 the Council updated its MTFP for 2017/18 to 2020/21 and 
this showed a slight increase in the funding gap to £3.28 million for 2018/19 to 
2020/21 and self sufficiency savings required still being £1.844 million. The 
Council continues to manage its finances well, and has consistently achieved 
savings targets and annual underspending, so it has not had to fully utilise its 
planned use of earmarked reserves. By January 2018 the Council had 
identified the savings needed to balance the 2018/19 budget. Even though the 
Council has a good record of delivering savings the level of savings required 
over the remaining period of the MTFP, on top of self-sufficiency savings, 
represents a significant challenge.
We will review the Council's arrangements for updating, agreeing and 
monitoring its financial plans including the assumptions within them. We will 
also consider the arrangements in place to monitor the identification and 
delivery of savings.

Informed 
decision 
making

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment
Working 

with partners 
& other third 

parties

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

P
age 169



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 12

Audit logistics, team & audit fees

Audit fees
The planned audit fees are no less than £48,128 (PY: £48,128) for the financial statements 
audit and £14,916 (PY: £13,118) for grant certification work. Our fees for grant certification 
cover only housing benefit subsidy certification, which falls under the remit of Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Limited Fees in respect of other grant work, such as reasonable 
assurance reports, are shown under 'Fees for other services'.
In setting your fee, we have assumed that the scope of the audit, and the Council and its 
activities, do not significantly change.
Our requirements
To ensure the audit is delivered on time and to avoid any additional fees, we have detailed 
our expectations and requirements in the following section ‘Early Close’. If the 
requirements detailed overleaf are not met, we reserve the right to postpone our audit visit 
and charge fees to reimburse us for any additional costs incurred.

John Farrar, Engagement Lead

Richard Anderson, Audit Incharge

Planning and
risk assessment 

Interim audit
February 2018

Year end audit
June – July 2018

Audit 
Committee

19 February 2018
Audit

committee
7 May 2018

Audit
Committee
27 July 2018 September 2018

Audit 
Findings 
Report

Audit 
opinion

Audit 
Plan

Interim 
Progress 

Report
Annual 
Audit 
Letter

Richard McGahon, Engagement Manager

P
age 170



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 13

Early close
Our requirements 
To minimise the risk of a delayed audit or additional audit fees being incurred, you need to 
ensure that you:
• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 

us, including all notes, the narrative report and the Annual Governance Statement
• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 

accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 
you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 
reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 
agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

In return, we will ensure that:
• the audit runs smoothly with the minimum disruption to your staff
• you are kept informed of progress through the use of an issues tracker and weekly 

meetings during the audit
• we are available to discuss issues with you prior to and during your preparation of the 

financial statements. 

Meeting the early close timeframe
Bringing forward the statutory date for publication of audited local government 
accounts to 31 July this year, across the whole sector, is a significant challenge 
for local authorities and auditors alike. For authorities, the time available to 
prepare the accounts is curtailed, while, as auditors we have a shorter period to 
complete our work and face an even more significant peak in our workload than 
previously.
We have carefully planned how we can make the best use of the resources 
available to us during the final accounts period. As well as increasing the overall 
level of resources available to deliver audits, we have focused on:
• bringing forward as much work as possible to interim audits
• starting work on final accounts audits as early as possible, by agreeing which 

authorities will have accounts prepared significantly before the end of May
• seeking further efficiencies in the way we carry out our audits
• working with you to agree detailed plans to make the audits run smoothly, 

including early agreement of audit dates, working paper and data 
requirements and early discussions on potentially contentious items.

We are satisfied that, if all these plans are implemented, we will be able to 
complete your audit and those of our other local government clients in sufficient 
time to meet the earlier deadline. 

Client responsibilities
Where individual clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure 
that this does not impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of 
time, thereby disadvantaging other clients. We will therefore conduct audit in line 
with the timetable set out in the audit plan. Where the elapsed time to complete 
an audit exceeds that agreed due to a client not meetings its obligations we will 
not be able to maintain a team on site. Similarly, where additional resources are 
needed to complete the audit due to a client not meeting their obligations we are 
not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit by the statutory deadline. Such 
audits are unlikely to be re-started until very close to, or after the statutory 
deadline. In addition, it is highly likely that these audits will incur additional audit 
fees.

P
age 171



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 14

Independence & non-audit services
Auditor independence
Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 
or covered persons. relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us. We will also discuss with you if we make 
additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters.
We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2016 which sets out supplementary guidance 
on ethical requirements for auditors of local public bodies. 
We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Ethical Standard. For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant 
Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. 

Non-audit services
No non-audit services were identified.

Any changes and full details of all fees charged for audit related and non-audit related services by Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member 
Firms will be included in our Audit Findings report at the conclusion of the audit.

P
age 172



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18

Appendix

A. Revised ISAsP
age 173



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18 16

Appendix A:  Revised ISAs
Detailed below is a summary of the key changes impacting the auditor’s report for audits of financial statement for periods commencing on or after 17 June 2016.

Section of the auditor's report Description of the requirements
Conclusions relating to going concern We will be required to conclude and report whether:

• Senior management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate 
• Senior management have disclosed identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Council’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. 
Material uncertainty related to going 
concern 

We will need to include a brief description of the events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the Council's ability to 
continue as a going concern when a material uncertainty has been identified and adequately disclosed in the financial statements. 

Other information We will be required to include a section on other information which includes:
• Responsibilities of management and auditors regarding other information
• A statement that the opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information unless required by law or regulation
• Reporting inconsistencies or misstatements where identified

Additional responsibilities for senior 
management and the auditor

We will be required to include the respective responsibilities for senior management and us, as auditors, regarding going concern.

Format of the report The format of the auditor’s report will change and, in particular, the opinion section will appear first, followed by the basis of opinion section.

P
age 174



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Allerdale Borough Council  |  2017/18

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 176



 
 

 

 
 
Catherine Nicholson 
Allerdale Borough Council 

Allerdale House 
Workington 
Cumbria 
CA14 3YJ 
 
 
7 February 2018 

Dear Catherine 

Certification work for Allerdale Borough Council for year ended 31 March 2017 

We are required to certify the Housing Benefit subsidy claim submitted by Allerdale Borough 
Council ('the Council'). This certification typically takes place six to nine months after the 
claim period and represents a final but important part of the process to confirm the Council's 
entitlement to funding. 

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gave the Secretary of State power to transfer 
Audit Commission responsibilities to other bodies. Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA) took on the transitional responsibilities for HB COUNT issued by the Audit 
Commission in February 2015. 

We have certified the Housing Benefit subsidy claim for the financial year 2016/17 relating to 
subsidy claimed of £24.205 million. Further details are set out in Appendix A. 

We identified some issues from our certification work, which we wish to highlight for your 
attention. There was one error in our initial testing of rent allowance cases. The error was 
caused by a miscalculation of earnings. In response to this issue, we were required to test an 
additional 40 rent allowance cases to ensure the correct income had been used in the award of 
benefit. One further error was identified. The extrapolated financial impact on the claim, 
which we have reported to the Department for Works and Pensions (DWP), was only 
£411.53 and relatively insignificant to the total subsidy receivable. We also identified that Cell 
119 (DWP overpayments not recovered) was incorrectly stated on the draft claim form. This 
was corrected to £1,782, the figure shown by the housing benefit system, on the final claim 
form but had no impact on subsidy claimed.  

As a result of the errors identified, the claim was amended and qualified, and we reported our 
findings to the DWP. The DWP may require the Council to undertake further work or 
provide assurances on the errors we have identified. 

  

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
4 Hardman Square 
Spinningfields 
Manchester 
M3 3EB 
 
www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 

Page 177

Agenda Item 10



 2 

The indicative fee for 2016/17 for the Council was based on the final 2014/15 certification 
fees, reflecting the amount of work required by the auditor to certify the Housing Benefit 
subsidy claim that year. The indicative scale fee set by PSAA for the Council for 2016/17 was 
£13,118. This is set out in more detail in Appendix B. 

 

Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
John Farrar 
 

for Grant Thornton UK LLP  

Page 178



 3 

Appendix A - Details of claims and returns certified for 2016/17 

Claim or 
return 

Value Amended? Amendment 
value 

Qualified?  
 

Comments 

Housing 
benefits 
subsidy claim 

£24,204,606 Yes Cell 119 
amended by 
£1,782. This 
had nil 
impact on 
subsidy 
claimed. 

Yes We identified that Cell 119 
(DWP Overpayments not 
recovered) was incorrectly 
stated on the draft claim 
form. The draft claim form 
showed £0 in cell 119 but 
the housing benefit system 
report showed £1,782. Cell 
119 was corrected to £1,782 
on the final claim form but 
this had no impact on 
subsidy. 

We identified two errors in 
the assessment of the 
claimants' earned income in 
respect of claims in receipt 
of rent allowance. The first 
error was caused by a 
transposition error in the 
claimant’s employee pension 
contribution. The second 
error was caused by an 
occupational pension being 
deducted from earnings 
incorrectly. Overall, we 
found two errors out of sixty 
cases tested, leading to an 
extrapolated overpayment of 
£411.53. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 179



 4 

 
Appendix B: Fees for 2016/17 certification work 
 

Claim or return 2014/15 
fee (£)  

2016/17 
indicative 
fee (£) 

2016/17 
actual fee 
(£) 

Variance 
(£) 

Explanation for variances 

Housing benefits 
subsidy claim 
(BEN01) 

£17,490 £13,118 £13,118 £0 Although there is no variance 
between the indicative and 
actual fee for 2016/17, the 
reduction from 2014/15 to 
2016/17 represents the 25% 
reduction nationally applied to 
certification fees by Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
(PSAA). 

Total £17,490 £13,118 £13,118 £0  

  

Page 180


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter Ending 31 December 2017
	Appendix 1 for Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter Ending 31 December 2017
	Appendix 2 for Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter Ending 31 December 2017
	Q1 How would you rate your overall satisfaction with us?
	Q2 Please rate our Assurance risk and Audit€officer on the following attributes
	Q3 How would you rate the below aspects of the audit?
	Q4 Do you feel the Audit has added value to your service?
	Q5 Do you agree or disagree that the Auditor was knowledgeable and insightful when making recommendations and providing assurance around key controls?
	Q6 We are continually looking for ways to improve the quality€and delivery of our service. What changes would most improve our service?


	6 Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards Peer Review Results and Self-Assessment Checklist
	Appendix 1 for Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards Peer Review Results and Self-Assessment Checklist
	Appendix 2 for Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards Peer Review Results and Self-Assessment Checklist
	Appendix 3 for Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards Peer Review Results and Self-Assessment Checklist

	7 Local Code of Corporate Governance
	Local Code of Corporate Governance

	8 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19
	Appendix 1 for Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19
	Appendix 2 for Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19

	9 External Audit Plan 2017/18
	10 Annual Certification Letter 2016/17

